

DISSERTATIONES SCHOLA DOCTORALIS SCIENTIAE CIRCUMIECTALIS, ALIMENTARIAE, BIOLOGICAE. UNIVERSITATIS HELSINKIENSIS

### FOLASADE ABIOLA ADEBAYO

INSIGHTS INTO FOOD CONSUMPTION, VITAMIN D STATUS, AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS AMONG ADULT IMMIGRANT POPULATIONS IN FINLAND: FINDINGS FROM POPULATION-BASED AND INTERVENTION STUDIES



DEPARTMENT OF FOOD AND NUTRITION FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN FOOD CHAIN AND HEALTH UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI Dissertationes Schola Doctoralis Scientiae Circumiectalis, Alimentariae, Biologicae Universitatis helsinkiensis 19/2019

> Department of Food and Nutrition University of Helsinki Helsinki

# Insights into food consumption, vitamin D status, and associated factors among adult immigrant populations in Finland: findings from populationbased and intervention studies

Folasade Abiola Adebayo

### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, in Auditorium 116, Unioninkatu 35, on October 11<sup>th</sup>, 2019 at 12 o'clock.

Helsinki 2019

#### Supervisors

Professor Christel Lamberg-Allardt Department of Food and Nutrition University of Helsinki, Finland

Adjunct Professor Maijaliisa Erkkola Department of Food and Nutrition University of Helsinki, Finland

Adjunct Professor Suvi Itkonen Department of Food and Nutrition University of Helsinki, Finland

### Reviewers

Adjunct Professor Hanna Lagström Department of Public Health University of Turku, Finland

Adjunct Professor Sari Hantunen Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition University of Eastern Finland

#### Opponent

Dr Inez Schoenmakers Norwich Medical School University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

Cover picture: Gabriel O. Adebayo

The Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry uses the Urkund system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations.

ISBN 978-951-51-5408-8 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-5409-5 (PDF) ISSN 2342-5423 (print) ISSN 2342-5431 (Online). Hansaprint Helsinki 2019

### "It always seems impossible until it's done." - Nelson Mandela

To my beloved mother (the late *Alice Morenike Olayemi*) who became ill while I was about to submit this thesis for pre-examination and passed on on 31 May 2019.

#### AND

To "My Favourite" – my husband (*Gabriel Omotosho Adebayo*) who inspired and supported me throughout the PhD pursuit.

### ABSTRACT

Diet is an indicator of health and chronic disease. Food consumption patterns of a particular population may define their nutrient intake, including vitamin D, revealing their health profiles. The food consumption patterns among immigrants often differ from those of the host population, and health inequalities exist between these two groups. Vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L), which has been associated with bone disorders, such as osteoporosis, and risk for cancers and other chronic diseases, is a public health problem among populations at northern latitudes, especially during winter because of low ultraviolet B irradiation and reduced skin synthesis of vitamin D. Nevertheless, the risk of vitamin D insufficiency is higher among non-Western immigrants, particularly dark-skinned ones, living in these regions. In the Nordic countries, vitamin D status in the majority of the host populations seems to be better than that of immigrants.

This study seeks insights into immigrants' nutrition with the aims of examining food consumption and vitamin D status among immigrants of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish background. The study also aimed to investigate whether ethnic differences exist in the response of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (S-25(OH)D) to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation between Somali and Finnish women. The thesis was based on three datasets: i) a cross-sectional population-based Migrant Health and Wellbeing Study (Maamu Study), ii) the nationally representative Finnish Health 2011 Survey (Health 2011), and iii) the randomized controlled trial Marwo-D intervention study.

Study I (n=1372) comprised immigrant participants aged 18-64 years from the Maamu Study. Healthy food consumption frequencies were evaluated among 527 Russian, 337 Somali, and 508 Kurdish men and women, through dietary questions in interviews. Data on socio-demographic factors were obtained from a sampling frame and through interviews. Potential socio-demographic determinants of healthy food consumption were assessed by logistic regression. Immigrants of Russian background more frequently consumed healthy foods, especially rye bread, vegetables, fruits, and berries, than Kurds and Somalis. Female sex, older age, and higher education were positively associated with healthy food consumption. Low consumption of fresh vegetables, fruits and berries was observed among Somali immigrants.

In Study II, the S-25(OH)D concentrations of 1310 immigrants (446 Russians, 364 Somalis, and 500 Kurds) aged 18-64 years from the Maamu Study and a Finnish reference group aged 30-64 years from the Health 2011 Survey (n=798) were standardized according to the Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP) by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Data on socio-demographic, lifestyle, and dietary habits were obtained from a sampling frame and through structured interviews or through a self-administered

health questionnaire. Vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D) of the immigrant groups was analysed relative to the Finnish reference group through linear regression. The consumption of dietary vitamin D sources and the potential socio-demographic, lifestyle, and dietary determinants of low vitamin D status i.e. deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L) and insufficiency (<50 nmol/L), were evaluated with logistic regression analyses. The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency was higher among the immigrants, especially Somalis and Kurds, than among the Finns (p < 0.001). Consumption of vitamin D-rich foods differed between the immigrant groups; vitamin D-fortified fat spread was commonly used by a higher proportion of Somalis than Russians and Kurds; fish consumption was less frequent among Kurds than among Russians and Somalis; and higher proportions of Russians and Kurds consumed vitamin D-fortified dairy daily than Somalis (p < 0.001 for all). The main determinants of low S-25(OH)D concentration were daily smoking, alcohol consumption, obesity, and winter blood sampling ( $p \le 0.04$ ). Older age, physical activity, consumption of fish, vitamin D-fortified fat spread, and dairy products, and use of vitamin D supplements were associated with reduced odds of low S-25(OH)D concentration ( $p \le 0.04$ ).

In Study III, 191 subjects were screened and 147 women (Somali n=72, Finns n=75) aged 21-64 years were randomized to receive placebo or 10 or 20 µg vitamin D<sub>3</sub>/d in a 5-month trial during winter in the Helsinki area (60°N). S-25(OH)D concentrations were assessed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Background and dietary data were collected through a detailed questionnaire and a validated semi-quantitative interview-administered food frequency questionnaire. Response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation was assessed with repeated-measures analysis of covariance. Vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D) and vitamin D intake from diet and supplements were analysed. High prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency was observed among Somali women at screening. Interestingly, total vitamin D intake was higher among Somalis, but their baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentrations were lower than among Finns (p<0.001 and p=0.001, respectively). Moderate vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation at doses of 10 µg and 20 µg effectively increased mean S-25(OH)D in both Somali and Finnish women, without ethnic differences in the response to supplementation (p>0.05).

In conclusion, food consumption patterns among immigrants with Russian, Somali, and Kurdish background were not similar. Healthy foods, particularly rye bread, vegetables, fruits, and berries, were consumed more by Russian immigrants than by participants with Kurdish and Somali background. Frequent consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries was uncommon among Somalis. Higher consumption frequency of the healthy foods was associated with some socio-demographic factors, namely female sex, older age, and higher education. Likewise, differences existed in the consumption of vitamin D-rich foods between the immigrant groups. Use of vitamin D-fortified fat spread was more

frequent among Somalis than among Russians and Kurds; fish consumption frequency was lower among Kurds than among Russians and Somalis; and vitamin D-fortified dairy was more frequently consumed daily by Russians and Kurds than by Somalis. The extent of the risk of low vitamin D status also differed between immigrant groups; higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency was observed among Somalis and Kurds than among Russians. Hence, the immigrant groups cannot be considered a homogeneous non-fair-skinned immigrants group. In addition, are at higher risk of deficiency/insufficiency than their host populations. This thesis demonstrated that moderate vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation was effective in increasing S-25(OH)D in both Somali and Finnish women, and supports previous findings that ethnicity has no effect on the response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D supplementation. Promotion of healthy food consumption patterns, including fruits, vegetables, whole-grains, and vitamin D-rich foods, is essential among immigrant groups to improve overall health.

# TIIVISTELMÄ, Finnish summary

määrittää terveyttä ia kroonisten sairauksien riskiä. Väestöryhmien Ravinto ravintoaineiden, ruokatottumukset ilmentävät kuten D-vitamiinin. saantia sekä tervevdentilaa. Ulkomaalaistaustaisten ruokatottumukset usein eroavat koko väestön tottumuksista, ja ryhmien välillä esiintyy terveyseroja. Riittämätön D-vitamiinitila (seerumin 25-hydroksi-D-vitamiinipitoisuus [25(OH)D] <50 nmol) on yhteydessä luuston häiriötiloihin, kuten osteoporoosiin, sekä syövän ja kroonisten sairauksien riskiin. Se on kansanterveydellinen ongelma pohjoisilla leveysasteilla erityisesti talviaikaan, sillä auringon ultravioletti-B-säteilyä ei saada tarpeeksi, jolloin D-vitamiinisynteesiä iholla ei tapahdu. Riittämättömän D-vitamiinitilan riski on suurempi ei-länsimaalaistaustaisilla, etenkin tummaihoisilla, jotka asuvat näillä leveysasteilla. Pohjoismaissa suurimmalla osalla väestöstä D-vitamiinitila on parempi kuin ulkomaalaistaustaisilla.

Tässä väitöskirjassa selvitettiin ruokatottumuksia ja D-vitamiinitilaa venäläis-, somali- ja kurditaustaisilla väestöryhmillä. Lisäksi tavoitteena oli selvittää eroja vasteessa D-vitamiinisuplementaatioon somali- ja suomalaisnaisilla. Väitöskirja koostui kolmesta eri aineistosta: i) väestöpohjainen poikkileikkausasetelmana toteutettu Maahanmuuttajien terveys- ja hyvinvointitutkimus (Maamu), ii) koko väestöä edustava Terveys 2011 – tutkimus ja iii) satunnaistettu, kontrolloitu MarwoD-interventiotutkimus.

Osatyö I:n aineisto (n=1372) koostui 18-64-vuotiaista ulkomaalaistaustaisista tutkittavista (Maamu-tutkimus). Terveellisten ruokien käyttötiheyttä selvitettiin 527 venäläis-, 337 somaliia 508 kurditaustaiselta mieheltä ja naiselta haastattelulla. Tieto sosiodemografisista muuttujista kerättiin tutkittavien otantakehikosta ja haastattelemalla. Terveellisten ruokien käyttöä selittäviä sosiodemografisia tekijöitä tutkittiin logistisilla regressiomalleilla. Venäläistaustaiset käyttivät useammin terveellisiä ruokia, erityisesti ruisleipää. vihanneksia, hedelmiä ja marjoja, kuin kurdi- ja somalitaustaiset. Naissukupuoli, vanhempi ikä ja korkeampi koulutustaso olivat positiivisessa yhteydessä terveellisten ruokien käyttöön. Tuoreiden kasvisten, hedelmien ja marjojen käyttö oli vähäistä somalitaustaisilla.

1310 Osatyössä Π määritettiin 25(OH)D-pitoisuudet Maamu-tutkimuksen ulkomaalaistaustaiselta 18-64-vuotiaalta (446 venäläis-, 364 somali- ja 500 kurditaustaista) ja vertailuryhmänä toimi Terveys 2011- tutkimuksen koko Suomen 30-64-vuotiasta väestöä edustava otos samoilta paikkakunnilta (n=798). Näytteet standardoitiin Dvitamiinin standardointiohjelman (Vitamin D Standardization Program) mukaisesti nestekromatografia-tandem-massaspektrometriamenetelmällä. Tieto sosiodemografisista elintavoista ja ruoankäytöstä kerättiin tutkittavien tekijöistä, otantakehikosta, strukturoiduilla haastatteluilla ja itsetäytettävällä terveyskyselyllä. D-vitamiinitilan (25(OH)D) eroja ryhmien välillä tutkittiin lineaarisilla regressiomalleilla. Ravinnon Dvitamiinin lähteiden käyttöä ja D-vitamiinin puutoksen (25(OH)D <30 nmol/l) ja riittämättömän pitoisuuden (25(OH)D <50 nmol/l) sosiodemografisia sekä elintapoihin ja ruoankäyttöön liittyviä selittäjiä analysoitiin logistisilla regressiomalleilla. D-vitamiinin puutos ja riittämätön D-vitamiinitila olivat yleisempiä ulkomaalaistaustaisilla, etenkin somali- ja kurditaustaisilla, kuin koko väestössä (p<0.001). D-vitamiinia sisältävien elintarvikkeiden käyttö erosi ryhmien välillä: D-vitamiinilla täydennettyjen rasvalevitteiden käyttö oli yleisempää somali- kuin venäläis- ja kurditaustaisilla; kalan käyttö oli vähäisempää kurdi- kuin venäläis- ja somalitaustaisilla; suurempi osuus venäläis- ja kurditaustaisista käytti päivittäin D-vitamiinilla täydennettyjä maitovalmisteita somalitaustaisiin verrattuina (p<0.001). Matalaa 25(OH)D-pitoisuutta selittivät vahvimmin päivittäinen tupakointi, alkoholin käyttö, lihavuus ja verinäytteenotto talviaikaan (p≤0.04). Vanhempi ikä, fyysinen aktiivisuus, kalan, D-vitaminoitujen rasvalevitteiden ja maitovalmisteiden sekä D-vitamiinilisien käyttö suojasivat matalan 25(OH)D-pitoisuuden riskiltä.

Osatyössä III yhteensä 191 naista Helsingin alueelta (60°N) seulottiin tutkimuksen sisäänottovaiheessa ja heistä 147 (72 somali- ja 75 suomalaistaustaista), jältään 21-64vuotiaita, satunnaistettiin saamaan joko lumevalmistetta tai 10 tai 20 mikrogramman suuruista päivittäistä D<sub>3</sub>-vitamiiniannosta viiden kuukauden ajan. 25(OH)D-pitoisuudet määritettiin nestekromatografia-tandem-massaspektrometriamenetelmällä. Tutkittavien taustatiedot kerättiin kyselylomakkeella ja ruoankäyttötiedot validoidulla semikvantitatiivisella ruoankäytön frekvenssikyselylomakkeella. 25(OH)D-pitoisuuden vastetta D<sub>3</sub>-suplementaatioon tutkittiin toistomittausten varianssianalyysillä. 25(OH)Dpitoisuudet ja D-vitamiinin saanti ravinnosta ja ravintolisistä analysoitiin. Tutkimuksen sisäänottovaiheessa suurella osalla somalitaustaisista D-vitamiinitila oli riittämätön. Tutkimuksen lähtötilanteessa D-vitamiinin kokonaissaanti oli somalitaustaisilla suurempi kuin suomalaistaustaisilla, mutta silti 25(OH)D-pitoisuudet olivat heillä keskimäärin matalampia suomalaistaustaisilla kuin (p<0.001, p=0.001). Kohtuullinen Dvitamiinisuplementaatio 10 ja 20 mikrogramman päivittäisannoksilla nosti tehokkaasti 25(OH)D-pitoisuuksia sekä somali- että suomalaistaustaisilla, mutta vasteessa ei havaittu ryhmien välisiä eroja (p>0.05).

Loppupäätelminä voidaan todeta, että ruokatottumukset venäläis-, somali- ja kurditaustaisilla eivät olleet samanlaisia. Venäläistaustaiset käyttivät terveellisiä ruokia, etenkin ruisleipää, kasviksia, hedelmiä ja marjoja, enemmän kuin kurdi- tai somalitaustaiset. Tuoreiden kasvisten, hedelmien ja marjojen käyttö ei ollut yleistä somalitaustaisilla tutkittavilla. Terveellisten ruokien tiheämpi käyttö oli yhteydessä sosiodemografisiin tekijöihin, erityisesti naissukupuoleen, vanhempaan ikään ja korkeampaan koulutustasoon. Samoin D-vitamiinia sisältävien elintarvikkeiden käytössä

oli eroja ryhmien välillä. D-vitamiinilla täydennettyjen rasvalevitteiden käyttö oli yleisintä somalitaustaisilla; kalan käyttö oli vähäisintä kurditaustaisilla ja suurempi osa venäläis- ja kurdi- kuin somalitaustaisista käytti D-vitamiinilla täydennettyjä maitovalmisteita päivittäin. Matalan 25(OH)D-pitoisuuden riski vaihteli ryhmien välillä: puutos ja riittämätön D-vitamiinitila olivat yleisempiä somali- ja kurdi- kuin venäläistaustaisilla. Tutkimuksen perusteella voidaan sanoa. että ulkomaalaistaustaisia voida ei ravitsemuksellisten riskien osalta tarkastella yhtenäisenä ryhmänä. Ei-vaaleaihoisilla ulkomaalaistaustaisilla on suurempi matalan 25(OH)D-pitoisuuden riski kuin koko väestöllä. Tämä väitöskirja vahvisti aiempia tutkimustuloksia siitä, että kohtuullinen D3vitamiinisuplementaatio tehokas 25(OH)D-pitoisuuksia on nostamaan ja ulkomaalaistaustalla ei ole vaikutusta D-vitamiinisuplementaation aiheuttamaan 25(OH)Dpitoisuuden vasteeseen. Terveellisten ruokatottumusten, mm. kasvisten, hedelmien, täysjyväviljan ja D-vitamiinia sisältävien elintarvikkeiden käytön, edistäminen ulkomaalaistaustaisilla on tärkeä osa heidän ja koko väestön terveyden edistämistä.

### CONTENTS

A	BSTRACT	4
TI	IVISTELMÄ, Finnish summary	7
LI	ST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	13
Al	BBREVIATIONS	15
1	INTRODUCTION	17
2	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	20
	2.1 Food consumption and dietary guidelines	20
	2.1.1 Nordic and Finnish dietary guidelines and recommendations	20
	2.1.2 Vitamin D dietary guidelines and recommendations in Finland	22
	2.1.3 Socio-demographic differences in food consumption	24
	2.1.4 Immigration and dietary patterns	28
	2.2 Vitamin D	30
	2.2.1 Types and sources of vitamin D	30
	2.2.2 Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism	32
	2.2.3 Functions of vitamin D	34
	2.3 Vitamin D status	35
	2.3.1 Vitamin D assessment	35
	2.3.2 Definitions: categories of vitamin D status	36
	2.3.3 Factors affecting vitamin D status and groups at risk	37
	2.3.4 Outcomes of low vitamin D status	40
	2.3.5 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D	41
	2.3.6 Vitamin D status in Finland	44
	2.3.7 Vitamin D status among immigrants	44
3	AIMS OF THE THESIS	48
4	SUBJECTS AND METHODS	49

	4.1 Study population and design	49
	4.1.1 Maamu Study (I and II)	50
	4.1.2 Health 2011 Survey (II)	50
	4.1.3 Marwo-D intervention study (III)	51
	4.1.4 Ethical considerations	53
	4.2 Measurements	53
	4.2.1 Background variables: socio-demographic and health behaviour factors	53
	4.2.2 Dietary assessment	56
	4.2.3 Laboratory measurements (II and III)	59
	4.3 Statistical analyses	61
5	RESULTS	65
	5.1 Characteristics of participants	73
	5.2 Consumption of healthy and vitamin D-rich foods (I and II)	71
	5.3 Association between healthy food consumption and socio-demographic factors (I)	73
	5.4 Vitamin D intake and sources (III)	76
	5.5 Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations and vitamin D status (II and III)	78
	5.6 Determinants of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency (II)	79
	5.7 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D, S-PTH, S-Ca, and S-Pi (III)	81
6	DISCUSSION	83
	6.1 Food consumption and associated socio-demographic factors among immigrants	86
	6.2 Differences in vitamin D intake and status between immigrants and the general population	89
	6.3 Determinants of low vitamin D status	91
	6.4 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D	93
	6.5 Methodology	94

	6.5.1 Study population and design	94
	6.5.2 Dietary assessment	95
	6.5.3 Serum 25(OH)D analyses	97
7	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	98
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	101
	REFERENCES	104
	APPENDIX	124
	ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-III):

- I Adebayo FA, Itkonen ST, Koponen P, Prättälä R, Härkänen T, Lamberg-Allardt C, Erkkola M. Consumption of healthy foods and associated sociodemographic factors among Russian, Somali and Kurdish immigrants in Finland. Scand J Public Health 2017;45:277-287.
- II Adebayo FA, Itkonen ST, Lilja E, Jääskeläinen T, Lundqvist A, Laatikainen T Koponen P, Cashman KD, Erkkola M, Lamberg-Allardt C. Prevalence and determinants of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency among three immigrant groups in Finland - evidence from a population-based study using standardized 25-hydroxyvitamin D data. Submitted.
- III Adebayo FA, Itkonen ST, Öhman T, Skaffari E, Saarnio E, Erkkola M, Cashman KD, Lamberg-Allardt C. Vitamin D intake, serum 25hydroxyvitamin D status and the response to moderate vitamin D3 supplementation: a randomised control trial in East African and Finnish women. Br J Nutr 2018;119:431-441.

These publications have been reprinted with the permission of their copyright holders. In addition, some unpublished material is presented.

### **Contribution of the authors to Studies I-III**

I: FAA, CL-A and ME were involved in the conception, design and implementation of the study. FAA drafted the manuscript and analysed the data with the guidance of ME. PK and RP assisted with data collection in the Maamu study. TH provided advice on statistical analyses. Evaluation of the results, comments and critical revisions of the manuscript were done by STI and the other co-authors. All co-authors read, contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

II: FAA, STI, ME and CL-A conceived the study. FAA, STI, EL, TJ, AL, TL, PK, ME and CL-A contributed to the study design. TL and PK were involved in the planning and data collection of the Maamu Study. TJ, AL and PK were involved in the Health 2011 Survey's data collection. KDC was responsible for the standardization of the S-25(OH)D data. FAA performed the statistical analysis with the guidance of EL. Evaluation of the results was done by STI, EL, TJ, AL, TL, PK, KDC, ME and CL-A. FAA interpreted the results and wrote the paper. Critical reviews of the manuscript were done by all co-authors. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

III: CL-A and KDC are grant holders. FAA, STI, TÖ, ES, EMS, ME and CL-A were involved in the design of the study. FAA, TÖ, ES and EMS collected the data. KDC was responsible for the S-25(OH)D analyses at the University College Cork, Ireland. FAA drafted the manuscript and performed the statistical analysis with the guidance of STI. Evaluation of the results and comments on and critical reviews of the manuscript were done by STI, ME and CL-A. All co-authors reviewed and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, calcitriol
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D, calcidiol
ANCOVA	analysis of covariance
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AR	average requirement
AUDIT	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
BMD	bone mineral density
BMI	body mass index
Ca	calcium
CHD	coronary heart disease
CI	confidence interval
CLIA	chemiluminescence immunoassays
CVD	cardiovascular disease
CYP2R1	25-hydroxylase, cytochrome P450 2R1
CYP24A1	24-hydroxylase, cytochrome P450 24A1
CYP27B1	25(OH)D-1α-hydroxylase, cytochrome P450 27B1
DEQAS	Vitamin D External Quality Assessment Scheme
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FFQ	food frequency questionnaire
FNR	Finnish Nutrition Recommendations
Health 2011	Health 2011 Survey
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
IOM	Institute of Medicine
LC-MS/MS	liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
LI	lower intake level
Maamu Study MetS	Migrant Health and Wellbeing Study Metabolic syndrome

NA	not applicable
NNR	Nordic Nutrition Recommendations
ODIN	Food-based solutions for optimal vitamin D nutrition and health through the life cycle
OR	odds ratio
Pi	phosphate
РТН	parathyroid hormone
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RI	recommended intake
RIA	radioimmunoassay
S-	serum
SD	standard deviation
T2D	type 2 diabetes mellitus
THL	Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare
UL	upper intake level
UVB	ultraviolet B
VDR	vitamin D receptor
VDSP	Vitamin D Standardization Program
Vitamin D	calciferol
Vitamin D <sub>2</sub>	ergocalciferol
Vitamin D <sub>3</sub>	cholecalciferol

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

The number of immigrant populations in Europe is increasing. In Finland, persons with foreign background currently constitute 7% of the population (Statistics Finland 2019). Differences in health profiles exist between the immigrant populations and the host populations; the risk of non-communicable diseases is higher in minority groups (Stronks *et al.* 2013). Dietary patterns or behaviours of a group of people may define their nutrient intake and may be influenced by different factors; acculturation, among others, may be an important element among immigrant populations (Holmboe-Ottesen & Wandel 2012). Hence, the association between ethnic health inequalities and diet could be understood by studying the food consumption patterns and their determining factors such as socio-demographic factors (Dekker *et al.* 2015).

Adoption and adherence to a healthy diet are essential in preventing adverse health outcomes and enhancing long-term health. A health-promoting diet with a high consumption of vegetables, berries, and fruits, a daily consumption of whole-grain bread and other whole cereal products, and a consumption of fish 2-3 times a week has been emphasized in the Finnish Nutrition Recommendations (FNR) (National Nutrition Council 2014). Moreover, fish consumption according to the recommendations and frequent consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spreads and fluid dairy products ensure adequate vitamin D intake (Lamberg-Allardt 2006). Adequate consumption of these vitamin D-rich foods and/or use of vitamin D supplements is important in countries at northern latitudes, such as Finland, where the best source of vitamin D – synthesized in the skin – is inadequate during winter months due to limited sunlight exposure.

Vitamin D plays a vital role in skeletal development in children and maintenance of bone health in adults. Sufficient status (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (S-25(OH)D) >50 nmol/L) is beneficial in the prevention of osteoporosis and fractures and decreased risk of falls (Ross *et al.* 2011, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Nevertheless, vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L) is a public health problem among populations living at northern latitudes, with a higher prevalence of deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L) among immigrants living in the region (Ross *et al.* 2011, Van der Meer et al. 2011, Spiro & Buttriss 2014, Lips and de Jongh 2018). Hence, the risk of bone diseases and non-skeletal conditions, including cancers, cardiovascular disease (CVD), and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D), which have been associated with vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L) (Rejnmark *et al.* 2017, Bouillon *et al.* 2019), becomes a great concern, especially among immigrant groups who are most vulnerable regarding vitamin D deficiency.

In the Nordic countries, vitamin D status in the majority of the host populations seems to be more satisfactory than among immigrants (Andersson *et al.* 2013, Wändell 2013). In addition, infrequent consumption of fatty fish or use of vitamin D supplements has been observed among immigrants of non-Western origin living in the Nordic countries (Wändell 2013, Granlund *et al.* 2016), thus the reported high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among the groups may be partly explained by nutritional factors. In Finland, higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency has also been previously observed among immigrant women (Somali and Bangladesh) than among Finnish women (Islam *et al.* 2012). On the contrary, sufficient vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D >50 nmol/L) was reported among the majority (77-91%) of the general Finnish population (Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2017, Raulio *et al.* 2017). In the recent national dietary survey (FinDiet 2017), fat spreads and dairy products, which are fortified in Finland, and fish were reported as the major dietary vitamin D sources, accounting for 83% of daily vitamin D intake among Finnish men and 79% among Finnish women (Valsta *et al.* 2018).

Having dark skin poses an increased risk of low vitamin D status; such is evident based on the high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency often observed among immigrants of African and Asian background residing in the northern countries (Andersen *et al.* 2008b, Islam *et al.* 2012, Andersson *et al.* 2013). Despite the inequalities in vitamin D status between darkskinned and fair-skinned populations, the same vitamin D recommendations, which are based on studies among Caucasian populations, are made for the two populations in the Nordic countries and in the United States (Ross *et al.* 2011, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Nevertheless, differences in vitamin D requirement and metabolism between the different population groups may exist (Cashman 2014). The impact of ethnicity and the need for dose-response studies in relation to vitamin D status were emphasized in the Institute of Medicine (IOM) Dietary Reference Intakes report (Ross *et al.* 2011). In addition, several factors, such as wearing concealing clothes, higher body mass index (BMI), physical inactivity, smoking, and low education status, have been reported as determinants of low vitamin D status (Holick 2006, Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2013, Granlund *et al.* 2016, Yao *et al.* 2017).

The number of immigrants, especially the dark-skinned population, is increasing in Finland. Nevertheless, there is a lack of information about dietary habits and vitamin D status among immigrants. In relation to the health situation of immigrants, it is important to study their dietary patterns, including the most important vitamin D sources, adherence to nutrition recommendations, and associated factors. In addition, knowledge of vitamin D status among immigrants living in northern countries, who are particularly in danger of vitamin D deficiency, is crucial. In order to gain novel insights into nutrition information for immigrants in Finland, the present study aimed to evaluate consumption of healthy foods and the associated socio-demographic factors (Study I), dietary sources of vitamin

D, and determinants of low vitamin D status among immigrants with Russian, Somali, and Kurdish background (Study II). The vitamin D status of the immigrant groups was also examined relative to that of the general Finnish population (Study II). Furthermore, the response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation and vitamin D intake and status were compared between Somali and Finnish women (Study III).

## **2** REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

### 2.1 Food consumption and dietary guidelines

### 2.1.1 Nordic and Finnish dietary guidelines and recommendations

Diet is an essential modifiable determinant of health or chronic disease (Willett *et al.* 2006, Bhupathiraju & Tucker 2011). Studies have established the relationship between unhealthy diets and various non-communicable diseases such as CVD, T2D, and some cancers (GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators 2019). On the other hand, adoption of a healthy diet plays a significant role in preventing adverse health outcomes and enhancing long-term health (Kant 2004, Willett *et al.* 2006). Health status of any population is better understood through food consumption patterns rather than single nutrients or foods (Tapsell *et al.* 2016). Many countries around the world have established their own dietary recommendations or guidelines, which are often based on dietary patterns, among other factors, in order to promote general health and prevent chronic diseases (FAO 2015).

The FNR (National Nutrition Council 2014) are based on the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (NNR), a current scientific and evidence-based joint policy document towards best possible health for the Nordic population at large (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). The recommendations are partly food-based dietary guidelines for the general population emphasizing healthy dietary pattern of frequent consumption of vegetables, berries, and fruits, whole-grain cereals, and fish (2-3 times a week). In addition, they promote use of vegetable oil-based fat spreads and vegetable oils in cooking, consumption of low-fat dairy products or alternatives, consumption of low-fat and low-salt meat products, and limited intake of red and processed meat, sugar, salt, and alcohol (National Nutrition Council 2014, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). The focus on the whole diet in both recommendations is based on the role of dietary patterns and food groups in the prevention of diet-related chronic diseases (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014).

Adherence to these recommendations is expected to reduce the risk of most chronic diseases and enhance healthy populations. The evident health impact of specific food groups from different studies is well documented in the NNR. For instance, a consistent conclusion is that high consumption of vegetable, fruit, and berries is associated with reduced risk of CVD (Aune *et al.* 2017, Miller *et al.* 2017). Studies have reported convincing protective associations between whole-grain consumption and total risk of CVD, coronary heart disease (CHD), and stroke (Ye *et al.* 2012, Aune *et al.* 2016), risk of

weight gain or obesity (Fogelholm *et al.* 2012, Ye *et al.* 2012), and T2D (Ye *et al.* 2012, Aune *et al.* 2013, Aune *et al.* 2016). The convincing health impact of fish consumption comprised a reduction in the risk of cardiovascular mortality, including that of ischaemic stroke (Zhao *et al.* 2016, Hengeveld *et al.* 2018, Jayedi *et al.* 2018). Fatty fish consumption was also associated with reduced blood pressure (Ramel *et al.* 2010) and better insulin sensitivity (Ramel *et al.* 2008). Reduced risk of T2D and CHD was associated with lower intake of processed and red meat (Männistö *et al.* 2010, Fretts *et al.* 2012, Micha *et al.* 2012).

In evaluating adherence to NNR, findings among people with metabolic syndrome (MetS) or MetS risk factors in four Nordic countries (including Finland) revealed low adherence to nutrition recommendations, which may result in T2D and CVD (Jonsdottir et al. 2013). Similar to the FNR, the NNR is the key reference point for nutritional recommendations in other Nordic countries. According to Renzella et al. (2018), studies that investigated health effects of different Nordic national dietary guidelines, which are based on NNR, found associations between increased adherence and reduced risk of non-communicable diseases and risk factors. Such health conditions included stroke (Hansen et al. 2018a), myocardial infarction (Hansen et al. 2018b), atherosclerosis (Øverby et al. 2007), non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration (Uusitupa et al. 2013), and cardiovascular events (Hlebowicz et al. 2013). A few studies have also examined adherence to FNR; low adherence to dietary recommendations was observed among individuals with type 1 diabetes (Ahola et al. 2012). According to Kanerva et al. (2013), adherence to FNR is helpful in healthy weight maintenance and particularly associated with healthy waist circumference and body fat percentage. Lower risks for gestational diabetes were reported among pregnant Finnish women with a higher adherence to FNR and NNR (Meinilä et al. 2017).

Besides emphasis on dietary patterns, NNR stressed the importance of optimal nutrient intake in order to reduce diet-associated diseases (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Hence, NNR also establishes recommended intakes (RI) for some single nutrients because of their impact on public health (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Among other nutrients, vitamin D intake is crucial in the Nordic countries due to latitudes ( $55^{\circ}$  N- $72^{\circ}$  N) at which sun-induced vitamin D production in the skin is limited, especially during wintertime (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Thus, vitamin D deficiency and its associated health outcomes can be prevented through the consumption of diets rich in vitamin D. It is worth noting that the RI, the estimated intake likely to meet the nutrient requirements of nearly 97.5% of the population (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014), for vitamin D in NNR has doubled within the period 1996-2012, increasing from 5 µg to 10 µg (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014, Fogelholm 2018). The significant change in the vitamin D recommendation is associated with its special importance to the Nordic

population (Fogelholm 2018). Thus, the current vitamin D recommendations in both NNR and FNR are based on recent scientific evidence for higher requirements and concern about population health (Lamberg-Allardt 2013, Fogelholm 2018).

#### 2.1.2 Vitamin D dietary guidelines and recommendations in Finland

The vitamin D recommendations for the general population in Finland are in line with NNR and they include provide for daily RI, average requirement (AR), lower intake level (LI), and upper intake level (UL) (National Nutrition Council 2014, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). The recommendations are based on evidence for an association between vitamin D intake/status and health outcomes such as fractures, falls, CVD, and total mortality (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). Such evidence includes the consensus that vitamin D intake of 10 ug/d is required to maintain S-25(OH)D concentrations around 50 nmol/L among the majority of the population during the winter season at the latitudes of the Nordic region (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). In 2012, the RI (i.e. estimated intake to achieve S-25(OH)D concentration of at least 50 nmol/L in almost all of the population) was further increased to 10  $\mu$ g/d for children and adults (aged 2-74 years, including pregnant and lactating women) (National Nutrition Council 2014, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). However, an intake of 10 µg/d is also recommended for children under 2 years in Finland (National Nutrition Council 2014). In consideration of the additional limited sun-induced vitamin D synthesis and evidence of a protective effect of vitamin D intake against fractures, falls, and mortality, a higher intake of 20  $\mu$ g/d was set for the elderly (>75 years) who may have little or no sun exposure also during the summer (National Nutrition Council 2014, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014).

The NNR states that AR, the estimated intake sufficient to meet the requirement for 50% of a defined group of people, is 7.5  $\mu$ g/d (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). The LI remained 2.5  $\mu$ g/d; long-term intakes below the LI are associated with an increased risk of developing deficiency symptoms (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). The UL for adolescents and adults (high intake with increased potential adverse effect such as hypercalcaemia and kidney failure) is 100  $\mu$ g/d, and for children aged 1-11 years 50  $\mu$ g/d (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). In line with the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the new ULs for infants aged 0-6 months and 6-12 months are 25  $\mu$ g/d and 35  $\mu$ g/d, respectively (EFSA 2018, National Nutrition Council 2018).

Due to habitual consumption of fatty fish and vitamin D-fortified foods (such as dairy products and margarine) among the Finnish population (Lamberg-Allardt *et al.* 2013), it is

possible to achieve the daily recommended vitamin D intake from food (Raulio *et al.* 2017). Hence, adherence to the current recommended daily consumption of about three glasses of vitamin D-fortified fat-free/low-fat milk products or alternatives, fish consumption 2-3 times a week, and frequent use of vitamin D-fortified fat spread is important in attaining the daily required vitamin D intake (National Nutrition Council 2014). Nevertheless, use of vitamin D supplements is recommended in order to meet the need of individuals of special age groups (such as all children below 18 years and the elderly) and persons who consume less vitamin D-rich foods (Lamberg-Allardt *et al.* 2013, National Nutrition Council 2014). These guidelines are set mainly in relation to bone health such as prevention of rickets in children and osteomalacia, risk of falls, and fractures in adults (National Nutrition Council 2014). The current recommended guidelines for vitamin D intake and supplementation in Finland according to age are summarized in Table 1.

Age group	<b>Recommended vitamin</b>	<b>Recommendation for</b>				
	D intake (µg/d) <sup>*1</sup>	supplementation (µg/d) <sup>1</sup>				
2 weeks – 12 months	10	$2-10^{**}$ (year-round)				
1-2 years	10	10 (year-round)				
2-17 years	10	7.5 (year-round)				
18 – 74 years	10	Ť				
Pregnant and lactating women	10	10 (year-round)				
$\geq$ 75 years	20	20 <sup>††</sup> (year-round)				
Tolerable upper intake level (µg/d)						
< 6 months		25 <sup>2</sup>				
6 - 12 months		$35^2$				

**Table 1.** Current recommendations for daily vitamin D intake and tolerable upper intake level.

Total intake from foods and supplements

1 - 11 years

 $\geq$  11 years

\*\*Based on whether the infant is exclusively breast-fed or receives infant formula or a follow-on formula: 10  $\mu$ g/d for exclusively breast-fed and a child receiving <500 ml/d infant formula/follow-on formula and 6  $\mu$ g/d and 2  $\mu$ g/d for a child receiving 500-800ml and  $\geq$ 800ml infant formula/follow-on formula, respectively.

50<sup>1</sup>

 $100^{1}$ 

<sup>†</sup>10 µg/d supplement use if necessary (i.e. when vitamin D-fortified milk products, fat spread, and/or fish are not consumed during wintertime; period of limited sun-induced dermal production of vitamin D).

<sup>††</sup>Lower supplement dose of 10 µg/d may be sufficient if vitamin D-fortified milk products, fat spread, and/or fish are regularly consumed.

<sup>1</sup>Recommendation by NNR and FNR

<sup>2</sup>Recommendation by EFSA and FNR

### 2.1.3 Socio-demographic differences in food consumption

Socio-demographic factors, such as age, sex, education level, marital status, and employment status, are important determinants differentiating dietary patterns among people (Barkoukis 2007, Gregório et al. 2017, Leone et al. 2017), which may thus define their state of health. Several studies have examined the association between sociodemographic factors and consumption of specific food groups or dietary patterns (Table 2). Regarding adherence to dietary recommendations, increasing age, better education status, professional occupation, and being on a diet were identified as factors associated with higher compliance (Estaquio et al. 2009, Alkerwi et al. 2012, de Abreu et al. 2013). Poor adherence was associated with male sex, current smoking, manual workers, and subjects with little knowledge of the importance of balanced meals (Estaquio et al. 2009, Alkerwi et al. 2012, de Abreu et al. 2013). High body mass index (BMI) has also been found to be associated with low adherence to nutrition recommendations (Estaquio et al. 2009, de Abreu et al. 2013). However, better compliance was reported among obese individuals than among those with normal weight in a study conducted in Luxembourg (Alkerwi et al. 2012). Concerning country of birth, better adherence to dietary recommendations was observed among non-native subjects (Portuguese) than among natives of Luxembourg (Alkerwi et al. 2012), and among non-Swiss-born participants than among those born in Switzerland (de Abreu et al. 2013).

Generally, better socio-demographic profiles are associated with healthy dietary patterns. For example, higher education and higher income have been linked to healthy dietary patterns (Kant 2004, Arruda *et al.* 2014). Healthy dietary patterns comprising fruits, vegetables, whole-grains, low-fat dairy, nuts, or fish are commonly associated with older age, female sex, and higher educational level (Arruda *et al.* 2014, Knudsen *et al.* 2014, Gregório *et al.* 2017, Marques-Vidal *et al.* 2018).

Unhealthy dietary patterns, including high intake of red meat, fatty foods, or convenience foods, are more associated with male sex, lower level of education, and younger age (Arruda *et al.* 2014, Knudsen *et al.* 2014, Gregório *et al.* 2017, Marques-Vidal *et al.* 2018). It was suggested that younger people are more likely to adopt convenient foods such as hamburgers, pizzas, or ketchup (Sánchez-Villegas *et al.* 2003). In addition to higher education and being older, being married or cohabiting was associated with greater adherence to a Mediterranean dietary pattern in Italy (Leone *et al.* 2017). According to Sánchez-Villegas *et al.* (2003), married individuals are more likely to uphold the traditional Mediterranean dietary habits compared with the less healthy food choices of persons who are single, widowed, or divorced.

Sex differences in consumption of healthy foods have been described in terms of awareness and knowledge of nutrition, which tend to be higher among women because they seek nutrition counselling and make use of the advice received more frequently than men (Kiefer *et al.* 2005). Hence, this reveals a higher degree of health consciousness among women than men (Knudsen *et al.* 2014) and better knowledge about health-diet relationship implications among women (Thiele & Weiss, 2003). In addition, the quest to control and maintain body weight (Kiefer *et al.* 2005) and good physical condition (Newby & Tucker 2004, Kiefer *et al.* 2005, Arganini *et al.* 2012), which influences eating habits, is more common among women. Although, men are aware of healthy consumption guidelines, their approach towards nutrition tends to be simple and pleasure-oriented (Kiefer *et al.* 2005). According to Arganini *et al.* (2012), this attitude among men is possibly due to their perception of healthy eating as monotonous and unsatisfying. Moreover, in contrast to women, men will rather engage in exercise than adjust their eating habits as an option for weight control (Kiefer *et al.* 2005).

Job insecurity or unemployment is also more associated with meat consumption (Gregório *et al.* 2017). Explanations for high consumption of vegetables and fruits and compliance with the recommendations on meat among highly educated people can be traced to better access and understanding of nutrition information (de Abreu *et al.* 2013, Leone *et al.* 2017, Thiele *et al.* 2017) and possibly higher income to purchase healthy foods (Drewnowski 2010, Thiele *et al.* 2017).

In multi-ethnic populations, dietary patterns can also be described according to racial/ethnic background, mostly in relation to socio-economic status, cultural dietary preferences, and level of integration (Dekker *et al.* 2015). Usually, high adherence to healthy dietary patterns is expected to be associated with better socio-demographic status regardless of ethnicity (ethnic minority groups or the host populations). However, the situation may be different among ethnic minorities or immigrants, especially due to cultural diet preferences (Dekker 2015), which may be unhealthy. Hence, the dietary patterns among immigrants, including those with better socio-demographic status, may be described as a mixed dietary pattern (Wandel *et al.* 2008), which could be less optimal (i.e. between healthy and unhealthy). Immigrants with lower socio-demographic status are likely to spend more on traditional foods (Sharma & Cruickshank 2011) and consume less of the healthy food options in their host countries, especially when such foods (i.e. vegetable, fruits, and nuts) are less associated with their cultural identity (Dekker 2015).

<b>Table 2.</b> Popu patterns.	llation-based	studies examining a.	ssociations betweer	1 socio-demographi	c factors and fo	ood consumptio	ı or dietary
Authors	Country, n	Age	Female sex	Education	Being married or cohabiting	Employment	Urban
Sánchez- Villegas <i>et al.</i> 2003	Spain, n=3847	"Western dietary <b>f</b> pattern"		"Western dietary† pattern"	"Western <b>↓</b> dietary pattern"		
Prättälä et al. 2007	Finland, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, n=25 094		Meat + Fruits + Vegetables +	Fruits † Vegetables †			Fruits† Vegetables†
Figueiredo et al. 2008	Brazil, n=2122	Fruits† Vegetables†	Fruits↑ Vegetables↑	Fruits∱ Vegetables ∤			
Paalanen <i>et al.</i> 2011	Russia and Finland, n=7037		Fruits † Vegetables †	Fruits † Vegetables †		Vegetables 🕈	
Esteghamati et al. 2012	Iran, n=3702	Fruits 4 Vegetables 4	Fruits † Vegetables †				Fruits + Vegetables +
de Abreu et al. 2013	Switzerland, n=4371	Compliance with recommendations; Fruit † Meat †	Compliance with recommendations; Fruit † Vegetable † Meat †	Compliance with recommendations; Meat and fish↑ Fruits↓ Vegetables↓ Dairy products↓			

			dietary ↓ n''		Fruits ↔ Vegetables ↔
	Diet quality <b>†</b>	4	Meat	Mediterranean ↑ Dietary Pattern	
Healthy dietary∱ pattern	Diet quality↑ Fruits↑ Vegetables↑ Saturated fat↓	· "Health-conscious pattern"	Meat dietary ↓ pattern"	Mediterranean Dietary Pattern	"Fruits &↑ Vegetables" patterns
Healthy dietary ↑ pattern	Diet quality↑ Fruits↑ Vegetables↑	"Health-conscious↑ pattern"	"Meat dictary <b>↓</b> pattern"		"Fruits & ↑ Vegetables patterns"
		"Health-conscious ↑ pattern"	"Meat dietary↓ pattern"	Mediterranean <b>†</b> Dietary Pattern	
Brazil, n=2034	Finland, Sweden, UK, Italy, n=17 330	Denmark, n=3354	Portugal, n=7591	Italy, n=8584	Switzerland, n=4372
Arruda <i>et al.</i> 2014	Irz <i>et al.</i> 2014	Knudsen <i>et al.</i> 2014	Gregório et al. 2017	Leone <i>et al.</i> 2017	Marques- Vidal <i>et al.</i> 2018

↑ Positive associations; ↓ inverse association; ↔ no significant association

### 2.1.4 Immigration and dietary patterns

Immigration is defined as a process by which non-nationals move into a country for the purpose of settlement (International Organization for Migration 2011). There is no universal definition for the term immigrant. However, an immigrant can consequently be referred to as a person who moved from his or her country of origin, to another country for permanent residence. Hence, immigrants in Finland are individuals who have moved to Finland with the intention of residing in the country for over twelve months or have lived in Finland for more than three months without interruption (Statistics Finland 2019).

Immigration is usually accompanied by adaptation to the new environments and cultures of the host countries (Satia 2009). This process includes "dietary acculturation", whereby immigrants gradually adopt the dietary patterns of their new countries (Satia-Abouta *et al.* 2002). Factors affecting adaptation to new food culture among immigrants vary. These may include level of acculturation into the mainstream culture of the host country (Neuhouser *et al.* 2004), extent of contact with people of the host culture (Nicolaou *et al.* 2006, Wandel *et al.* 2008) and good command of the host language (Wandel *et al.* 2008). In addition, residence duration, age at time of migration, and generation status are important acculturation indices that may influence changes in an immigrant's dietary patterns (Sturkenboom *et al.* 2016).

Dietary acculturation has been described as a highly complex process in which the trend of dietary changes in relation to the level of acculturation is inconsistent and multidimensional based on personal, cultural, and environmental factors (Satia-Abouta *et al.* 2002, Satia 2009). Hence, dietary acculturation does not necessarily result in either a deterioration of dietary quality or a convergence with the host population's dietary patterns (Nicolaou *et al.* 2006). For example, Satia-Abouta *et al.* (2002) reported that higher levels of acculturation were positively associated with fruit and vegetable intake, while inverse associations were described by others (Neuhouser *et al.* 2004, Ayala *et al.* 2008, Arandia *et al.* 2012).

Owing to immigration, improvement in dietary habits was observed among South Asian immigrants (from Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Pakistan, or Sri Lanka) in Canada (Lesser *et al.* 2014). Such dietary improvement included increased consumption of fruits and vegetables and decreased intake of high-fat/fried foods (Lesser *et al.* 2014). Notwithstanding the positive changes, consumption of convenience foods, soft drinks, and desserts/candy increased significantly (Lesser *et al.* 2014). A similar overall positive change in dietary practices was found among South Asians (Sri Lankans and Pakistanis) in Norway, especially in fruit and vegetable consumption and fat intake (among the higher

educated immigrants) (Wandel *et al.* 2008). However, length of residence was associated with higher red meat consumption in both studies (Wandel *et al.* 2008, Lesser *et al.* 2014).

Preservation of traditional dietary habits may be considered as either healthy or unhealthy depending on the composition of such dietary pattern. For instance, a better diet quality was observed among the North African immigrants (from Tunisia) compared with the French because they maintained their Mediterranean dietary patterns of high consumption of vegetables, fruits, and nuts/beans and low intake of sugar, dairy products, and meat, while living in France (Méjean et al. 2007). On the contrary, despite low adherence to a 'red meat, snacks, and sweets' pattern (as a result of preferences for the traditional 'noodle/rice dishes and white meat' pattern) among the Surinamese residents compared with their Dutch peers in Netherlands, the Surinamese had lower scores on 'vegetables, fruit, and nuts' dietary patterns (Sturkenboom et al. 2016). In relation to preservation of cultural dietary habits, the Hispanic immigrants from Mexico often consume more fruits and vegetables than the non-Hispanic white residents in Washington, United States, but the findings also revealed likelihood of alteration as the level of acculturation increased (Neuhouser et al. 2004). Such alteration was observed with lower consumption of fruits and vegetables among the highly acculturated Hispanics compared with the less acculturated Hispanics (Neuhouser et al. 2004).

The food consumption patterns among immigrants, which often differ from that of the host population, also describe their health profiles. Compared with the majority population, the disease risk profile is usually detrimental to the minority groups (Stronks *et al.* 2013). Generally, adoption of the Western diet (characterized by high meat, fat, and snack intake) has been associated with increased risk of obesity, T2D, and CVD among immigrants (Holmboe-Ottesen & Wandel 2012, Lesser *et al.* 2014, Alhazmi *et al.* 2014). Higher prevalence of these health conditions has been found among some ethnic minority groups, compared with their European host population (Jenum *et al.* 2005, Holmboe-Ottesen & Wandel 2012). In contrast, the Tunisian immigrants in France, based on conservation of their traditional Mediterranean dietary patterns, had lower prevalence of overweight than the French, lower prevalence of T2D and CVD than non-immigrant Tunisians, and lower prevalence of hypertension and hypercholesterolemia than both the French and non-immigrant Tunisians (Méjean *et al.* 2007).

Development of nutrition and health promotion programmes for immigrants with a specific focus on their diets has been suggested (Nicolaou *et al.* 2006). Based on the presence of healthy elements in both immigrants' traditional food patterns and that of the Western countries, it is important that immigrants are advised to retain the healthful aspects of their cultural dietary practices while simultaneously adopting the healthful dietary habits of their host countries (Satia-Abouta *et al.* 2002, Nicolaou *et al.* 2006). Moreover, the aspects of

the diet that are unhealthy or less optimal should receive special attention (Nicolaou *et al.* 2006). Hence, such nutrition health promotion programmes will facilitate narrowing of the existing health inequalities between immigrants and the native populations.

### 2.2 Vitamin D

#### 2.2.1 Types and sources of vitamin D

Vitamin D (calciferol) is a fat-soluble nutrient, known as the "sunshine" vitamin, and also is regarded as a hormone due to the ability of its active form 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D (calcitriol) to function as part of the endocrine system (Ross et al. 2011). Vitamin D is a unique nutrient because it can be derived from diets and also be synthesized in the human skin on exposure to sunlight or ultraviolet B (UVB) light of wavelengths 290-315 nm (Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2013). The major types of vitamin D are vitamin  $D_2$  (ergocalciferol) and vitamin  $D_3$ (cholecalciferol) (Laird *et al.* 2010). Vitamin D<sub>2</sub> is produced through irradiation of a sterol, ergosterol, which is present in plants and fungi (e.g. some wild mushrooms) (Bikle 2014). Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> is naturally obtained from dietary sources (such as fatty fish, cod liver oil and smaller amounts in egg yolk) (Holick 2007b). In human skin, vitamin D3 is produced through the action of UVB light on a precursor sterol, 7-dehydrocholesterol (Laird et al. 2010). The major differences between the two forms of vitamin D is with  $D_2$  having a double bond between C22 and C23 and a methyl group at C24 in the side chain (Ross et al. 2011, Bikle 2014) (Figure 1). Both vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$  are synthesized commercially and used in food fortification and in dietary supplements (Holick 2007a, Ross et al. 2011).



Figure 1. Structure of vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$ .

The main source of vitamin D for most people is endogenous dermal synthesis (Grant & Boucher 2011). Besides the few foods naturally containing vitamin D, other dietary sources are vitamin D-fortified foods such as milk and dairy products, margarine, breakfast cereals, and orange juice (Holick 2007a). The dietary sources of vitamin D in different countries (e.g. United States, Canada, and European countries) vary due to dietary habits and fortification policies of each country (Spiro & Buttriss 2014). In Finland, fluid milk products, fat spreads, and some plant-based drinks (dairy product alternatives) are fortified with vitamin D based on nutrition policy recommendations (National Nutrition Council 2010). Vitamin D content of some dietary sources is presented in Table 3. In addition, dietary supplements are important sources of vitamin D, especially in countries at northern latitudes, due to limited sunlight exposure during the winter period. Use of dietary vitamin D supplements is essential for individuals who do not frequently consume vitamin D-rich foods or spend time outdoors for sun exposure during summer season (Lamberg-Allardt *et al.* 2013, National Nutrition Council 2014) and for vulnerable individuals such as infants and the inactive elderly (Lamberg-Allardt 2006, Lamberg-Allardt *et al.* 2013).

Sources	Vitamin D content, μg/100g <sup>1</sup>	Sources	Vitamin D content, µg/100g <sup>1</sup>
Fish, raw		Mushrooms, raw	
Eel	25.6	Funnel Chanterelle	15.4
White fish	17.9	Chanterelle	5.8
Baltic herring, fillet	15.6	Porcini	2.6
Vendace	9.4	Egg yolk, raw	6.5
Salmon, fillet	8.0	Egg, raw	2.2
Rainbow trout, fillet	7.8	Liver, raw (pork)	1.1
Pike-perch	6.9	Milk, fortified	1.0
Tuna	7.2	Margarine, fortified	20.0
Cod	7.0	Plant-based drinks	
Sardines	5.2	Oat drink, fortified	0.75
		Soya drink, fortified	0.75

**Table 3.** Vitamin D content of selected dietary sources.

<sup>1</sup>Sources: National Food Composition database Fineli<sup>®</sup>, Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare

#### 2.2.2 Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism

When the skin is exposed to sunlight, the production of vitamin D begins with photochemical transformation of 7-dehydrocholesterol (provitamin  $D_3$ ) to previtamin  $D_3$ (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). The 7-dehydrocholesterol in the dermis and epidermis absorbs solar UVB radiation at wavelengths of 290-315 nm; the absorbed energy causes breakage and rearrangement of its chemical bonds, resulting in a conversion to previtamin D<sub>3</sub> (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). The previtamin D<sub>3</sub> thereafter undergoes thermally induced transformation to vitamin  $D_3$  (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). Vitamin D from foods and supplements  $(D_2 \text{ or } D_3)$  is incorporated into chylomicrons, absorbed into the lymphatic system, and transported in venous circulation (Holick 2008, Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). The vitamin D synthesized is biologically inactive until it undergoes two hydroxylation processes (Ross et al. 2011) (Figure 2). The vitamin D in the blood is transported by vitamin D binding protein to the liver, where it is metabolized by an enzyme, 25hydroxylase, i.e. cytochrome P450 2R1 (CYP2R1), and hydroxylated to 25hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D; calcidiol]. The 25(OH)D, which is the major circulating form of vitamin D, re-enters the circulation and is converted in the kidney by another enzyme, 25(OH)D-1α-hydroxylase, i.e. cytochrome P450 27B1 (CYP27B1), to hormonal form 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D; calcitriol] (Ross et al. 2011, Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is the active form of vitamin D and its production is regulated by factors such as serum phosphorus, serum calcium and parathyroid hormone (PTH) concentrations (Ross et al. 2011). The production of the active metabolite calcitriol occurs at the fall of serum calcium concentration, which stimulates the secretion of PTH from the parathyroid gland for hydroxylation of 25(OH)D to  $1,25(OH)_2D$  by enzyme CYP27B1 in the kidney (Christakos et al. 2013).



Figure 2. Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism.

### 2.2.3 Functions of vitamin D

The principal function of calcitriol, the biologically active form of vitamin D, is to maintain the blood concentration of calcium and phosphorus, which is required for bone formation, bone mineralization, and neuromuscular function (Ross et al. 2011, Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). Besides the calcium and phosphorus homeostasis, roles of vitamin D have been discovered in many organs throughout the human body, i.e. influencing the immune system, cellular metabolism, cardiovascular systems, and muscle and brain systems (Norman & Bouillon 2010, Stöcklin & Eggersdorfer 2013). The active  $1,25(OH)_2D$  as a hormone interacts with a nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR) in target tissues such as the small intestine, osteoclasts in bone and renal tubular cells in kidneys (Holick 2008). The classic function of vitamin D in maintenance of calcium and phosphorus homeostasis is achieved through three different mechanisms: (1) calcitriol stimulates the intestinal absorption of calcium and phosphorus; (2) with PTH, it increases the number of osteoclasts in the bone and thus results in mobilization of calcium and phosphorus, and their release into the blood; and (3) together with PTH, it stimulates tubular reabsorption of calcium and phosphorus in the kidney (Holick 2008, Ross et al. 2011). Owing to the presence of VDR in the nucleus of various tissues and cells in the body (Ross et al. 2011), the actions of vitamin D are not limited to the tissues regulating calcium and phosphorus metabolism. Expression of the enzyme CYP27B1 has been found in many tissues besides the kidney, thus making calcitriol production possible in extrarenal tissues such as placenta, pancreas, prostate, breast, skin, brain, and immune cells (Norman & Bouillon 2010, Christakos et al. 2013). Hence, significance of vitamin D has been observed in overall health as well as different diseases, including autoimmune diseases (such as multiple sclerosis and type 1 diabetes), CVD, neurodegenerative diseases, and cancer (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011, Christakos et al. 2013, Lockaua & Atkinson 2018).

### 2.3 Vitamin D status

#### 2.3.1 Vitamin D assessment

Circulating S-25(OH)D concentration is widely considered the best marker for assessing vitamin D status (Holick 2007a, Ross *et al.* 2011). Its acceptance as the most suitable metabolite in determining vitamin D status arises from its ability to reflect net vitamin D input from total intake (foods and supplements) and cutaneous production (Holick 2006, Ross *et al.* 2011). In addition, among the vitamin D derivatives, including the biologically active 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D with a half-life of 4-6 hours, S-25(OH)D is most abundant in the blood circulation and has the longest half-life of about 2-3 weeks (Zitterman 2003, Holick 2009). Serum 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is not considered a useful marker of vitamin D status due to its less circulating concentrations, short half-life, and inability to detect insufficiency and deficiency as a result of its usual normal or even elevated concentration, which is associated with increased PTH levels (Holick 2009). Based on these characteristics of S-25(OH)D, it is used to define vitamin D status in terms of deficiency, insufficiency, sufficiency, and toxicity.

Over the years, different clinical assays have been used to measure S-25(OH)D. The two major methods employed are immunological assays and chemical assay techniques (Atef 2018). The immunoassay methods, which are the most popular methods (Wallace et al. 2010), include chemiluminescence immunoassays (CLIA), radioimmunoassay (RIA), enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and IDS enzyme immunoassay (EIA), while chemical assay techniques comprise of high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) (Wallace et al. 2010, Atef 2018). The RIA and CLIA measure total 25(OH)D concentrations with the ability of recognizing 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> equally as well as 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> (Holick 2007a, Holick 2009). Nevertheless, the reliability of some of the immunological assays, such as RIA, have been questioned due to variation in results between laboratories and inability to distinguish between 25(OH)D and other hydroxylated metabolites of vitamin D, including 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, which frequently results in overestimated total 25(OH)D concentrations (Holick 2007a, Holick 2009, Binkley et al. 2014). The HPLC and LC-MS/MS assays quantitatively measure  $25(OH)D_2$  and  $25(OH)D_3$  separately; total 25(OH)Dconcentrations can be easily reported as the sum of the two forms (Wallace et al. 2010, Atef 2018). However, LC-MS/MS is regarded as the "gold standard" assay for measuring 25(OH)D based on its high specificity, high sensitivity, and good reproducibility (Ross et al. 2011).
With the discrepancies in the range of the available methods (including limitations) for measuring 25(OH)D and existing variations in results, defining patients' vitamin D status becomes complicated, affecting the clinical managements of patients (Atef 2018). In addition, comparison of 25(OH)D results from different laboratories and pooling of results from different research in systematic reviews are problematic (Binkley et al. 2014). To ensure the analytical reliability of 25(OHD), the Vitamin D External Quality Assessment Scheme (DEQAS) was incorporated into vitamin D assessment worldwide since 1989 (Carter et al. 2018). The scheme evaluates the performance of assays used in measuring total S-25(OH)D through a consensus mean based on the all-laboratory trimmed mean (ALTM) (Carter et al. 2018). Furthermore, concerns about the need to standardize 25(OH)D measurement led to international joint efforts that established the Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP) as a reference method in 2010 (Sempos et al. 2012, Binkley et al. 2014). The VDSP, the goal of which is to ensure accuracy in 25(OH)D) concentration measurements and comparison regardless of time, location, and assay methods for improvement of clinical and public health practice world-wide (Sempos et al. 2012), has improved assessment of vitamin D status (Cashman et al. 2016).

#### 2.3.2 Definitions: categories of vitamin D status

Despite of no standard consensus cut-off points for S-25(OH)D regarding the classification of vitamin D status, especially defining adequate status, some definitions are commonly accepted in research (Table 4). Generally, S-25(OH)D concentration below 25 nmol/L is considered 'deficient', a lower limit threshold set with regard to prevention of rickets, osteomalacia, and poor bone health in 97.5% of the population (Spiro & Buttriss 2014). The current NNR reference values for S-25(OH)D concentration derive from IOM evidence-based suggestions (Ross *et al.* 2011, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). According to IOM in relation to bone health (Ross *et al.* 2011), S-25(OH)D concentration of 40 nmol/L is defined as the value that covers vitamin D requirements of 50% of the population. The sufficient threshold of  $\geq$  50 nmol/L is considered as the concentrations that will meet the needs of nearly all (97.5%) individuals (Ross *et al.* 2011).

S-25(OH)D (nmol/L)	Vitamin D status	Health implications	Agency
<30	Deficient	Associated with rickets in infants and children and osteomalacia in adults	IOM <sup>1</sup>
30 - <50	Insufficient	Insufficient for bone and overall health in healthy individuals	IOM <sup>1</sup>
≥50	Sufficient	Sufficient for bone and overall health in healthy individuals	IOM <sup>1</sup> , NNR <sup>2</sup>
75-120		Optimal target concentration in an osteoporosis patient	Current Care Guidelines <sup>3</sup>
≥125	Toxicity	Associated with no increased benefits and raise concerns for potential adverse effects (i.e. toxicity)	IOM <sup>1</sup>

**Table 4.** Categories of vitamin D status according to S-25(OH)D concentration thresholds.

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Medicine

<sup>2</sup>Nordic Nutrition Recommendations

<sup>3</sup>Care Guidelines for osteoporosis treatment in Finland

#### 2.3.3 Factors affecting vitamin D status and groups at risk

There are various factors influencing vitamin D status. In a broad view, these factors are related to vitamin D endogenous production, dietary intake, absorption, metabolism, and bioavailability. The endogenous dermal synthesis of vitamin D is sufficient throughout the year at latitudes below  $35^{\circ}$  north and above  $35^{\circ}$  south, while UVB radiation is limited for vitamin D<sub>3</sub> synthesis at higher latitudes during the winter season (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). For instance, cutaneous vitamin D<sub>3</sub> synthesis is not possible from October through March in Helsinki, Finland (latitude  $60^{\circ}$ N) (Lamberg-Allardt 1984). Seasonal variation in UVB radiation, especially at northern latitudes, affects vitamin D synthesis in the skin, as optimal amounts are produced in summer compare with winter, when little or no production occurs (Laird *et al.* 2010). Moreover, time of day for sunlight exposure is important; maximum UVB radiation intensity is reached at midday in the summer (Webb & Engelsen 2006, Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011).

Increase in the skin pigment melanin reduces cutaneous vitamin  $D_3$  production (Zitterman 2003, Holick 2008) and is thus related to the time spent outdoors. The required time of sunlight exposure for sufficient vitamin D synthesis is determined by skin colour; people with darker skin (e.g. African descent) require a longer (about six fold) UV exposure

period than fair-skinned (Caucasian) individuals at high latitudes (Webb & Engelsen 2006). While melanin of dark pigmented skin is a natural sunscreen against damaging effects from excessive exposure to UV radiation (Holick 2008), use of sunscreen reduces vitamin D synthesis because it prevents UV light from reaching the skin (Ross *et al.* 2011). In addition, type and style of clothing influence the amount of cutaneous vitamin D<sub>3</sub> synthesized, as wearing thick fabrics and clothes covering the entire body reduce the intensity of UV radiation on the skin (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011, Ross *et al.* 2011). Other factors affecting endogenous production of vitamin D include sun exposure habit, amount of skin exposed, free living/institutionalization, air pollution, cloud cover, and urban environments with tall buildings blocking the sunlight (Ross *et al.* 2011).

Skin production of vitamin D is affected by age, while its bioavailability is related to both age and BMI (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). Older adulthood has been associated with increased risk of vitamin D insufficiency due to a decline in skin 7-dehydrocholesterol content, likelihood of spending more time indoors, and possibility of insufficient vitamin D intakes from foods and/or supplements (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011, Ross *et al.* 2011). UVB-induced and dietary vitamin D is stored in adipose tissue; the inverse relationship between BMI and S-25(OH)D concentrations suggest a reduction in bioavailability of vitamin D due to large fat mass in obese individuals (Wortsman *et al.* 2000, Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). Consumption of vitamin D-rich foods (natural/fortified foods) influences vitamin D status; this depends on food habits and ability to include the few available dietary sources into the regular diet in sufficient amounts (Lamberg-Allardt 2006, Holick 2006). In the situation of limited sun exposure and insufficient vitamin D intake from food, use of supplements containing vitamin D is important to meet the daily requirement (Lamberg-Allardt 2006).

Disease of organs involving in the absorption and metabolism of vitamin D, such as liver, intestine and kidney diseases can significantly affect vitamin D status. Reduction in vitamin D absorption has been observed in patients with intestinal malabsorption, liver failure, celiac disease, chronic pancreatitis, and gastric bypass, while chronic renal failure results in decreased concentration of serum of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011). Hence, these disease states are often associated with low levels of 25(OH)D (Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011).

Besides age and BMI, some other socio-demographic and lifestyle factors, such as sex, education, smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity, have been associated with vitamin D status. The link between outdoor activities and sun exposure may explain the positive associations that have been observed between physical activity and S-25(OH)D concentration (Looker 2007, Thuesen *et al.* 2012, Yao *et al.* 2017). By contrast, the indirect association of unhealthy dietary habits and smoking is a suggestive factor for low

S-25(OH)D among smokers (Shinkov *et al.* 2015, Kassi *et al.* 2014). However, not all associations are consistent and reasons for some of them are unclear.

Genetic factors have also been identified in association with vitamin D status, as singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) and in the enzymes involved in the metabolism of vitamin D and its metabolites determine the S-25(OH)D concentration (Wang *et al.* 2010, Elnenaei *et al.* 2011, Didriksen *et al.* 2013). According to Shea *et al.* (2009), up to 28% of inter-individual differences in S-25(OH)D concentrations possibly occur due to genetic factors. Altogether, the SNPs, namely 7dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7), CYP27B1, CYP2R1, and 24-hydroxylase, i.e. cytochrome P450 24A1 (CYP24A1), are responsible for 5% of the variation in S-25(OH)D (Wang *et al.* 2010, Signorello *et al.* 2011, Lips *et al.* 2019). Based on several factors affecting vitamin D status, some groups of people have been identified as being at increased risk of vitamin D insufficiency (Table 5).

Group	Causes
Breastfed infants	Low content of vitamin D in human milk <sup>1</sup>
Vegetarians	Little or no vitamin D intake from diets <sup>1,2</sup>
People living at high latitudes	Limited sunlight exposure during winter period <sup>3,4</sup>
Elderly populations	Reduction in vitamin D synthesis in the skin and likelihood of spending more time indoors <sup>1</sup>
Homebound individuals, women wearing concealing clothing and indoor workers	Limited sun exposure <sup>1,4</sup>
Obese individuals	Decrease in bioavailability of vitamin D due to large fat mass <sup>1,4,5</sup>
People with dark skin	Reduction in cutaneous vitamin D production due to increased skin pigment melanin <sup>1,3,6</sup>
Individuals with intestinal malabsorption or disorders of parathyroid, liver, or kidney	Reduction in vitamin D absorption and metabolism <sup>4</sup>

**Table 5.** Groups at risk of low vitamin D status.

<sup>1</sup>Ross *et al.* 2011; <sup>2</sup>Crowe *et al.* 2011; <sup>3</sup>Webb & Engelsen 2006; <sup>4</sup>Tsiaras & Weinstock 2011; <sup>5</sup>Wortsman *et al.* 2000 <sup>6</sup>Holick 2008

#### 2.3.4 Outcomes of low vitamin D status

Adequate vitamin D status is essential for skeletal health at all ages, in terms of bone development and growth in children and bone maintenance in adults. Nevertheless, there are growing concerns about the effects of low S-25(OH)D on several non-skeletal disorders (Spiro & Buttriss 2014). Hence, low vitamin D status or hypovitaminosis D, which includes both the state of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency, is a public health concern. The major outcome of vitamin D deficiency manifests as rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults. Rickets is a condition of under-mineralization of bones in infants and children due to poor absorption of calcium in the absence of adequate vitamin D; it is characterized by softened skull bones, bowed legs, knocked knees, rib-cage collapse, and deformed pelvic bones (Ross *et al.* 2011, Wranicz & Szostak-Węgierek 2014). Osteomalacia is the adult equivalent of rickets and it occurs because of demineralization of bones; a failure occur in sufficient mineralization of the newly deposited bone matrix (Ross *et al.* 2011). This results in bone pains, proximal muscle weakness and increased frequency of fractures (Ross *et al.* 2011, Grant & Boucher 2011).

In adults, vitamin D insufficiency, which is associated with impaired calcium metabolism, may result in secondary hyperparathyroidism, increased bone turnover, bone loss, osteoporosis, fractures and risk of falls (Holick 2006, Ross et al. 2011). The non-skeletal effects of low vitamin D status have been observed in different conditions, types of cancer, and other chronic diseases (Rejnmark et al. 2017, Bouillon et al. 2019). In a systematic review of findings from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) included in meta-analyses, beneficial effects of vitamin D supplementation were suggested for the risk of non-skeletal outcomes such as depression, blood pressure, respiratory tract infections, and all-cause mortality (Reinmark et al. 2017). Nevertheless, findings from the observational studies were not substantially supported by the systematic review. Furthermore, results from metaanalysis and systematic reviews support earlier findings in observational studies regarding asthma, wheeze, and respiratory infection as outcome of low vitamin D status in children (Christensen et al. 2017, Shen et al. 2018). The controversial and inconclusive findings of observational studies on vitamin D status among children are largely due to poor methodological quality (Nurmatov et al. 2011). Inadequate consideration of confounding and effect modification has been identified in many studies investigating the potential effects of diet on the development of childhood asthma and allergic disease (Nurmatov et al. 2012). In general, strong evidence on the effects of low 25(OH)D is still lacking due to most RCTs being carried out in populations without a high prevalence of low vitamin D status (Rejnmark et al. 2017).

#### 2.3.5 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D

Impacts of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D concentrations are well documented, especially in RCTs (Cranney et al. 2007, Autier et al. 2012). Table 6 presents some studies carried out among immigrant populations in Nordic countries. According to Mazahery & von Hurst (2015), use of vitamin D supplements is currently the best method for treating vitamin D deficiency and maintaining adequacy; it is easy, effective, and cost-effective. The use of supplements generally results in increased S-25(OH)D concentrations; a metaregression revealed an average increase in S-25(OH)D concentrations of 1.95 nmol/L per microgram of daily vitamin  $D_3$  supplement, without the concomitant use of calcium supplements (Autier et al. 2012). Nonetheless variations exist in individual response to vitamin D supplementation based on different factors such as type, dosage, baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations, BMI/body fat percentage, and duration of supplementation, thus findings vary considerably (Ross et al. 2011, Mazahery & von Hurst 2015). Hence, vitamin D supplementation does not comply with the one-size-fits-all approach (Mazahery & von Hurst 2015). Other important factors that may influence response to a given dose of vitamin D include ageing, ethnicity, calcium intake, genetics, dietary fat content and composition, some diseases and medications, oestrogen use, and season (Mazahery & von Hurst 2015).

Effects of baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations and BMI on dose-response rate are well established; higher dose response is often reported among individuals with low baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations, but this decreases with increasing BMI (Didriksen et al. 2013, Scragg 2018). Both daily or periodical high-dose and daily low-dose of vitamin D have been effective in achieving adequate concentrations (Ish-Shalom et al. 2008, Imga et al. 2018). However, the issues of optimal dose and frequency of supplementation remain controversial, especially regarding safety and effectiveness, in increasing S-25(OH)D concentrations and maintaining sufficiency over the long run (Chel et al. 2008, Ish-Shalom et al. 2008, Imga et al. 2018). The non-significant effect of increasing vitamin D doses (ranging from 10 to 120 µg/d) on bone mineral density (BMD), in a recent RCT among Caucasians and African Americans with low baseline S-25(OH)D (Smith et al. 2018), suggested that high-doses are without benefit, except among those who are severely deficient and for treatment of osteomalacia and osteoporosis (Reid 2018). In addition, a systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis conducted by Bolland et al. (2018) showed no differences between the effects of higher and lower doses of vitamin D on fractures, falls, or BMD.

Generally, vitamin  $D_2$  is considered less potent than vitamin  $D_3$  in maintaining S-25(OH)D concentrations owing to its shorter circulating half-life (Armas *et al.* 2004, Autier *et al.* 

2012, Tripkovic *et al.* 2012). However, some studies have found vitamin  $D_2$  to be equally as effective as vitamin  $D_3$  (Biancuzzo *et al.* 2010, Fisk *et al.* 2012). The differences in the effectiveness between vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  were confirmed by Logan *et al.* (2013) and Itkonen *et al.* (2016b), as S-25(OH) $D_3$  declined rapidly among  $D_2$ -treated subjects. Differences in S-25(OH)D are often observed between dark-skinned and Caucasian populations, with lower concentrations among dark-skinned individuals (Aloia *et al.* 2008, Gallagher *et al.* 2014, Cashman *et al.* 2016). However, studies showed that response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D supplementation between dark-skinned and Caucasian persons is independent of race or ethnicity (Aloia *et al.* 2008, Gallagher *et al.* 2014).

Mean (median <sup>1</sup> ) A 25(OH)D (SD/range <sup>2</sup> /25th&75th percentile <sup>1</sup> nmol/L)	16.5(18.4,20.0)	35.8 (31.6, 35.9)	-0.9 (-1.9, -2.6)	30.95 (30.5, 33.4)	32.2 (30.3, 35.7)	-1.6 (0.9, -3.3)	16.0 (20.0)	25.0 (22.0)	-2 (10)	18.0 (6-29)	29.0 (17-42)	No change
Mean (median <sup>1</sup> ) baseline 25(OH)D (SD/range/25th&75th percentile <sup>1</sup> nmol/L)	22.9 (12.6, 28.2)	18.9 (13.6, 29.2)	20.0 (15.0, 25.2)	9.95 (6.9, 14.3)	14.0 (8.3, 17.5)	11.7 (7.5, 19.4)	27.0 (17.0)	27.0 (15.0)	27.0 (15.0)	19.0 (9-72)	23.0 (9-54)	17.0 (9-53)
Interventions	10 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	20 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	Placebo	10 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	20 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	Placebo	10 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	25 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	placebo	20 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	40 μg vitamin D <sub>3</sub> /d	placebo
Participants, sex, age	Men, 18-64 years			Women, 18-64 years			Men and women, 18-50	years		Women, 18-56 years		
Population, n	Pakistani, n=199						Immigrants, n=251	South Asian, n=95	Middle- East/Northern African, n=36 Sub-Saharan African, n=120	Somali, n=114		
Duration, season	1 year, all seasons						16 weeks, winter			12 weeks, autumn and	winter	
Authors, country, latitude	Andersen <i>et al.</i>	2008a <sup>1</sup> Denmark,	55°N				Knutsen et al. 2014	Norway, 60°N		Osmancevic et al.	2016 <sup>1,2</sup> Sweden,	57°N

Table 6. Studies investigating the effect of vitamin D supplementation on 25(OH) concentrations among immigrants in Nordic countries.

43

#### 2.3.6 Vitamin D status in Finland

Vitamin D status in the general Finnish population has greatly improved over the years (Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2017, Raulio *et al.* 2017), especially since the introduction of fortification policy in 2003 and the subsequent increment of the fortification scheme in 2010 (Ministry of Trade and Industry 2002, National Nutrition Council 2010). The vitamin D fortification scheme was increased from 0.5  $\mu$ g to 1  $\mu$ g/100 g in fluid milk products and respective plant-based alternatives, and from 10  $\mu$ g to 20  $\mu$ g/100 g in fat spreads. However, the fortification policy did not cover organic products (dairy or plant-based) (National Nutrition Council 2010), except for the mandatory fortification of homogenized organic fat-free milk with 1  $\mu$ g/100 g (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2016, Itkonen *et al.* 2018).

The latest national representative studies reported adequate vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D >50 nmol/L) for the majority (77-91%) of Finnish adults (Jääskeläinen et al. 2017, Raulio et al.2017). In 2011, the mean concentration of S-25(OH)D in the Finnish general population was reported to be 65 and 66 nmol/L for men and women, respectively (Jääskeläinen et al. 2017). The average daily dietary intake (from food only) contributing to the vitamin D status among the Finnish adult population is documented in the recent national dietary survey (FinDiet 2017) as 13 µg for men and 10 µg for women (Valsta et al. 2018). The proportion of daily vitamin intake from vitamin D-fortified fat spreads was 37% for men and 32% for women; the contribution from vitamin D-fortified dairy products was 26% for men and 25% for women, and intake from fish was 20% for men and 22% for women (Valsta et al. 2018). The proportion of supplement users among Finnish men and women was 40% and 57%, respectively, and their mean total intake was 36  $\mu$ g for both men and women (Valsta et al. 2018). Nevertheless, the satisfactory vitamin D status observed in Finland does not include the immigrant populations, and knowledge about the vitamin D status among immigrants living in Finland is still limited. An earlier study among immigrants in Finland reported lower S-25(OH)D concentrations and higher prevalence of low vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L) among Somali and Bangladesh immigrant women than among Finnish women (Islam et al. 2012).

#### 2.3.7 Vitamin D status among immigrants

Compared with host populations, poor vitamin D status is commonly observed in studies (Table 7) of non-Western immigrants and asylum seekers. Concerns about the vitamin D status of this group of people, particularly dark-skinned individuals living in Western countries, were highlighted by the IOM (Ross *et al.* 2011). High risk of vitamin D

deficiency has been identified among immigrants with Asian, African, or Middle Eastern background living in the Nordic countries (Van der Meer et al. 2011, Spiro & Buttriss 2014, Cashman et al. 2016) of Finland (Islam et al. 2012), Denmark (Andersen et al. 2008a, Andersen et al. 2008b, Grønborg et al. 2019), Norway (Meyer et al. 2004, Holvik et al. 2005, Madar et al. 2009) and Sweden (Andersson et al. 2013, Bärebring et al. 2016, Granlund et al. 2016, Osmancevic et al. 2016). The situation is likely to be severe among refugees who may suffer malnourishment upon arrival (Wishart et al. 2007). Migration from countries closer to the equator to higher northern or southern latitudes where sunlight is less effective during the day for vitamin D synthesis, especially in the winter period, is a major factor contributing to vitamin D deficiency among immigrants (Lips and de Jongh 2018). Furthermore, pigmented skin, limited exposure to sunlight because of cultural or religious practices such as skin-covering clothing style and lower vitamin D intake, which may results from dietary habits that limit the use of dietary sources, increases vitamin D deficiency among immigrants (Granlund et al. 2016, Lips and de Jongh 2018, Guo et al. 2018). For instance, Wändell (2013) observed uncommon consumption of fatty fish among non-Western immigrants living in the Nordic countries.

Low use of vitamin D supplements has also been observed among immigrants from non-Western countries (Andersson *et al.* 2013, Osmancevic *et al.* 2016, Lips and de Jongh 2018). As an outcome of vitamin D deficiency, nutritional rickets is still a concern among children in Western countries, with a higher prevalence observed among immigrant children in Denmark, the majority of whom are girls using veils (Beck-Nielsen *et al.* 2009). However, incidence of rickets is rare in the Norwegian population because children are offered free vitamin D drops at child health clinics (Madar *et al.* 2017, Meyer *et al.* 2017). Besides rickets in children, other health outcomes of low vitamin D status that have been observed among immigrant adults include muscle pain in immigrant women living in Sweden (Andersson *et al.* 2013, Englund *et al.* 2017). Likewise, lower forearm BMD was reported in Bangladeshi and Somali immigrant women, in association with low S-25(OH)D, than in Finnish women (Islam *et al.* 2012). Risk of obesity-related chronic disease, such as T2D and CVD, has been suggested in association with vitamin D insufficiency among ethnic minorities, but such findings are yet to be established (Renzaho *et al.* 2011).

Authors	Study design, year of data collection, season	Population, n	Participants, sex, age	Mean (median*) vitamin D intake from food (µg/d) (SD/95% CI/25th&75th percentile*)	Supplement users (%)	Total mean (median*) vitamin D intake (µg/d) (SD/95% CI/25th&75th percentile*)	Mean serum or plasma 25(OH)D concentration (SD/95% CI/range) nmol/L
Denmark							
Andersen <i>et</i> al. 2008b <sup>a*</sup>	Cross-sectional, 2002, all seasons	Pakistani, n=210	Men (n=95), 18-64 years	2.2 (0.8, 11.2)	25	NA	20.7 (7.0, 56.0)
			Women (n=115), 18-53 years	1.7 (0.5, 6.9)	22	NA	12.0 (3.6, 55.9)
Grønborg et al. 2019*	RCT <sup>b</sup> , 2016, winter	Pakistani, n=70	Women, 18-50 years	1.1 (1.0, 2.0)	61	13.0 (6.8, 29.3)	46.9 (22)
		Danish, n=66	Women, 18-50 years	1.5 (1.0, 2.0)	15	2.9(1.8,9.0)	49.6 (18)
Finland							
Islam <i>et al.</i> 2012	Cross-sectional, 2008, late winter	Bangladeshi, n=34	Women, 20-48 years	NA	6	NA	42.9 (16.1)
		Somalis, n=48	Women, 20-48 years	5.0 (2.0)	10	NA	36.8 (11.8)
		Finnish, n=61	Women, 20-48 years	4.6 (2.0)	50	NA	54.1 (19.1)
Norway							
Meyer <i>et al.</i> 2004	Cross-sectional, 2000-2001.	Pakistani, n=177	Men and women, 30-75 vears	NA	NA	NA	25.0 (13.6)
	summer-early winter	Norwegian, n=869					74.8 (23.7)
Holvik <i>et al.</i> 2005*	Cross-sectional, 2000-2001. late	Immigrants, n=1000	Men and women, 20-60 vears	NA	13¢	NA	

Table 7. Studies examining vitamin D status among immigrant populations in Nordic countries.

29.5 (21, 38)	30.0 (22, 39)	29.0 (21, 39)	22 (18, 29)	38 (28, 47)		26.7 (16.5)	26.1 (14.1)	21.5 (12.1)		22.2 (13.7, 28.6)	51.5 (39.6, 66.5)	42.8 (16.0)	37.7 (17.4)	
						13	4	4		3.1 (2.0, 4.7)	5.8(4.0, 9.0)	NA		
					NA					NA		24	25	
					NA					3.1 (2.0, 4.4)	5.1 (3.7, 6.4)	NA		age
					Women, 28 years <sup>d</sup>					Women, 18 -75 years	Women, 18 -75 years	Men and women, 25-65 years	Men and women, 25-65 years	supplements: <sup>d</sup> Mean
l urkısh (n=188)	Sri Lankan (n=310)	Iranian (n=199)	Pakistani (n=191)	Vietnamese (n=112)	Immigrants, n=80	Pakistani (n=45)	Turkish (n=25)	Somali (n=10)		Middle Eastern and Africans, n=31	Swedish, n=30	Middle Eastern, n=139	Africans, n=77	ine data: °Cod liver oil
winter-autumn					RCT <sup>b</sup> , 2004-2006,	all seasons				Cross-sectional, 2009, late winter		Cross-sectional, 2009-2010,	autumn-summer	<sup>11</sup> />hercentiles: <sup>b</sup> Basel
					Madar <i>et al</i> .	2009			Sweden	Andersson et al. 2013*		Granlund <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2016		Median (2.1%, 97

II ago 444 <sup>a</sup>Median (2½, 97½) perc NA, not available.

# **3** AIMS OF THE THESIS

The overall aim of this thesis was to assess diet and vitamin D status among immigrants of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish background. In addition, this thesis investigated whether ethnic differences exist between Somali and Finnish women in the response of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (S-25(OH)D) to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation.

Specific aims were as follows:

- To evaluate the consumption of healthy foods and to examine the association between socio-demographic factors and food consumption among Russian, Somali, and Kurdish participants in the Migrant Health and Wellbeing Study – Study I
- To study the vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D), its determinants, and consumption of major dietary sources of vitamin D among Russian, Somali, and Kurdish participants in the Migrant Health and Wellbeing Study, and to compare the vitamin D status of the immigrant groups with that of the general Finnish population of the Health 2011 Survey – Study II
- 3. To investigate, through a RCT, whether differences exist between Somali (East African) and Finnish (Caucasian) women in response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation, and to examine ethnic differences in the two groups of women in vitamin D status in terms of S-25(OH)D concentration and vitamin D intake from the diet and supplements Study III

# **4 SUBJECTS AND METHODS**

## 4.1 Study population and design

This thesis is based on three different datasets: (1) the Migrant Health and Wellbeing Study (Maamu Study) (Studies I and II), (2) the Health 2011 Survey (Health 2011) (Study II), and (3) the Marwo-D intervention study (Study III). Studies I and II were cross-sectional studies, while Study III was a randomized controlled trial. The studies are described in detail in the subsequent sub-sections. A summary of the study population, design, datasets and inclusion criteria used in the three studies is presented in Table 8.

Study	Dataset	Design	n, age	Inclusion criteria
Ι	Maamu Study	Cross- sectional	1372 (527 Russians, 337 Somalis, and 508 Kurds), aged 18-64 years	Men and women Responded to at least
			0	one dietary question
П	Maamu Study and Health	Cross- sectional	1310 immigrants (446 Russians, 364 Somalis,	Men and women
	2011		and 500 Kurds), aged 18- 64 years 798 Finns, aged 30-64 years	S-25(OH)D concentration available
III	Marwo-D intervention study	Randomized controlled trial	191 screened, aged 21-64 years 147 randomized (72	Non-pregnant and non- breastfeeding women
	·		Somalis, and 75 Finns), aged 21-64 years	Somali or Finnish origin
		Intervention		BMI $\leq 40 \text{ kg/m}^2$
		groups: Placebo 10	Placebo: 28 Somalis, 24 Finns	S-25(OH)D
		μg, 20 μg	10 µg: 26 Somalis, 26	concentration $>30$
			Finns	nmol/L but <100
			20 μg: 18 Somalis, 25 Finns	nmol/L

Table 8. Summary of study population and design (Studies I-III).

#### 4.1.1 Maamu Study (I and II)

Data from the Maamu Study were used in Studies I and II. The Maamu Study is the first population-based health interview and examination survey conducted among immigrants in Finland. The study population consists of three different immigrant groups, which are part of the largest foreign-born populations in Finland (Statistics Finland 2019): persons of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish origin. These groups were selected to the Maamu Study because: (1) the Russian origin population is the largest immigrant group in Finland and (2) Somali (fourth largest) and Kurdish (sixth largest) origin populations are important and potentially vulnerable groups due to involuntary migration experience (Castaneda et al. 2012, Statistics Finland 2019). Altogether, 3000 adults (1000 persons from each immigrant group) were randomly selected from the National Population Register and invited to the study. Maamu data were collected between 2010 and 2012 in the cities of Helsinki (60°N), Espoo (60°N), Vantaa (60°N), Turku (60°N), Tampere (62°N), and Vaasa (63°N). The Maamu Study was coordinated by the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL), with the aim of providing comprehensive information on health, well-being, and needs and use of health services among the three major migrant groups in Finland (Castaneda et al. 2012).

In Study I, data from participants who answered at least one of the dietary questions in the interview were used. Of those invited, the Study I sample comprised 53% of Russian (n=527), 34% of Somali (n=337), and 51% of Kurdish (n=508) participants, while the Study II sample comprised 45% of Russian (n=446), 36% of Somali (n=364), and 50% of Kurdish (n=500) participants with available data on S-25(OH)D concentration. These immigrant groups are subsequently also referred to as Russians, Somalis, and Kurds (Table 8).

#### 4.1.2 Health 2011 (II)

Data from the Health 2011 were included in Study II as comparison data from the general population in Finland. The Health 2011 is a national representative survey carried out among Finnish adults, living in mainland Finland, with the main objective of examining the health and well-being of the general Finnish population. The participants (n=2275) of the Health 2011 were selected to the general Finnish population reference group from the corresponding six cities where the Maamu Study was conducted. Data of the Health 2011 were collected through questionnaires, interviews, and a comprehensive health examination. The Health 2011 was also conducted by the THL in the same timeframe (2011) and with a protocol comparable to the Maamu Study (Härkänen 2013, Lundqvist & Mäki-Opas 2016).

In Study II, 35% of the general Finnish population reference group (n=798) with available data on S-25(OH)D concentration, aged 30-64 years, were included for comparison, and they are subsequently also referred to as Finns (Table 8).

#### 4.1.3 Marwo-D intervention study (III)

The Marwo-D intervention study (Study III) was a 5-month, randomized, placebocontrolled, dose-response, trial implemented within the European Union (EU)-funded research project "Food-based solutions for optimal vitamin D nutrition and health through the life cycle" (ODIN; FP7-613977-ODIN; www.odin-vitd.eu). The study was part of ODIN's Work Package 6 with the overall objective of delivering the proof of efficacy and safety of food-based solutions to prevent vitamin D deficiency by focusing on EU-resident adults most at risk of vitamin D deficiency due to skin colour, sun exposure practices, or dietary habits.

Women of Somali (East African) and Finnish (Caucasian) background aged 21-64 years were enrolled from the Helsinki metropolitan area (60°N) of Southern Finland. Some of them were recruited from the register of shortlisted subjects for participation in the Maamu Study. Out of 191 subjects screened for eligibility, 147 (77% of those screened) met the inclusion criteria and were randomized into three supplementation groups: placebo or 10  $\mu$ g or 20  $\mu$ g vitamin D<sub>3</sub>/d. The subjects were studied during an extended winter period (December 2014 and May 2015) at the Department of Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland. The study protocol included questionnaires, interviews, and serum measurements. Altogether 125 subjects (85% of those randomized) completed the study and 22 subjects (15%) discontinued after randomization for the following reasons: withdrawal (n=8), lost to follow-up (n=8), and ineligible due to pregnancy (n=6). The consort diagram showing participants' recruitment and randomization is presented in Figure 3.



**Figure 3.** Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) diagram. Details of the recruitment, randomization, and distribution of the participants in the Marwo-D Study. SOM, women of Somali origin; FIN, women of Finnish descent; S-25(OH)D, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D

#### 4.1.4 Ethical considerations

The studies were all approved by the Coordinating Ethics Committee of the Helsinki and Uusimaa Hospital District and were conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects. The consent form and the participant information sheet in Study III were provided in Somali and Finnish languages. The study was registered as a clinical trial on ClinicalTrials.gov (www.ClinicalTrials.gov; NCT02212223).

#### 4.2 Measurements

Both the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 comprised questionnaires, interviews, and health examinations (including serum measurements) (Castaneda *et al.* 2012, Lundqvist & Mäki-Opas 2016). The questions on socio-demographic factors and health behaviours in both studies were similar. Dietary questions were asked during the interview in the Maamu Study. The Marwo-D intervention study included questionnaires (either delivered via interview or self-administered), a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), and serum measurements. The main measurements employed in this thesis are presented in the next sub-sections.

# 4.2.1 Background variables; socio-demographic and health behaviour factors

In the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 Survey, information on age, sex, place of residence, and country of origin (for immigrants) was obtained from the sampling frame (Castaneda et al. 2012, Lundqvist & Mäki-Opas 2016). Information on age was collected through a detailed questionnaire in the Marwo-D intervention study. Other sociodemographic data were obtained during the interview in the Maamu Study and the Health 2011. Information on health behaviour was collected either during the interview (Maamu Study and Health 2011) or through the self-administered health questionnaire (Health 2011). The assessment for alcohol consumption was based on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) scores for men and women (Aalto et al. 2006, Tuunanen et al. 2007). Use of vitamin D supplements was examined during the interview in the Maamu Study, as a part of the FFQ in the Health 2011 and through a detailed questionnaire in the Marwo-D intervention study. BMI was calculated based on the height and weight (i.e. weight (kg)/ height (m<sup>2</sup>)) measured during the health examination (Maamu Study and Health 2011) and at screening (Marwo-D intervention study). The options for the questions asked and categorization of background variables used in the three studies are presented in Table 9.

Dist         Options and categories         Options and categories         Options and categories         Options and categories           ipants' origin         Russian; Somali; Kurdish         Russian; Somali; Finnish         Somali; Finnish         Somali; Finnish           Men: women         Men: women         Men: women         Women         Women           18-29; 30-44; 45-64         18-29; 30-44; 45-64         21-64 (continuous)         Women           of residence         (1) Metropolitian area: Helsinki, Espoo and         NA         NA         NA           vartaa         2         Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and         NA         NA         NA           al status         (1) Married/partnets/probabitation         NA         NA         NA         NA           al status         (2) Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and         NA         NA         NA         NA           al status         (2) Other development         NA         NA         NA         NA           al status         (2) Other developments         NA         NA         NA         NA           al status         (2) Other developments         NA         NA         NA         NA           al status         (1) Married/partures vindowed         NA         NA	e 9. Summary of koround	background variables: socio-demographic a Study I	ind health behaviour factors in Studies Study II	s 1-111. Study 111
nts' origin     Russian; Somali; Kurdish     Russian; Somali; Finnish     Somali; Finnish       Men; women     Men; women     Women     Women       Is-29; 30-44; 45-64     18-29; 30-44; 45-64     21-64 (continuous)       residence     (1) Meropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and     Women     Women       residence     (1) Meropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and     NA     NA       Yanta     (2) Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and     NA     NA       Ived     in< ≤5; 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       Ived     in< ≤5; 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       Ituto:     (1) Married/partnership/colabitation     NA     NA       (2) Other:     (1) Married/partnership/colabitation     NA     NA       (3) Gite:     1 person; 2.4 persons     NA     NA       (1) Married/partnership/colabitation     NA     NA       (3) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       (1) No basic education     (1) No basic education     (1) No basic education       (2) Basic education     (1) No basic education     (2) High school       (3) High school or equivalent: either     (2) High school     NA       (3) High school or equivalent / part of pinnior high school     (1) No: occasionally and not at all       (3) High school or equivalent     (2) Yes: dail	S	Options and categories	Options and categories	Options and categories
Ment. women     Ment. women     Women       18-29: 30-44; 45-64     18-29; 30-44; 45-64     21-64 (continuous)       residence     (1) Metropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and     NA     NA       2     Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and     NA     NA       1ived     in     ≤5, 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       status     (1) Married/partnership/colabitation     NA     NA       Other: divoced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA     NA       Old size     1 person: 2-4 persons: >4 persons     NA     NA       Old size     1 person: 2-4 persons <td>ants' origin</td> <td>Russian; Somali; Kurdish</td> <td>Russian; Somali; Kurdish; Finnish</td> <td>Somali; Finnish</td>	ants' origin	Russian; Somali; Kurdish	Russian; Somali; Kurdish; Finnish	Somali; Finnish
IS-29: 30-44: 45-64     IS-29: 30-44: 45-64     21-64 (continuous)       Tresidence     (1) Metropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and Vatasa     NA     NA       (2) Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and Vaasa     NA     NA       Iived     in<5: 6-14: >15 years     NA     NA       Status     (1) Married/partnership/cohabitation or unmarried     NA     NA       Status     (1) Married/partnership/cohabitation     NA     NA       Status     (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA       Old size     1 preson; 2-4 persons     A     NA       Status     (1) No basic education     NA     NA       Status     (1) No basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       Status     (3) High school or equivalent: part of junior high school or equivalent     (2) High school or equivalent     NA       Status     (3) High school or equivalent     (1) No: occasionally and not at all     NA       Status     (3) High school or equivalent     (1) No: occasionally and not at all     NA       Status     (3) Status     (3) Ye		Men; women	Men; women	Women
Tresidence     (1) Metropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and Vantaa     NA     NA       2     Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and Vantaa     NA     NA       1     20 Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and Vanta     NA     NA       1     Si 6-14; 215 years     NA     NA       1     Marce/partnership/obabitation     NA     NA       2     0 Other adivoced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA       0     0 or unmarried     NA     NA       0     0 or unmarried     NA     NA       0     0 or unmarried     NA     NA       0     0 basic education     (1) No basic education     (1) Less than high school       0     1     NA     NA     NA       0     1     NA     NA       1     1     NA     NA       1     1     NA     NA		18-29; 30-44; 45-64	18-29; 30-44; 45-64	21-64 (continuous)
Ived     in     55, 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       Ived     in     55, 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       Ived     in     55, 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       Itatus     (1) Married/partnership/cohabitation     NA     NA     NA       Itatus     (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA     NA       Inscription     (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA     NA       Inscription     (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA     NA       Inscription     (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed     NA     NA     NA       Inscription     (1) No basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA     NA       Instruct     (2) Basic education     (1) No basic education     NA     NA </td <td>fresidence</td> <td>(1) Metropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and Vantaa</td> <td></td> <td></td>	fresidence	(1) Metropolitan area: Helsinki, Espoo and Vantaa		
lived     in     ≤5; 6-14; ≥ 15 years     NA     NA       status     (1)     Married/partnership/cohabitation     NA     NA       attatus     (1)     Married/partnership/cohabitation     NA     NA       of or unmarried     0 or unmarried     NA     NA       onal status     Basic education     NA     NA       onal status     Basic education     Education     NA       onal status     Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       onal status     Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       (1)     No basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       (2)     Basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       (3)     Primary school or equivalent: either     (2)     High school       (3)     Primary school or equivalent / part of ingh school     (1) Less than high school     NA       (3)     Prigh school or equivalent / part of ingh school or equivalent / part of high school or equival		(2) Other municipalities: Turku, Tampere and Vaasa	NA	NA
status       (1) Married/partnership/cohabitation       NA       NA       NA         (2) Other: divorced or living apart, widowed       0.0	lived in	$\leq$ 5; 6-14; $\geq$ 15 years	NA	NA
old size     1 person; 2-4 persons; >4 persons     NA     NA       onal status     Basic education     Education     NA       (1) No basic education     (1) No basic education     Education       (1) No basic education     (1) Less than high school     NA       (2) Basic education or equivalent / part of primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent / part of junior high school     (2) High school       (3) High school or equivalent / part of high school or equivalent is school     (1) No: occasionally and not at all       (3) High school or equivalent is school or equivalent     (1) No: occasionally and not at all       (1) No     Smoking daily       (1) No     (1) No: occasionally and not at all       (1) No     Excess alcohol consumption:	status	<ol> <li>Married/partnership/cohabitation</li> <li>Other: divorced or living apart, widowed or unmarried</li> </ol>	NA	NA
onal status Basic education (1) No basic education (1) No basic education (2) Basic education or equivalent: either (2) High school or primary school or primary school and primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent / part of junior high school or equivalent ingh school (3) High school or equivalent: high school or part of high school or an equivalent school (1) No: occasionally and not at all (1) No: occasionally and not at all (1) No: occasionally and not at all (1) No: automation (1) No: automa	old size	1 person; 2-4 persons; > 4 persons	NA	NA
<ul> <li>(2) Basic education or equivalent: ether (2) High school primary school or the equivalent / part of primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent / part of junior high school</li> <li>(3) High school or equivalent: high school or an equivalent bart of high school or an equiva</li></ul>	onal status	Basic education (1) No basic education	Education (1) Less than high school	
g status Smoking daily NA (1) No: occasionally and not at all NA (2) Yes: daily Excess alcohol consumption: ption (1) No = AUDIT <6 points for men and		<ul> <li>(2) Basic education or equivalent: either primary school or the equivalent / part of primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent / part of junior high school</li> <li>(3) High school or equivalent: high school or part of high school or an equivalent school school</li> </ul>	(2) High school	NA
Excess alcohol consumption:       ption       (1) No = AUDIT <6 points for men and	g status	NA	Smoking daily (1) No: occasionally and not at all (2) Yes: daily	NA
	ption		Excess alcohol consumption: (1) No = AUDIT <6 points for men and	q

	NA	<5 points for women	NA
		(2) Yes = AUDIT $\ge 6$ points for men and	
		≥5 points for women	
Physical activity		(1) Inactive/less active:	
		Inactive = mainly non-strenuous	
		activities (reading and watching TV)	
		Less active = moderately strenuous	
		activities (walking, biking or light	
	NA	gardening)	NA
		(2) Highly active: strenuous activities	
		(fitness training or competitive	
		sports several hours a week)	
Use of vitamin D		(1) No	NA
supplements	NA	(2) Yes	
BMI		(1) Non-obese ( $<30 \text{ kg/m2}$ )	BMI (continuous)
	NA	(2) Obese $(\geq 30 \text{ kg/m2})$ .	
Season of blood		(1) Summer (April – September)	
sampling	NA	(2) Winter (October – March	NA

#### 4.2.2 Dietary assessment

#### Dietary questions during interview (I and II)

In the Maamu Study, the health interview included extensive questions on food habits. The dietary questions were designed to measure consumption frequencies (not amounts) and eating habits (Castaneda *et al.* 2012). The participants were asked about their use of basic Finnish food items such as fat spread on bread, cooking fat, cheese, rye bread, fresh vegetables, fruit and berries, fish, and fluid dairy products. In Study I, four food variables (rye bread, fresh vegetables, fruits and berries, and fish) were selected as indicators of healthy food consumption. In Study II, consumption of the major dietary sources of vitamin D was examined based on three selected food variables (fat spread, fish, and fluid milk). The questions asked to assess the consumption of each food item are presented in Table 10.

#### Food frequency questionnaire (III)

In the Marwo-D intervention study, data on habitual dietary vitamin D intake were collected based on a validated, semi-quantitative, interview-administered food frequency questionnaire (Itkonen et al. 2016a). The FFQ was only validated in Finnish women (Caucasians), but piloted in a small Somali population (n=5) before its administration in the study. The FFQ, which aimed to estimate average dietary vitamin D intake during the previous month, was administered at the baseline and endpoint of the intervention. The FFQ included nine food groups, covering altogether 46 food items, which are considered important sources of vitamin D. The vitamin D intake was assessed with closed questions on consumption frequencies (daily, weekly, monthly, less often or not at all) and portion sizes (e.g. 1 glass or 1 piece). Open questions were utilized with respect to use of fat (e.g. spread on bread, in cooking and baking). In the FFQ, information on brand name of food products was asked from the participants with the aid of a picture booklet of vitamin Dfortified products. Pictures showing portion sizes were also used when needed. The dietary vitamin D intakes (from vitamin D-fortified fluid milk products and fat spreads, fish, and other sources) were calculated using data from the Finnish national food composition database Fineli<sup>®</sup>, which was developed and is continuously updated by the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (www.fineli.fi). In addition, vitamin D content of each vitamin Dfortified product was available on the food labels provided by the manufacturers.

s and categories	1 slice	ot at all 2 days per week 5 days per week 7 days per week	ot at all 2 days per week 5 days per week 7 days per week	ot at all time per week or rarely (1-2 nes ner month or once ner woek)	2 times per week (2 times per eek or 3 or more times per week)	I 2 times per week 2 times per week	<ol> <li>non-use</li> <li>use either &lt;65% fat or ≥65%</li> <li>t spreads</li> </ol>	daily: not at all, 1-2 times per onth, once per week, 2-3 times r week and 4-6 times per week aily or several times per day
Option	(1) $(2)$ $(2)$	(5) N (4) 1-5 (5) 3-7-7 (4) 1-5 (6) 2-5 (4) 1-5 (4) 1-	(1) (2) (4) (4) (5) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7	Study I (1) Nc (2) 1 t	(3) ≥ We	Study I $(1) < 2$ (1) $< 2$ $\geq$	(1) Nc (2) Yc fat	(1) < (1) model (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Questions asked	How many slices of rye bread do you normally eat in a day?	How often have you eaten vegetables and root vegetables (except potatoes) during the last week (7 days) as such, in grated form, or in fresh salads?	How often have you eaten fruits and berries during the last week (7 days)?	How often have you eaten fish or fish dishes during the last month?			What type of fat spread do you use mostly on bread?	How often have you consumed fluid milk products, such as milk, sour milk, or yoghurt, during the previous month?
Selected food items	Rye bread	Fresh vegetables	Fruits and berries	Fish			Vitamin D-fortified fat spread	Vitamin D-fortified fluid milk
Data collection method	Dietary questions during	interview						
Study and outcome measured	I	Healthy food consumption			Π	Consumption of major dietary sources of vitamin D		

Table 10. Summary of dietary assessment in Studies I-III.

57

od items	ain D-fortifie products ain D-fortifie ds - sources (mi. t foods, main es, mushroor in D-fortifie e, bread, juic al water)
od items Questions asked	ain D-fortified fluid Consumption frequend to the previous monthin D-fortified fat the previous monthe fat the previous monthe factors (milk-sources (milk-s
Options and categories	ency during Consumption frequency during the previous month

\*Based on a validated, semi-quantitative, interview-administered FFQ (Itkonen et al. 2016a)

#### 4.2.3 Laboratory measurements (II and III)

In this thesis, S-25(OH)D concentrations were measured as a biomarker for the assessment of vitamin D status. In all studies, fasting blood samples were collected and serum was separated and stored at -70°C until analysis (Lundqvist & Mäki-Opas 2016, Skogberg *et al.* 2016). The minimum average fasting period in both the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 (Study II) was 8 hours (Skogberg *et al.* 2016). Fasting blood samples in the Marwo-D intervention study (Study III) were drawn between 6:45 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. Also determined in Study III in relation to bone health were S-PTH, serum calcium (S-Ca), serum albumin, and phosphate (S-Pi) concentrations. Table 11 shows the summary of measurements for the biomarkers used in both Studies II and III.

The total S-25(OH)D concentrations from both the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 were standardized according to the VDSP by means of a certified LC-MS/MS at University College Cork, Ireland (Cashman et al. 2016, Jääskeläinen et al. 2017). The quality and accuracy of S-25(OH)D analysis by the LC-MS/MS in the Cork Centre for Vitamin D and Nutrition Research laboratory is guaranteed on an ongoing basis by participation in the DEQAS (Charing Cross Hospital) (Cashman et al. 2013). The LC-MS/MS method used is certified under the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Standardization Program Vitamin D Certification (http://www.cdc.gov/labstandards/pdf/hs/CDC Certified Vitamin D Procedures.pdf). The VDSP ensures measurement accuracy and more valid comparison of S-25(OH)D data across studies and time (Sempos et al. 2012). The VDSP protocol is described in detail elsewhere (Binkley & Sempos 2014, Cashman et al. 2016). The total S-25(OH)D concentrations in the Marwo-D intervention study were assessed from the serum samples by the Cork Centre for Vitamin D and Nutrition Research at University College Cork, Ireland, using LC-MS/MS, which is the central analytical platform for the ODIN project.

In both Studies II and III, vitamin D status was defined according to the IOM S-25(OH)D thresholds (Ross *et al.* 2011), which are adopted in both the Nordic and Finnish Nutrition Recommendations (National Nutrition Council 2014, Nordic Council of Ministers 2014). S-25(OH)D >30 nmol/L was defined as deficient; S-25(OH)D 30 - <50 nmol/L as insufficient; S-25(OH)D  $\geq$  50 nmol/L as sufficient. In Study II, season of blood sampling was classified as summer (April – September) and winter (October – March).

Study	Variable	Sampling period	Method (device)	Laborat ory	CV% inter- assay and intra-assay
II	Serum 25- hydroxyvita min D	Maamu Study: December 2010 - April 2012	Chemiluminescent immunoassay (Architect ci8200) <sup>*</sup>	THL	
		Health 2011: August - December 2011	Chemiluminescent immunoassay (Architect ci8200)*	THL	
			LC-MS/MS (VDSP) <sup>1</sup>	UCC	Maamu samples <5 Health 2011 <5
III	Serum 25- hydroxyvita min D	Screening (October/November 2014)	LC-MS/MS <sup>2</sup>	UCC	<5, <6
	Serum parathyroid hormone	Baseline (December 2014) Midpoint	Immunoluminescen ce (Immulite1000)**	UH	<8.0, <5.5
	Serum calcium <sup>3</sup>	(February/March 2015)	Photometric (Konelab20)***	UH	<4.6, <4.6
	Serum	Endpoint (April/May 2015)	Photometric (Konelab20)***	UH	<4.6, <4.6
	Serum phosphate	2015)	Photometric (Konelab20)***	UH	<4.6, <4.6

 Table 11. Summary of laboratory measurements in Studies II and III.

LC-MS/MS, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry; VDSP, Vitamin D Standardization Program THL, Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare

UCC, Cork Centre for Vitamin D and Nutrition Research, University College Cork, Ireland

UH, Department of Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

<sup>1</sup>Total S-25(OH)D concentrations from Maamu Study and Health 2011 were standardized according to the VDSP

 $^{2}$ Measures S-25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> and S-25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> separately; total S-25(OH)D concentrations were calculated as the sum of the two values

 $^{3}$ S-Ca results were used as albumin-corrected (S-Ca + 0.02 x (41.3 - S-Alb)), 41.3 = average albumin

\*Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, USA; \*\*Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, Malvern, PA, USA; \*\*\*Thermo Clinical Labsystems, Espoo, Finland

#### 4.3 Statistical analyses

The statistical methods used in this thesis included descriptive statistics, non-parametric statistics, t-test, analysis of variance (ANOVA), repeated-measures analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), and linear and logistic regression models. In Studies I and II, the analyses involved the use of inverse probability weights (IPWs) (Robins et al. 1994, Härkänen et al. 2014), based on register information on age, sex, study group, study location, and marital status, in order to reduce bias due to non-response and different sampling probabilities. Finite population correction was also applied in the analyses of both studies because of a significant proportion of the total population included in the sample (Lehtonen & Pahkinen 2004). The results are presented as weighted prevalence and odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) (Studies I and II), weighted means with their 95% CIs (Study II), and mean values with standard deviations (SDs) or standard errors (Study III). The results of all analyses in the three studies were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05. The statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Analysis System for Windows, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in Studies I and II and IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Statistics for Windows, version 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) in Study III. A summary of the major statistical analyses of this thesis is presented in Table 12.

#### Study I

Data were analysed separately for each immigrant group and differences in sociodemographic characteristics and healthy food consumption between males and females were examined using Chi-square test. Associations between socio-demographic factors and food consumption were analysed using logistic regression models. The variables included in both unadjusted and adjusted models are presented in Table 12. Based on preliminary analyses, years lived in Finland and marital status were not associated with the variables of interest. Thus, they were not included in the final models. Due to uncommon daily consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries observed among Somali participants, different cut-offs (at least 3 days/week) were adopted for the Somalis regarding fresh vegetables and fruits and berries.

#### Study II

Comparisons between the immigrant groups and the Finnish reference group regarding participant's characteristics and vitamin D status were only analysed for participants aged 30-64 years because of the limited available data on S-25(OH)D concentration for younger (18-29 years) Finnish participants. All other analyses carried out among the immigrant groups included individuals aged 18-64 years. The differences between groups were

examined using linear (continuous variables) and logistic (categorical variables) regression. The potential determinants of vitamin D deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L) and insufficiency (<50 nmol/L) were analysed with logistic models. The compositions of the multivariable models employed are shown in Table 12.

#### Study III

Power of the study (90%,  $\alpha = 0.5$ ) was calculated based on the S-25(OH)D concentrations in order to detect a minimum 10 nmol/L increase in S-25(OH)D between groups within an ethnic group. With reference to the distribution of wintertime S-25(OH)D data in a previous study of white adult Finnish women (Itkonen *et al.* 2016b), it was assumed that the distribution of wintertime S-25(OH)D would be similar for non-white adult Finnish women of similar numbers per group. It was calculated that 34 subjects should be recruited per group, but the number was increased to 40 for each dose group (placebo, 10 µg/d, and 20 µg/d in each ethnic group) to cover possible dropouts. The intention was to enroll a total of 240 women (120 in each ethnic group) but the targeted sample size was not reached because of the seasonal timeframe (i.e. wintertime) of the study, which did not allow extension of the recruitment period for more participants.

The normal distribution of variables was tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Differences in normally distributed variables in intervention groups within both ethnic groups were evaluated with ANOVA and non-parametric test (Kruskal-Wallis) was used to assess differences in non-normally distributed variables. Variables between the two ethnic groups were compared with t-test (normally distributed variables) and non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test (non-normally distributed variables). Differences in vitamin D intakes (from diet and/or supplement) between supplement users and non-users as well as between the two groups of women were examined using Mann-Whitney U test. The effects of supplementation on S-25(OH)D, S-PTH, S-Ca, and S-Pi in the two ethnic groups were assessed with repeated-measures ANCOVA (Table 12). The baseline S-25(OH)D, S-PTH, S-Ca, or S-Pi concentration was used as a covariate in ANCOVA. The comparisons between intervention groups were carried out with contrasts.

In the final analysis on the effects of intervention, only the participants who completed the intervention and had  $\geq 80\%$  compliance rate with study supplementation in each group were included. However, three participants were excluded from the analysis for the following reasons: pregnancy (n=1), kidney dysfunction (n=1), and sunburn (n=1). Altogether, data from 116 participants were analysed. Additional analyses were performed for the evaluation of vitamin D status in the two ethnic groups with regard to S-25(OH)D concentrations in all screened subjects (n=191) and vitamin D intake from the diet and supplements in all randomized subjects (n=147).

Study	Main variables	Statistical methods	Models
_	Outcome: Consumption of healthy foods: rye bread vegetables, fruits and berries, and fish food Determinants: Socio-demographic factors: sex, age, basic education, place of residence, and household size	Logistic regression; data analysed separately for each immigrant group	Unadjusted model: Each food (rye bread, vegetables, fruits and berries, fish food) and each socio-demographic (sex, age, basic education, place of residence, and household size) variables of interest separately Adjusted model: Unadjusted model + all other socio-demographic variables
	Outcomes: Total S-25(OH)D Vitamin D deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 mol/L) Vitamin D insufficiency (<50 mmol/L) Vitamin D insufficiency (<50 mmol/L) Consumption of dietary sources of vitamin D Background variables: sex, age, immigrant group, education, BMI, daily smoking, alcoph, education, BMI, daily smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, use of vitamin D supplements, season of blood sampling Dietary variables: consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread, fish consumption, and vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products	Logistic regression; data analysed only among immigrant groups T tests; data analysed between immigrant groups and the general Finnish population as well as among the immigrant groups	Model 1: Age, season of blood sampling and immigrant group + a variable of interest (sex, education, BMI, daily smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, use of vitamin D-fortified fat spread, fish consumption, and vitamin D- fortified fluid dairy products consumption) and vitamin D status (S- 25(OH)D <30 or <50 nmol/L) Model 2: Model 1 + all other variables

Table 12. Summary of the major statistical analyses of the thesis.

# Table 12 continues.

Models	ANCOVA model: S-25(OH)D at the three visits, the three intervention groups, and baseline S-25(OH)D concentration as a covariate
Statistical methods	Repeated-measures analysis of covariance (ANCOVA); data stratified by ethnicity groups Mann-Whitney U test; data analysed according to supplement use and groups of women
Main variables	<b>Outcomes:</b> Total S-25(OH)D S-25(OH)D cut-offs Effect of vitamin D <sub>3</sub> supplementation on S- 25(OH)D Total daily vitamin D intake Daily vitamin D intake from dietary sources Daily vitamin D intake from dietary sources Intervention groups: Placebo and 10 and 20 µg/d vitamin D <sub>3</sub> Intervention visits: Baseline, midpoint, and endpoint Supplement use Vitamin D-rich foods: Vitamin D-fortified fluid milk products and fat spreads, fish, and other sources
Study	

# **5 RESULTS**

# 5.1 Characteristics of the participants

#### Study I

Descriptive statistics of the 1372 participants in Study I are presented in Table 13. The majority of the Russian Somali participants were women. Participation rate was higher among Kurdish men than Kurdish women. Participants of Russian origin were older and had higher educational status than the other immigrant groups. The study was more characterized by participants who lived in the Helsinki metropolitan area and those who were married, had registered partners, or were cohabiting. Participants of Somali background had the largest household size.

	Russian (n=527)		Somali (n=337)		Kurdish (n=508)	
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Sex						
Men	188	36	156	46	291	57
Women	339	64	181	54	271	43
Age (years)						
18-29	153	29	142	42	176	35
30-44	164	31	128	38	224	44
45-64	210	40	67	20	108	21
Education						
None	-	-	78	23	58	11
Basic school/equivalent	104	20	160	48	233	46
High school/equivalent	423	80	96	29	216	43
Place of residence						
Metropolitan area	418	79	292	87	278	55
Other municipalities	109	21	45	13	230	45
Years in Finland						
<=5	110	21	74	22	104	21
6-14	220	42	134	40	271	53
>=15	197	37	126	38	132	26
Marital status						
Married/Partnership/Cohabitation	227	43	116	35	177	35
Other	300	57	217	65	331	65
Household size						
1 person	121	23	59	17	105	21
2-4 persons	381	72	121	36	277	54
> 4 persons	25	5	157	47	126	25

#### **Table 13.** Characteristics of the participants in Study $I^{l}$ .

<sup>1</sup>Weighted n and prevalence (%)

Basic education: No = participant had not received formal school education; Basic education or equivalent = attended either primary school or the equivalent / part of primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent / part of junior high school; High school or equivalent = attended high school or part of high school or an equivalent school.

Place of residence: Metropolitan area = Helsinki, Espoo, and Vantaa; Other municipalities = Turku, Tampere, and Vaasa.

Marital status category "Other" = divorced or living apart, widowed, or unmarried.

Missing information: For Somalis: education (n=2), years in Finland (n=3), marital status (n=4); for Kurds: education (n=1), years in Finland (n=1).

#### Study II

Table 14 shows the characteristics of the 888 immigrant and 798 Finnish participants, aged 30-64 years in Study II. Somali and Kurdish participants were younger than Russians and the general Finnish population. Obesity was observed among 49% of Somali women and one-third of Kurdish women, while only 5% of Somali men were obese. Prevalence of obesity did not differ between Kurdish men and Finnish men. Similar low prevalence of obesity and higher proportion of physical activity were found in Russian and Finnish participants. Participants of Somali (18%) and Kurdish (21%) origin had lower proportions of being highly physically active than the Finnish reference group. The proportion of vitamin D supplements use was lower in the immigrant groups, especially among women, than in the Finnish participants. Blood samples of the Russian and Kurdish participants, which were mostly collected during the winter season, differed from those of Finns. The blood samplings of Somalis were almost equally distributed between the summer and winter seasons and were similar to those of Finns.

Table 14. Characteristics of the participants (aged 30-64 years) in Study II: the immigrant groups (Maamu Study) and the general Finnish population (Health 2011)<sup>1</sup>.

			Men			Μ <sub>0</sub>	men	
	Russian (n=111) n (%)	Somali (n=79) n (%)	Kurdish (n=176) n (%)	Finnish (n=352) n (%)	Russian (n=217) n (%)	Somali (n=142) n (%)	Kurdish (n=163) n (%)	Finnish (n=446) n (%)
Ara (vaare)	(	()	(- · ) -	() -	()-	6	6	
Age (years) 30-44	58 (53)	51 (68)	111 (66)	115 (42)	85 (39)	88 (66)	111 (69)	159 (42)
45-64	53 (47)	28 (32)	65 (34)	237 (58)	132 (62)	54 (34)	52 (31)	287 (58)
<i>p</i> value	0.076	<0.001	<0.001	х х	0.444	<0.001	<0.001	х 7
High school education <sup>2</sup> <i>p</i> value	84 (82) <0.001	35 (57) 0.764	75 (46) 0.093	199 (54)	177 (83) <0.001	17 (14) <0.001	64 (41) <0.001	298 (66)
Obesity <i>p</i> value	18 (18) 0.851	7 (5) <0.001	35 (20) 0.672	59 (19)	50 (23) 0.826	67 (49) <0.001	49 (30) 0.003	95 (22)
<b>Daily smokers</b> <i>p</i> value	32 (31) 0.082	7 (4) <0.001	42 (26) 0.318	58 (21)	20 (9) 0.011	0 (0) NA	7 (4) <0.001	70 (17)
<b>Excess alcohol consumers<sup>3</sup></b> <i>p</i> value	15 (13) <0.001	0 (0) NA	6 (4) <0.001	102 (29)	12 (8) <0.001	0 (0) NA	2 (1) NA	107 (25)
High physically active persons <sup>4</sup>	27 (24) 0.157	15 (18) 0.012	38 (24) 0.044	97 (31)	50 (23) 0.664	18 (18) 0.081	27 (17) 0.013	106 (25)
p vance Vitamin D supplement-users p value	7 (6) 0.008	4 (7) 0.059	15(9) 0.057	47 (14)	23 (10) <0.001	9 (12) 0.005	23 (15) 0.015	106 (24)
Season of blood sampling Summer (April – September)	42 (38)	35 (50)	56 (32)	178 (51)	80 (36)	65 (49)	57 (33)	222 (51)
Winter (October – March	69 (62) 0 014	44 (50) 0 050	120 (69) <0.001	174 (49)	137(64)	77 (52) 0.654	106 (67) <0.001	224 (49)
Crude n and weighted prevalence (<0.05) revealence difference (	(%). P values	from T tests	= difference bet	ween immigrant	groups and the	general Finni	sh population,	bolded <i>p</i> values
(<0.05) represent significant differe	ences.							

Education (in any country): Less than high school = had not received formal school education or attended either primary school or the equivalent/part of primary school or primary school and secondary school or equivalent/part of junior high school; High school or equivalent = completed high school or Excess alcohol consumption: No = AUDIT < 6 points for men and <5 points for women; Yes =  $AUDIT \ge 6$  points for men and  $\ge 5$  points for women part of high school or an equivalent school (none of the Finnish and Russian men and women reported no educational attainment). (None of the Somali men and women reported excess alcohol consumption).

Physically activity: inactive = mainly non-strenuous activities such as reading and watching TV; moderately active = moderately strenuous activities such as walking, biking, or light gardening; highly active = strenuous activities such as fitness training or competitive sports several hours a week. NA = not applicable (too few observations for statistical analysis in the cell "yes" for smoking and alcohol consumption)

Missing information: For Russians: education (n=5), smoking (n=4), alcohol consumption (n=17), physical activity (n=4), use of vitamin D supplements (n=13)

For Finns: education (n=10), BMI (n=2), smoking (n=11), alcohol consumption (n=17), physical activity (n=14), use of vitamin D supplements (n=19) For Kurds: education (n=10), BMI (n=4), smoking (n=9), alcohol consumption (n=25), physical activity (n=11), use of vitamin D supplements (n=28)  $^{7}$ or Somalis: education (n=17), smoking (n=22), alcohol consumption (n=50), physical activity (n=50), use of vitamin D supplements (n=53)

#### Study III

Altogether 147 participants; Somali (East African; n=72) and Finnish (Caucasian; n=75) women, were randomized in the study. Mean compliance with supplementation was 89% for Somali women (n=54) and 98% (n=71) for Finnish women. Table 15 presents the characteristics of the 116 participants included in the final analyses. No differences were found with regard to any background data among the intervention groups within each ethnic group. However, Somali women differed from Finnish women in all characteristics, except for S-Pi concentrations.

**Table 15.** Baseline characteristics of the participants (n=116) in Study III; stratified by ethnicity.

	Somali women	Finnish women	P value
	n=47	n=69	
Age (years) <sup>†</sup>	41.2 (8.0)	32.7 (8.0)	<0.001
Height (cm)	163.1 (5.3)	166.2 (6.2)	0.006
Weight (kg) <sup>†</sup>	78.2 (13.3)	65.7 (12.0)	<0.001
BMI $(kg/m^2)^{\dagger}$	29.4 (4.8)	23.8 (4.0)	<0.001
Dietary vitamin D intake $(\mu g/d)^{\dagger}$	11.3 (5.1)	8.4 (4.1)	0.002
Vitamin D intake from personal supplement	11.2 (10.1)	5.7 (9.3)	<0.001
$(\mu g/d)^{\dagger}$			
Total vitamin D intake from diet and personal	22.5 (12.6)	14.1 (10.5)	<0.001
supplement $(\mu g/d)^{\dagger}$			
Baseline serum 25(OH)D (nmol/L)	52.2 (14.0)	60.5 (16.6)	0.006
Baseline serum PTH (pg/ml) <sup>†*</sup>	45.2 (24.7)	34.1 (17.0)	0.021
Baseline albumin-corrected calcium (mmol/L)	2.54 (0.09)	2.49 (0.09)	0.002
Baseline serum phosphate (mmol/L)	1.27 (0.14)	1.30 (0.17)	0.291

Values are mean (SD), vitamin D intakes calculated from FFQ (mean of baseline and endpoint). BMI = body mass index. 25(OH)D = 25-hydroxyvitamin D

Significant differences between Somali and Finnish women are presented in bold. *P* values <0.05 from T-tests, except † non-parametric tests

\* n=112 for serum PTH analysis

### 5.2 Consumption of healthy and vitamin D-rich foods (I and II)

In both Studies I (n=1372) and II (n=1185), ethnic differences in the consumption of healthy foods (rye bread, vegetables, fruits and berries, and fish) and vitamin D-rich foods were observed among immigrant participants. Rye bread was consumed daily by a higher proportion of Russian and Somali participants than Kurdish participants (Table 16). Fresh vegetables were more often consumed by participants of Russian and Kurdish origin than by Somali participants. Similarly, consumption of fruits and berries was more frequent among Kurds and Russians than among Somalis. However, 85% of Somali participants consumed by Russian (43% in both studies) and Somali (37% in Study I; 38% in Study II) participants than Kurdish participants (19% in Study I; 17% in Study II). Vitamin D-fortified fat spread was frequently used by a higher proportion of Somalis than Russian and Kurdish participants. More than half of participants with Russian and Kurdish background consumed vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products daily, compared with only one-third of Somali participants.
	Russian	(n=527)	Somali	(n=337)	Kurdis	h (n=508)
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Rye bread daily <sup>2</sup>						
No	108	21	90	27	216	43
Yes	417	79	243	73	291	57
Vegetables per week <sup>2</sup>						
Not at all	18	3	37	11	26	5
1-2 days/week	64	12	283	85	127	25
3-5 days/week	129	25	11	3	133	26
6-7 days/week	316	60	4	1	222	44
Fruits and berries per week <sup>2</sup>						
Not at all	12	2	51	15	13	2
1-2 days/week	81	16	263	78	105	21
3-5 days/week	118	22	20	6	72	14
6-7 days/week	315	60	3	1	318	63
Fish per week						
Study I <sup>2</sup>						
Not at all	19	4	35	10	78	15
1 time per week/rarely	282	53	178	53	333	66
$\geq$ 2 times per week	226	43	124	37	97	19
Study II <sup>3</sup>						
< 2 times per week	240	57	195	62	377	83
$\geq$ 2 times per week	190	43	99	38	84	17
Fat spread <sup>3</sup>						
No	116	27	29	9	178	40
Yes	310	73	265	91	283	60
Fluid dairy products <sup>3</sup>						
<daily< td=""><td>179</td><td>43</td><td>159</td><td>64</td><td>206</td><td>44</td></daily<>	179	43	159	64	206	44
Daily or several times a day	251	57	133	36	255	56

**Table 16.** Consumption of healthy and vitamin D-rich foods by immigrant groups (Studies I and II)<sup>I</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Weighted prevalence.

weighted preva

<sup>2</sup>Weighted n.

<sup>3</sup>Crude n (Russians n=430, Somalis n=294, Kurds n=461)

Rye bread daily: Yes = ate  $\geq 1$  slice.

Study I: Fish per week: ate fish 1 time per week/rarely (1-2 times per month or once per week); ate fish  $\geq 2$  times per week (i.e. 2 times per week or 3 or more times per week).

Missing information: For Russians: rye bread (n=2), fruits and berries (n=1), fat spread (n=4); for Somalis: rye bread (n=4), vegetables (n=2), fluid dairy products (n=2); for Kurds: rye bread (n=1)

## 5.3 Associations between healthy food consumption and sociodemographic factors (I)

Table 17 shows the multivariate associations between healthy food consumption and sociodemographic factors for each ethnic group of immigrants. Among persons of Russian origin, differences in the consumption of healthy foods existed with regard to sex, age, and household size (Table 17). Russian women were more likely than men to consume fruits and berries; the oldest age group was more likely to eat fresh vegetables and fruits and berries than the youngest participants; and those with a larger household size were more likely to consume rye bread.

Differences in the consumption of healthy foods were observed in relation to all sociodemographic factors among Kurdish participants (Table 17). Vegetables and rye bread were more likely to be consumed by Kurdish women than men. Daily consumption of fruits and berries were more likely to occur nearly twice among the oldest age group than among the youngest one. Fresh vegetables were more likely to be eaten daily by Kurdish participants with the highest educational level, but less likely to be consumed by those living in the metropolitan area and those with a smaller household size. Kurdish persons living in the metropolitan area were more likely to consume fish frequently than those living in other municipalities.

Consumption of healthy foods among participants of Somali origin differed by age, education, and place of residence (Table 17). Fresh vegetables and fruits and berries were less likely to be consumed by Somalis in the older age groups (30-64 years). Fish was more likely to be consumed by 30–44-year-olds, while rye bread was more likely to be eaten by 30–64-year-olds than by younger participants. Somali participants with the highest educational level were more likely to consume fresh vegetables, whereas those living in the metropolitan area were less likely to consume both fresh vegetables and fruits and berries.

		Russiar	1 (n=527)			Kurdis	h (n=508)			Somali	(n=337)	
	Vegetables (6-7 days/ week)	Fruits and berries (6-7 days/ week)	Fish (at least 2 times/week)	Rye bread (at least 1 slice/day)	Vegetables (6-7 days/ week)	Fruits and berries (6-7 days/ week)	Fish (at least 2 times/week)	Rye bread (at least 1 slice/day)	Vegetables (at least 3 days/week)*	Fruits and berries (at least 3 davs/week)*	Fish (at least 2 times/week)	
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
Sex Men Women	1.00 1.21 (0.79-1.86)	1.00 1.87‡ (1.21-2.90)	1.00 0.87 (0.57-1.33)	1.00 1.10 (0.66-1.83)	1.00 <b>1.62</b> ‡ (1.12-2.34)	1.00 1.35 (0.94-1.95)	1.00 0.85 (0.55-1.33)	1.00 3.22‡ (2.21-4.69)	1.00 2.21 (0.796.18)	1.00 1.06 (0.42-2.65)	1.00 0.75 (0.43-1.30)	
Age (years) 18-29 30-44	1.00 1.28	1.00	1.00 0.90	1.00 1.25	1.00 0.96	1.00 1.28	1.00 0.90	1.00 1.00	1.00 <b>0.2</b> 7‡	1.00 <b>0.29</b> ‡	1.00 2.17‡	
45-64	(0.75-2.19) <b>1.91</b> ‡ (1.14-3.19)	(0.68-1.97) 2.14‡ (1.27-3.59)	(0.52-1.54) 1.43 (0.86-2.36)	(0.67-2.31) 1.50 (0.84-2.70)	(0.64-1.45) 1.48 (0.91-2.40)	(0.85-1.92) <b>1.94</b> ‡ <b>(1.17-3.20)</b>	(0.55-1.48) 1.30 (0.74-2.29)	(0.66-1.51) 1.59 (0.96-2.62)	(0.09-0.82) 0.24‡ (0.07-0.79)	<b>(0.10-0.79)</b> 0.51 (0.13-2.00)	<b>(1.20-3.93)</b> 1.14 (0.56-2.33)	
Basic education No Basic school/ equivalent High school/ equivalent	1.00 0.66 (0.39-1.13)	1.00 1.01 (0.60-1.71)	1.00 1.35 (0.82-2.24)	1.00 1.16 (0.64-2.11)	1.00 1.14 (0.64-2.02) <b>1.85</b> ‡ (1.05-3.29)	1.00 1.01 (0.56-1.81) 0.97 (0.54-1.73)	1.00 1.53 (0.73-3.24) 1.38 (0.64-2.96)	1.00 0.99 (0.57-1.73) 1.65 (0.93-2.91)	1.00 1.33 (0.54.3.30) <b>5.35</b> ‡ (1.24-23.14)	1.00 2.07 (0.85-5.08) 2.96 (0.84-10.49)	1.00 1.21 (0.62-2.35) 1.71 (0.79-3.71)	
Place of residence Metropolitan area Other	0.91 (0.61-1.34) 1.00	0.88 (0.59-1.32) 1.00	1.13 (0.77-1.67) 1.00	$1.16 \\ (0.74-1.83) \\ 1.00$	0.61‡ (0.43-0.86) 1.00	0.96 (0.68-1.37) 1.00	<b>1.60</b> ‡ (1.04-2.45) 1.00	1.13 (0.79-1.62) 1.00	0.10‡ (0.03-0.32) 1.00	0.24‡ (0.11-0.53) 1.00	0.80 (0.47-1.35) 1.00	

Table 17. Associations between healthy food consumption and socio-demographic factors according to ethnic groups.

74

0	0.98	(0.40-2.42)	0.66	(0.36 - 1.21)	1.00	-0			: / part	ț of						s:		
	0.69	(0.32 - 1.48)	0.95	(0.53 - 1.71)	1.00	lel for all soci			the equivalent	school or part						); for Somalis		
	1.24	(0.27 - 5.75)	2.03	(0.71 - 5.83)	1.00	(adjusted mo			ary school or	attended high						rye bread (n=]		
	2.80	(0.58 - 13.37)	1.85	(0.59-5.79)	1.00	stic regression			ed either prim	equivalent =		/aasa.	l berries.			inland (n=1),		
l	0.74	(0.43 - 1.28)	0.68	(0.44 - 1.06)	1.00	<b>CIs) from logis</b>			alent = attend	High school or		ampere, and V	and fruits and			=1), years in F		
	1.29	(0.66-2.53)	1.21	(0.70 - 2.10)	1.00	ce intervals ((			ation or equiv	high school; I		ies = Turku, T	esh vegetables			education (n <sup>=</sup>	s (n=2).	
0	0.80	(0.46 - 1.37)	1.35	(0.89-2.05)	1.00	95% confiden			on; Basic educ	part of junior		er municipalit	s regarding fre	ber week.		1); for Kurds:	=4), vegetable	
	0.44‡	(0.25 - 0.78)	0.64	(0.43 - 0.97)	1.00	s (ORs) and 9			nool educatio	equivalent /		Vantaa; Othe	r the Somalis	more times p		d berries (n=	rye bread (n <sup>-</sup>	
-	0.01	(0.00-0.08)	0.02	(0.00-0.12)	1.00	ce. Odds ratio		ues <0.05).	ved formal sch	lary school or		i, Espoo, and	r 6-7 days) fo	week or 3 or	ce.	n=2), fruits an	l status (n=4),	
	0.57	(0.21 - 1.59)	1.14	(0.45 - 2.89)	1.00	nted in boldfa		results (p val	had not receiv	ol and second	ol.	urea = Helsink	3-5 days or fo	sh 2 times per	$y = ate \ge 1$ sli	s: rye bread (1	(n=3), marital	
	0.44	(0.16 - 1.18)	1.09	(0.44 - 2.73)	1.00	ions are prese	les).	icant adjusted	) = participant	r primary sche	quivalent scho	Metropolitan a	days/week =	/week = ate fi	east 1 slice/da	1: For Russian	ars in Finland	
	0.79	(0.29-2.10)	1.53	(0.62 - 3.73)	1.00	icant associati	graphic variab	istically signif	education: Nc	mary school o	chool or an ec	of residence:	offs (at least 3	t least 2 times.	read daily at l	ng information	tion (n=2), yea	
Household size	l person		2-4 persons		> 4 persons	Signi	demo	‡ Stat	Basic	of pri	high s	Place	*Cut-	Fish a	Rye b	Missi	educa	

#### 5.4 Vitamin D intake and sources (III)

Based on the calculation from the baseline FFQ consumption, the daily total vitamin D intake is presented according to supplement non-users and supplement users in Figure 4. The proportions of supplement use among Somali (n=72) and Finnish (n=75) women were 88% and 47%, respectively. Nevertheless, mean vitamin D intakes from supplements were similar among the voluntary vitamin D supplement users in both ethnic groups. Higher total mean vitamin D intake was found among participants using personal supplements than among non-users in both groups of women.



**Figure 4.** Mean (SD) vitamin D intakes  $(\mu g/d)$  calculated from baseline FFQ.

\**P* values from Mann-Whitney U test (<0.001) for differences between groups of participants. Range from diet: 1.5-29.9  $\mu$ g/d (Somali women); 1.1-18.6  $\mu$ g/d (Finnish women). Range from supplement: 0.0-60.0  $\mu$ g/d (Somali women); 0.0-57.5  $\mu$ g/d (Finnish women). Range of total intake: 1.5-89.9  $\mu$ g/d (Somali women); 1.1-68.2  $\mu$ g/d (Finnish women). Diet \_\_\_\_\_\_ Supplement.

Somali women had higher mean habitual vitamin D intakes from both diet (11.2 [SD=5.8] vs. 8.4 [SD=4.1]  $\mu$ g/d, *p*=0.003) and supplements (13.0 [SD=11.6] vs. 6.9 [SD=12.6]  $\mu$ g/d, *p*<0.001) than Finnish women. A higher proportion of participants who attained daily recommended vitamin D intake of 10  $\mu$ g (National Nutrition Council 2014; Nordic Council of Ministers 2014) from diet and supplements was observed among Somali women (83%; n=60) than among Finnish women (55%; n=41) (*p*=0.003). The dietary sources contributing to the mean daily intake of vitamin D for both Somali and Finnish women are presented in Figure 5. Fortified fluid milk products were the major source of vitamin D for both groups of women, with higher intake among Somali women. The vitamin D intake from fortified fat spread and fish was similar in both groups.



Figure 5. Baseline daily vitamin D intake from dietary sources. Values are mean, vitamin D intakes calculated from baseline FFQ. Fortified fluid milk products; Fortified fat spreads; Fish; Others (milk-based foods, main courses, mushrooms, vitamin D-fortified cheese, bread, juice and mineral water)

## 5.5 Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations and vitamin D status (II and III)

In Study II, lower mean [95% Cl] S-25(OH)D concentrations were found among Kurds (35 [34, 37] nmol/L) and Somalis (44 [41, 46] nmol/L) compared with Finns (64 [62, 66] nmol/L) (Figure 6). Russians had mean S-25(OH)D concentrations (64 [62, 66] nmol/L) that were similar to Finns. There were no differences in the mean S-25(OH)D concentrations between men and women in any of the study groups.





Adjusted for age and month of blood sampling. \**P* values from T tests (<**0.001**) for mean standardized S-25(OH)D differences between immigrant groups and the general Finnish population.

Men Women. S-25(OH)D, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D.

In Study III, higher baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentrations were observed among Finnish women (mean: 60.5 [SD=16.3] nmol/L) than among Somali women (mean: 51.5 [SD=15.4] nmol/L) (p=0.001), (data not shown). Vitamin D status of participants in both Studies II and III was examined according to the IOM thresholds for S-25(OH)D concentrations (Ross *et al.* 2011). The vitamin D status of the subjects in Studies II and III (screened subjects) is presented in Table 18. In Study II, the prevalence of vitamin D

deficiency was higher among Somali and Kurdish participants than among Russians and Finns, while insufficient vitamin D status was higher in the three immigrant groups than in Finnish participants. In Study III, no vitamin D deficiency was found among Finnish women.

**Table 18.** *Distribution of vitamin D status (according to IOM S-25(OH)D cut-offs) in Studies II and III (frequencies and percentages).* 

			Stud	ly II <sup>1</sup>		Stud	y III <sup>2</sup>
S-25(OH)D	Vitamin D	Russian (n=328)	Somali (n=221)	Kurdish (n=339)	Finnish (n=798)	Somali (n=104)	Finnish (n=87)
(nmol/L)	status	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n <sup>2</sup> (%)
<30	Deficient	13 (4)	48 (24)	164 (49)	6(1)	18 (17)	0 (0)
30 - 49.9	Insufficient	80 (24)	113 (52)	124 (36)	46 (6)	40 (39)	8 (9)
≥50	Sufficient	235 (72)	60 (24)	51 (15)	746 (93)	46 (44)	79 (91)

<sup>1</sup>Crude n, weighted prevalence (%), adjusted for age and month of blood sampling. <sup>2</sup>Crude n and prevalence (%). Only women (at screening)

### 5.6 Determinants of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency (II)

The evaluation of vitamin D status among only immigrants (aged 18-64 years) in Study II shows just 4% of Russian participants as deficient (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L), while the proportions were 30% and 51% for Somali and Kurdish participants, respectively. Due to the few observations of S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L among Russians, the determinants of vitamin D deficiency are presented only for the Somali (n=102) and Kurdish (n=252) participants in Figure 7. In the final multivariable model, Kurdish participants (OR 1.97 [95% CI 1.31-2.96]) were at higher risk of vitamin D deficiency than Somalis (p<0.001). The independent determinants of vitamin D deficiency were obesity and daily smoking (p≤0.04, for both). Lower odds of vitamin D deficiency were associated with belonging to the oldest age group (45-64 years), being physically active, and using vitamin D supplements (p≤0.04, for all). Consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread and daily consumption of vitamin D deficiency (p≤0.004, for both). No association was found between vitamin D deficiency and sex, education, alcohol consumption, or fish consumption (p≥0.05, for all).



**Figure 7.** Association of socio-demographic and health behaviour determinants and season of sampling with vitamin D deficiency (S-25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L)

Associations from logistic regression (adjusted model for all variables). \*\*P values <0.001; \*P values <0.05. References: Somali; male; 18-29 years; < high school; < 30 kg/m2; no smoking; no alcohol; inactive/less

active; no vitamin D supplements; summer season blood sampling; no fat spread; < 2 times/week fish; < daily fluid dairy products.

Regarding vitamin D insufficiency, 29% of Russians (n=128), 78% of Somalis (n=278), and 86% of Kurds (n=428) had S-25(OH)D below 50 nmol/L. The determinants of vitamin D insufficiency for the three immigrant groups are presented in Figure 8. In the final multivariable model, vitamin D insufficiency was less common in Russians (OR 0.12 [95% CI 0.08-0.20]) than in Somalis (p<0.001). The model showed daily smoking, excess alcohol consumption, and blood sampling in the winter season as the significant determinants of vitamin D insufficiency (p<0.03, for all). Lower odds of vitamin D insufficiency were associated with older age (45-64 years), physical activity, fish consumption according to the recommendations, and daily consumption of vitamin Dfortified fluid dairy products (p<0.04, for all). Sex, education, BMI, use of vitamin D supplements, and consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread were not associated with vitamin D insufficiency (p<0.05, for all).



**Figure 8.** Association of socio-demographic and health behaviour determinants and season of sampling with vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L)

Associations from logistic regression (adjusted model for all variables). \*\*P values <0.001; \*P values <0.05. References: Somali; male; 18-29 years; < high school; < 30 kg/m2; no smoking; no alcohol; inactive/less active; no vitamin D supplements; summer season blood sampling; no fat spread; < 2 times/week fish; < daily fluid dairy products.

## 5.7 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D, S-PTH, S-Ca, and S-Pi (III)

In Study III, significantly increased S-25(OH)D concentration was observed after five months in the intervention groups receiving 10  $\mu$ g and 20  $\mu$ g doses of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplements, compared with placebo, among both Somali (East African) and Finnish (Caucasian) women. Figure 9 shows the effect of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation on S-25(OH)D among the participants (n=116) included in the analysis (repeated-measures ANCOVA, adjusted for baseline S-25(OH)D concentration). There were no significant differences found between the 10  $\mu$ g and 20  $\mu$ g intervention groups (*p*>0.05) in either of the two ethnic groups. Over the intervention period, the mean increase in the 10  $\mu$ g D<sub>3</sub> supplement groups for Finnish and Somali women was +8.5 nmol/L (+14.1%) and +10.0 nmol/L (+19.2%), respectively, and that of the 20  $\mu$ g D<sub>3</sub> supplement groups was +10.7 nmol/L (+17.7%) and +17.1 nmol/L (+32.7%), respectively. The mean decrease in placebo groups for Finnish and Somali women was -7.8 nmol/L (-13.0%) and -2.3 nmol/L (-4.4%), respectively. No significant differences emerged in response to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation

(p>0.05) between the two groups of women. Exclusion of the three Somali participants who were moved from the 20 µg group to the placebo group had no effect on the results. Adjustment for personal supplement use, dietary vitamin D intake, and BMI did not change the results.

No significant effect of vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation was observed on S-PTH, S-Ca, or S-Pi in either Somali or Finnish women (p>0.05) (repeated-measures ANCOVA, adjusted for baseline S-PTH/S-Ca/S-Pi, data not shown).



**Figure 9.** Response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation in Somali (a) and Finnish (b) women (adjusted for baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations, repeated-measures ANCOVA).

The time points are at 2.5-month intervals, representing mean values at each time point, error bars represent standard errors. Comparisons between intervention groups using contrasts: \*p<0.001 and \*p=0.003 for differences relative to placebo; p=0.105 for Somali and p=0.308 for Finnish women for differences between 10 µg and 20 µg groups in both ethnic groups.

## **6 DISCUSSION**

This thesis (Studies I-III) is the first to examine food consumption and vitamin D status among immigrants of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish background in Finland. Ethnic differences between Somali and Finnish women in the effects of vitamin  $D_3$ supplementation on vitamin D status were also investigated. Table 19 presents an overview of the main findings of each study. The results are subsequently discussed in detail.

Study	What was known before	What this study adds Ethnic differences in the consumation of healthy foods among Dussian
-		Future differences in the consumption of nearing roots attrong russian, Somali, and Kurdish immigrants; more frequent consumption of rye bread, fresh vegetables, and fruits and berries among Russians; low consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries among Somalis; and lower fish consumption than recommended in all groups, especially among Kurds.
	Association between higher consumption frequencies of healthy foods and women, older age, and higher education.	Associations between healthy food consumption and socio-demographic factors, especially age, sex and education, in each ethnic group; healthy food consumption was more common among women, high-educated persons and older participants (except for fresh vegetables and fruits and berries among Somalis); household size and place of residence were somewhat associated with healthy food consumption.
=		Ethnic differences in the consumption of dietary sources of vitamin D among Russian, Somali, and Kurdish immigrants; more frequent use of vitamin D-fortified fat spread among Somalis than among Russians and Kurds; higher daily consumption frequency of vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products among Russians and Kurds than among Somalis; and lower fish consumption frequency among Russians and Somalis.
	Insufficient vitamin D status is common among immigrants of Asian and African background compared with the host populations in Nordic countries.	Ethnic differences in vitamin D status among the immigrant groups compared with the general Finnish population; lower mean S-25(OH)D concentrations and higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L) among persons of Kurdish and Somali origin than among Russian participants or the Finnish general population.
	Age, high BMI, physical activity, daily smoking, alcohol intake, winter season, consumption of vitamin D-fortified dairy products and fatty fish,	Associations between low vitamin D status and some socio-demographic and health behaviour factors among the immigrants, namely; immigrant group, age, obesity, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, winter season,

Table 19. An overview of the findings of Studies I-III.

use of vitamin D supplements, and consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread, fluid dairy products, and fish.	Differences in total vitamin D intake; higher intakes from food and supplements among Somali women than among Finnish women.	Differences in vitamin D status; lower baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentrations and higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and sufficien among Somali women than among Finnish women.	Increase in S-25(OH)D concentrations with 10 $\mu g$ and 20 $\mu g$ . vitamin D <sub>3</sub> c supplementation in both Somali and Finnish women.	No ethnic differences in the response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D <sub>3</sub> supplementation between Somali women and Finnish women.
and use of vitamin D supplements are associated with S-25(OH)D concentrations.	Lower consumption of vitamin D-fortified milk among immigrant women than among Swedish women and low use of vitamin D supplements among immigrants from non-Western countries.	Lower vitamin D status among Somali women than among Finnish and Swedish women in Finland and Sweden, respectively.	Increase in mean S-25(OH)D concentrations observed with 10 µg and 20 µg dosages of vitamin D <sub>3</sub> supplementation in RCTs, including ethnically diverse populations.	Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S- 25(OH)D is independent of race or ethnicity.
	Ξ			

## 6.1 Food consumption and associated socio-demographic factors among immigrants

Consumption of healthy foods, especially rye bread, fresh vegetables, and fruits and berries, was more common among Russian immigrants than among Kurdish and Somali immigrants. Consumption frequency of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries was low among Somalis. Fish as a healthy food and source of vitamin D was consumed less often than recommended in all immigrant groups, especially among Kurds. Somali immigrants used vitamin D-fortified fat spread more frequently than Russians and Kurds, while Russian and Kurdish individuals consumed vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products more often daily than persons of Somali origin. Women consumed fresh vegetables (Kurds) and fruits and berries (Russians and Kurds) more often than men. Older participants more frequently ate rye bread (Somalis), vegetables (Russians), fruits and berries (Russians and Kurds), and fish (Somalis) than the youngest participants. Highly educated Somalis and Kurds consumed vegetables more often than the others. Russians with a larger household size frequently consumed rye bread, while Kurds living in the metropolitan area frequently consumed fish as indicators of healthy food consumption.

#### Healthy food consumption among immigrants

The selection of rye bread, vegetables, fruits and berries and fish as indicators of healthy food consumption was based on their positive impact on health (Nordic Council of Ministers 2014) and their significance within the Finnish food culture. Knowledge about the dietary habits of immigrants living in Finland is still limited (Prättälä et al. 2015). Having such nutritional information is important, especially in relation to the health profile of ethnic minority groups, which is often different from that of the host population (Stronks et al. 2013). Direct comparison could not be made between the immigrants in this study and the general Finnish population due to different dietary assessment methods. Nevertheless, the proportions of Russians and Somalis who ate rye bread and fish and of Russians and Kurds who consumed fruits and berries were not vastly different from that of the general Finnish population in the national dietary survey (FinDiet 2012) carried out during the same timeframe (Helldán et al. 2013). The proportion of the Finnish population that consumed vegetables was higher than that of the immigrant groups in this study (Helldán et al. 2013). The proportion of the population consuming selected healthy foods; rye bread (76%), vegetables (94%), fruits and berries (83%) and fish (45%), in FinDiet 2017 (Valsta et al. 2018) is quite similar to that of FinDiet 2012 (Helldán et al. 2013).

The higher frequencies in consumption of selected healthy foods among Russian immigrants depicted easy adaptation to the Finnish food habits, which can be partly explained by Russia and Finland being neighbouring countries with somewhat similar food cultures and similar traditional food products, e.g. rye bread (Paalanen *et al.* 2011). The higher consumption frequency of fruits and berries than vegetables among Kurds in this study is opposite to the findings observed by Kiadaliri (2013) in Iran, where consumption of vegetables was higher than that of fruits. This may be a reflection of the unavailability of commonly eaten vegetables in their home country and the greater varieties of fruits in Finland. A previous study in the United Kingdom also reported that 97% and 92% of the Somali population had low consumption of fruits and vegetables, respectively (McEwen *et al.* 2009). However, studies from the United States described frequent consumption of vegetables among Somalis; either as part of the main course or in salad (Decker 2006) and in cooked form together with meat or in stews (Davila 2001). Inclusion of fruits and vegetables in the diet is essential, and the views of Somali immigrants living in Finland warrant investigation.

The high rate of rye bread consumption in this study reveals some level of integration among the immigrants into the Finnish culture, as rye bread is considered a traditional Finnish food. The observed high consumption rate may be explained by frequent provision of rye bread in canteens. In addition, for Somali immigrants, rye bread consumption has likely been influenced by the variety of traditional breads, such as enjera or muufo, in their home country (Decker 2006). Adoption of rye bread as a part of the daily diet among immigrants will enhance good health if it is a replacement for the less nutritious white bread. Based on earlier reports, the low fish consumption among Somali and Kurdish immigrants in this study can be linked to cultural dietary preferences; meat is more valued in Somali meals (Decker 2006) and Kurdish households frequently eat meat and poultry as opposed to fish (Ahadi *et al.* 2014).

## Association between healthy food consumption and socio-demographic factors among immigrants

Socio-demographic factors are important determinants of food consumption patterns among people, including immigrants (Barkoukis 2007, Sharma & Cruickshank 2011). Compared with the general Finnish population of the Health 2011 Survey (Männistö *et al.* 2012), the food consumption patterns among the immigrants in this study are similar to that of the Finnish population in terms of frequent healthy food consumption by older age groups and women. Studies have consistently reported higher consumption frequencies of healthy foods, especially fruits and vegetables, among women than among men (Prättälä *et al.* 2007, Marques-Vidal *et al.* 2018). Similar to the Finnish population in the past survey

and the recent one (Männistö *et al.* 2012, Valsta *et al.* 2018), higher consumption frequencies of vegetables and fruits and berries were found among immigrant women than men. Red meat was consumed more frequently by Finnish men than women (Valsta *et al.* 2018). This study is in line with the previous observation regarding higher consumption of vegetables by Kurdish women than Kurdish men (Esteghamati *et al.* 2012) and more frequent consumption of fruits by Russian women than men (Paalanen 2013, Selivanova & Cramm 2014). Hence, based on the observed lower consumption frequency of healthy foods among men, this study supports the suggestion that men's approach towards nutrition knowledge is different from that of women and that there is an issue of pleasure-driven versus health-conscious food consumption patterns between men and women (Kiefer *et al.* 2005, Knudsen *et al.* 2014).

Positive associations between age and healthy dietary pattern are often observed in studies (Knudsen *et al.* 2014, Leone *et al.* 2017). Similarly, such associations have been reported with the frequency of fruit and vegetable consumption (Prättälä *et al.* 2007, Figueiredo 2008). The observed higher consumption frequency of fruits and berries among older Russian and Kurdish immigrants and the more frequent rye bread consumption among older Somalis were similar to findings in the Finnish population (Männistö *et al.* 2012). A possible explanation for the observed association between older age and consumption of healthy foods among Russians and Kurds may be increased age-related health concerns. Contrary to the findings of this study, older age was associated with lower consumption of fruit among Kurds in previous studies (Esteghamati *et al.* 2012, Kiadaliri 2013). In line with the cross-sectional studies carried out in Iran, Finland, Russia, and the Baltic countries (Prättälä *et al.* 2007, Paalanen *et al.* 2010, Sabzghabaee *et al.* 2010), high educational level was associated with increased consumption frequency of vegetables among Kurds and Somalis.

Regarding place of residence, similar findings of frequent weekly fish consumption were reported among Iranian families living in urban areas of Iran (Ahadi *et al.* 2014). Nevertheless, the observation of frequent vegetable consumption in urban households was contrary to the results among Kurds in this study (Ahadi *et al.* 2014). A high level of education and nutrition knowledge among urban households may partly influence Ahadi *et al.*'s findings. Despite similar access to healthy foods in all Finnish municipalities, the lower fruit and vegetable consumption found among Kurdish and Somali metropolitan residents may be associated with the easily accessible wide-ranging fast foods and unhealthy food choices in the metropolitan area (Thornton *et al.* 2009). Moreover, prices of some fruits and vegetables are higher, favouring the consumption of cheaper, less healthy foods (Popkin 2011). A positive association was observed between household size and rye bread consumption by Russians and Kurds and between household size and fresh vegetable consumption by Kurds. This finding may be related to the presence of a woman in

households (Irz *et al.* 2014) and the increasing dietary diversity found in larger households (Thiele & Weiss 2003) compared with a one-person household with simple meals (Irz *et al.* 2014) that are probably less healthy.

Factors associated with adaptation to a new food culture were not examined in this thesis. Adaptation to the Finnish diet among Russian immigrants may be associated with a high level of acculturation (Neuhouser et al. 2004), which is quickly attained due to similar cultures in Finland and Russia. Notwithstanding the low consumption frequencies of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries among Somali immigrants in the present study, the observed higher frequencies among younger Somalis compared with their older counterparts reveals the possibility that age at the time of migration and generation status (Sturkenboom et al. 2016) may affect adaption to the Finnish food culture. Moreover, there is a tendency that other factors, such as acculturation (Neuhouser et al. 2004), making contacts with Finns (Nicolaou et al. 2006, Wandel et al. 2008), and having a good command of the Finnish language (Wandel et al. 2008), are easier for the younger generation of immigrants, facilitating convergence of dietary patterns with host food culture. Similarly, based on previous studies (Estaquio et al. 2009, Alkerwi et al. 2012, de Abreu et al. 2013), this thesis suggests that female sex, increasing age, and high level of education are associated with better adherence to nutrition recommendations among Russian, Somali, and Kurdish immigrants in Finland.

# 6.2 Differences in vitamin D intake and status between immigrants and the general populations

The prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L but <50 nmol/L) was higher among the three immigrant groups (24% of Russians; 36% of Kurds; 52% of Somalis) than among Finns (6%). In the intervention study, lower baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentrations and higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and sufficiency were found among the screened Somali women compared with Finnish women who had no cases of vitamin D deficiency and insufficient status I only 9%. Vitamin D intakes from food and supplements were higher among Somali women than among Finnish women.

#### Differences in vitamin D intake

Vitamin D intake from food and/or supplements is essential to maintain sufficient vitamin status in northern countries such as Finland, especially during the winter months. The mean vitamin D intake from diet alone nearly reached the 10 µg daily recommended intake

(National Nutrition Council 2014) in both Somali and Finnish women. The vitamin D intake from food did not differ between supplement users and non-users in Somali and Finnish women. Nevertheless, the daily recommended intake was attained among the supplement users in both groups of women. The major contributing dietary source to daily vitamin D intake for both Somalis and Finns was fortified fluid milk products. Interestingly, higher consumption of vitamin D-fortified fluid milk products was observed among Somali women. Contrary to this finding, lower consumption of vitamin D-fortified milk was reported among immigrant women in Sweden compared with the Swedish reference group (Andersson et al. 2013). However, milk from camels, cattle, or goats is described as one of the staple foods (also beverage) in Somalia, and this may be the reason for the high milk consumption in this study (Burns 2004, FAO 2005, Decker 2006). Vitamin D intakes from fortified fat spreads and fish were similar in both Somali and Finnish women. According to the FinDiet 2017 report, the predominant dietary vitamin D source was vitamin D-fortified fat spreads, followed by of vitamin D-fortified milk products, and fish (Valsta et al. 2018). Low use of vitamin D supplements among immigrants, especially those from non-Western countries, has been observed (Andersson et al. 2013, Wändell 2013, Lips and de Jongh 2018). Similar results were previously seen among Somali immigrants in Finland and Norway (Madar et al. 2009, Islam et al. 2012). The use of vitamin D supplements was generally low for all study groups (immigrants and Finns). Nevertheless, significant differences were observed, in line with the earlier studies, between the immigrant groups (8-12%) and the general Finnish population (19%). In contrast to the previous studies (Madar et al. 2009, Islam et al. 2012), use of vitamin D supplement was higher among Somali immigrant women in the intervention study. However, the study is not directly comparable to the Maamu Study owing to its small sample size and different timeframe. In addition, the high supplement use among Somali women may be the result of feedback from the Maamu Study, in which some of them had been participants. Nevertheless, higher vitamin D intake may not necessarily be associated with higher S-25(OH)D concentration (Islam et al. 2012) as observed among the Somali women in this study.

#### Differences in vitamin D status

The findings of the present study support the results of an earlier small study on lower vitamin D status among immigrants in Finland, especially Somali women, compared with Finnish women (Islam *et al.* 2012). Cross-sectional studies comparing Somali immigrants with the native Swedish population have also reported lower S-25(OH)D concentrations among Somali immigrants (Fernell *et al.* 2010, Sääf *et al.* 2011, Kalliokoski *et al.* 2013, Bärebring *et al.* 2016). In other Nordic countries, insufficient vitamin D status has been

noted in immigrants of Asian and African background compared with their host population (Meyer *et al.* 2004, Holvik *et al.* 2005, Madar *et al.* 2009, Andersson *et al.* 2013, Wändell 2013, Lips *et al.* 2019). With regard to similar mean S-25(OH)D concentrations among persons of Russian origin and the Finnish reference group, the findings of this study support those of a previous smaller non-representative study that evaluated S-25(OH)D concentrations among children and pregnant women in Finland and in the neighbouring Karelian Republic of Russia (Viskari *et al.* 2006). These results may be partly explained by the similar fair Caucasian skin colour, food consumption patterns, and outdoor activities among immigrants of Russian origin and the general Finnish population. The definition of Kurdish populations is not clear as they are incorporated in different countries such as Iran, Iraq, Turkey, and Syria. To the best of our knowledge, there are no other available studies on vitamin D status among immigrants of Kurdish and Russian origin, as specific groups, in other countries. The Kurdish immigrants and participants from Iran, Iraq, and Turkey in studies from Sweden were examined alongside other immigrant groups (Andersson *et al.* 2013, Granlund *et al.* 2016).

In this study, the proportions of persons with sufficient vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D  $\geq$  50 nmol/L) were lower among the Somalis (24%) and Kurds (15%) than among Russian immigrants (72%) and the Finnish general population (93%). Likewise, the proportion of sufficient vitamin D status was lower among Somali women (44%) than among Finnish women (91%) in the intervention study. Sufficient vitamin D status (S-25(OH)D >50 nmol/L) has been reported among the majority (77% and 91%) of Finnish adults in the national representative studies (Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2017, Raulio *et al.* 2017). For the immigrants, these findings raise concerns about associated adverse health outcomes, especially in relation to bone health, among Somali and Kurdish immigrants, as the majority of these individuals did could not reach the suggested threshold of  $\geq$  50 nmol/L considered to be sufficient for bone health (Ross *et al.* 2011). Hence, immigrants should not be considered as one group with similar health behaviours and challenges in terms of vitamin D status.

#### 6.3 Determinants of low vitamin D status

Among the immigrants, Kurdish origin, obesity and daily smoking increased the odds of vitamin D deficiency, while increasing age, high physical activity, use of vitamin D supplements, and consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread and fluid dairy products were associated with reduced odds of deficiency. In addition, winter season, smoking, and excess alcohol consumption increased the odds of vitamin D insufficiency (<50 nmol/L), whereas being of Russian origin, increasing age, high physical activity, and frequent

consumption of vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products and fish were associated with lower odds of insufficiency.

The findings of this study demonstrated that frequent consumption of vitamin D-rich foods is important in preventing low vitamin status. The association of reduced odds of vitamin D insufficiency with consumption of vitamin D-fortified fluid dairy products and fish is in line with a previous study among immigrants in Sweden (Granlund *et al.* 2016) where fatty fish and fortified dairy products were identified as the important predictors of S-25(OH)D. As expected, consumption of vitamin D-fortified fat spread and fluid dairy products were also predictors of reduced risk of vitamin D deficiency. Despite the low proportion of vitamin D supplement users among the immigrants in this study, use of vitamin D supplements was associated with lower odds of vitamin D deficiency and this is consistent with other studies among immigrants (Madar *et al.* 2009, Granlund *et al.* 2016).

The effect of seasonal variation on S-25(OH)D is evident; as observed in this study, winter is often associated with increased risk of vitamin D deficiency and/or insufficiency (Thuesen *et al.* 2012, Yao *et al.* 2017). Association between obesity and vitamin D deficiency in this study is in line with previous studies regarding an inverse association between S-25(OH)D concentrations and BMI (Thuesen *et al.* 2012, Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2013, Mazahery & von Hurst 2015, Touvier *et al.* 2015, Yao *et al.* 2017). This association has been explained in terms of a possible reduction in the bioavailability of the synthesised vitamin D, which is deposited in the body fat compartment, due to the large fat mass in the body (Wortsman *et al.* 2000, Holick 2006).

Ageing is commonly associated with lower concentrations of S-25(OH)D (Mazahery & von Hurst 2015, Touvier *et al.* 2015) due to the reduction in the ability of the skin to synthesize vitamin D upon exposure to sunlight (Holick 2006). Unexpectedly in this study, increasing age was found to be associated with reduced odds of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency; this is, however, consistent with the positive correlation between age and S-25(OH)D concentration among immigrants in Northern Sweden (Granlund *et al.* 2016).

Similar to earlier studies (Thuesen *et al.* 2012, Jääskeläinen *et al.* 2013, Kassi *et al.* 2015, Shinkov *et al.* 2015), daily smoking as an unhealthy lifestyle was a key determining factor for both vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency. Nonetheless, the reasons for these findings remain unknown. The observed association between excess alcohol consumption and vitamin D insufficiency is in contrast to the previous finding of positive associations between moderate alcohol intake and S-25(OH)D concentrations (Touvier *et al.* 2015). Despite no clear biological explanation, the association between physical activity and reduced odds of both vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency supports earlier results of a positive relationship between S-25(OH)D concentration and a physically active lifestyle

(Looker 2007, Thuesen *et al.* 2012, Yao *et al.* 2017). Nevertheless, such an association may be partly attributed to sun exposure during outdoor activities in summertime.

#### 6.4 Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D

An impact of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D was seen after a 5-month randomized controlled vitamin D dose-response trial among Somali and Finnish women. The findings showed that moderate vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation of 10  $\mu$ g and 20  $\mu$ g daily was effective in increasing S-25(OH)D in Somali and Finnish women, while S-25(OH)D concentrations decreased significantly with placebo in both ethnic groups. No ethnic differences between the two ethnic groups were seen in the response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation.

Effect of vitamin D supplementation on S-25(OH)D has been extensively investigated in dose-response studies (Whiting *et al.* 2015), but few have been carried out in ethnically diverse populations (Aloia *et al.* 2008, Gallagher *et al.* 2013, Gallagher *et al.* 2014). The observed increase in mean S-25(OH)D concentrations with 10  $\mu$ g and 20  $\mu$ g dosages of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation in both Somali and Finnish women is consistent with previous RCTs among Pakistani immigrants (Andersen *et al.* 2008a) and Finnish women (Viljakainen *et al.* 2006). Effectiveness of 10  $\mu$ g or 20  $\mu$ g of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation has also been observed earlier in similar studies with participants with mean baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations above 50 nmol/L (Cashman *et al.* 2009, Nelson *et al.* 2009). A higher increase in S-25(OH)D than observed in this study, which means a stronger response to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation, was reported in previous studies (Viljakainen *et al.* 2008a) due to lower baseline S-25(OH)D concentrations. Moreover, other RCTs conducted over one year or less found an increase in S-25(OH)D concentrations above 50 nmol/L among subjects with vitamin D insufficiency (Viljakainen *et al.* 2006, Islam *et al.* 2010, Grønborg *et al.* 2015).

In studies by Gallagher *et al.* (2012, 2013), 10  $\mu$ g dosage of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> increased S-25(OH)D concentrations by an average of 32.5 nmol/L, whereas 20  $\mu$ g sufficiently increased S-25(OH)D above 50 nmol/L in 98% and 97.5% of Caucasian (baseline S-25(OH)D 39 nmol/L) and African American women (baseline S-25(OH)D 33 nmol/L), respectively. In line with the previous studies, our findings suggest that sufficient S-25(OH)D concentrations could be maintained with daily vitamin D supplementation at doses between 10  $\mu$ g and 20  $\mu$ g without exposure to UV radiation during winter. Hence, doses higher than 20  $\mu$ g may not have substantial additional benefits among persons with sufficient vitamin D concentrations, as also proposed by Reid (2018). Despite the differences in vitamin D status between dark-skinned and fair-skinned populations, as

observed also here, the response to vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation in both Somali and Finnish women was similar. This is in accord with earlier findings that the effect of dose on S-25(OH)D is independent of race (Aloia *et al.* 2008, Gallagher *et al.* 2013). Since absorption and metabolism of vitamin D in dark-skinned and Caucasian individuals are also similar (Gallagher *et al.* 2013), this finding suggests that the common low vitamin D status among dark-skinned populations is probably associated with factors such as inadequate production of vitamin D in the skin, higher BMI, and genetics. Regarding vitamin D production in the skin, use of concealing clothes may be associated with lower S-25(OH)D concentrations among the Somali women of this study.

### 6.5 Methodology

#### 6.5.1 Study population and design

The main strengths of this study include the use of data of rather large number of subjects from representative studies of immigrant (Russian, Somali, and Kurdish) and Finnish adults living in Finland (Castaneda et al. 2012, Lundqvist et al. 2016). The participation rates in the two population-based studies were relatively high: 70% for Russian (n=702), 51% for Somali (n=512), 63% for Kurdish (n=632) immigrants in the Maamu Study and 70% for the Finnish reference group (n=1582) in the Health 2011. The use of the two datasets from the immigrant population-based study (Maamu Study) and the Finnish national representative survey (Health 2011 Survey) allowed for comparison of vitamin D status between the immigrant groups and the general Finnish population. The design of the intervention study, a randomized, placebo-controlled trial, which offers the highest level of scientific evidence for causality (Ross et al. 2011), is a strength, as it enabled an objective evaluation of the effects of vitamin  $D_3$  doses on S-25(OH)D. High quality, accuracy, and reliability of the datasets used in this study were ascertained by use of the participants' native language and preferred language (including translation when necessary) during the health examinations and interviews. With the population-based datasets, inverse probability weights were used to reduce bias due to non-response (Härkänen et al. 2014). Another strength of this study in terms of data reliability, especially in the intervention study, is the evaluation of compliance with vitamin D supplementation and the assessment of dietary vitamin D intakes at two different points of the study. The compliance rates with study vitamin D supplementation, blood sampling, and questionnaires (including FFQ) were high in both ethnic groups of women.

However, some issues emerged as limitations of this study. The cross-sectional setting of Studies I and II may not reveal true associations, as the design does not provide conclusive evidence for associations (Ross *et al.* 2011). Despite the representative samples of the

studied populations in the Maamu Study (Russian, Somali, and Kurdish) and the Health 2011 (Finns), the non-participation somewhat reduced the representativeness and might have caused bias to the results, thus limiting external validity (Wihlborg et al. 2014). Although, weighting analyses were performed, correction for the effects of non-response may not have been fully achieved, especially among Somali participants in the Maamu Study, who had the lowest participation rate. According to Rechel et al. (2012), low response rates are a challenge identified in surveys of immigrants. Hence, these limitations must be considered when generalizing the findings outside Russian, Somali, and Kurdish populations in Finland. While the sample size allowed comparison between the Finnish reference group and the immigrants, in terms of background characteristics and vitamin D status, the unavailable data on S-25(OH)D concentration among younger Finnish adults (aged 18-29 years) restricts the comparison of findings in adults. The limitations in the external validity of this study also call for caution in applying the results for alcohol consumption, physical activity, and use of vitamin D supplements due to the high nonresponse rate, especially among Somali and Kurdish participants. It is also worth noting that generalizability of these results among other foreign-born populations in Finland is limited. The targeted sample size in the intervention study, based on power calculation, could not be fully reached due the seasonal timeframe (i.e. wintertime) of the study and challenges in recruiting immigrants. Hence, such limitations should be taken into consideration in future trials. The baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentrations (S-25(OH)D >50 nmol/L) in the intervention study were quite sufficient in both Somali and Finnish participants. Thus, the results may not be comparable with those of subjects with vitamin D deficiency. The non-restricted use of personal vitamin D supplement, especially among Somali women, during the intervention, may affect the interpretation of this finding. Lastly, the homogeneous composition of the intervention study in relation to sex (only women) limits the applicability of the findings to men in the population.

#### 6.5.2 Dietary assessment

The dietary assessment was carried out differently in this study; dietary questions were asked during the interview in the Maamu Study, while a validated FFQ was included in the Marwo-D intervention. FFQ is the most suitable method in assessing long-term (6-12 months) habitual diet of individuals in large-scale epidemiologic studies. It enables the evaluation of participants' dietary intakes based on specific food items and relevant frequency options in combination with portion size (Willett 2013, Hörnell *et al.* 2017). The dietary questions employed in the Maamu Study were structured to measure food consumption frequencies and eating habits (Castaneda *et al.* 2012). Therefore, evaluation of food consumption, major dietary sources of vitamin D, and its actual intakes could not be done quantitatively. Furthermore, due to the structure of the dietary questions used in

the Maamu Study, assessment of food consumption in terms of adherence to nutrition recommendations was not possible. The dietary questions were also limited in assessing diets of the immigrants because they were based on previous population surveys in Finland and on Finnish food culture. Hence, the complete dietary patterns of the immigrants in this study may not be revealed. However, the questions were indicators of integration and adaptation to the Finnish diet. Based on different dietary assessment methods, comparison between the immigrants and the Finnish reference group was not possible regarding consumption of healthy foods and vitamin D-rich foods. It is important to exercise caution in interpreting our results in relation to the time of data collection in the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 Survey (2010-2012); the situation may now be different.

The infrequent consumption of fresh vegetables, and fruits and berries among persons of Somali origin may be due to a misunderstanding of the questions, such as the one focusing on raw, fresh, and uncooked vegetables in the form of a salad. It has been reported that Somalis usually consume a variety of vegetables, which are cooked together with meat or in stews (Davila 2001). Hence, the lack of food frequency options capturing the dietary habits of Somalis might have affected their responses to the dietary question. The issue of misclassification or misidentification of foods not popular in their home country is another possible reason for the discrepancy. The use of different cut-offs for the consumption of vegetables and fruits and berries among Somalis affect comparisons with other groups.

Vitamin D intake in the intervention study was assessed based on an FFQ that had been validated against 3-day food records and biomarker S-25(OH)D among Finnish Caucasian women (n=67) (Itkonen *et al.* 2016a). The FFQ was found to provide a reasonable estimation of vitamin D intake among Finnish women (Itkonen *et al.* 2016a). The questionnaire retrospectively explores vitamin D intake over the past one month. The use of a booklet containing the pictures of vitamin D-fortified products for easy identification of consumed products by the participants during the interview enhances the quality of data collected through FFQ. Although the FFQ was piloted among a few Somali women, the use of an invalidated FFQ among the ethnic group might have resulted in incomplete evaluation of their vitamin D intake. The surprisingly higher vitamin D intakes among Somali women may partly be due to measurement error of the FFQ (such as overreporting), which typically overestimates consumption more than other methods (Bärebring *et al.* 2018).

#### 6.5.3 Serum 25(OH)D analyses

To facilitate measurement accuracy and comparison in S-25(OH)D concentrations regardless of time, laboratory, or assay method (Sempos et al. 2012), the S-25(OH)D concentrations in the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 Survey were standardized by VDSP using the gold standard LC-MS/MS. In addition, S-25(OH)D concentrations in the Marwo-D intervention study were analysed by LC-MS/MS, which was done with the same equipment used in standardising S-25(OH)D concentrations in both the Maamu Study and the Health, at the same laboratory: Cork Centre for Vitamin D and Nutrition Research at the University College Cork, Ireland. According to Sempos et al. (2012), VDSP ensures accurate measurement and more valid comparison of S-25(OH)D data across studies and time. This was achieved as the VDSP-standardized S-25(OH)D data allowed comparison of mean 25(OH)D concentrations and vitamin D status between the immigrant groups in the Maamu Study and the Finnish reference group in the Health 2011 Survey. Hence, the quality and reliability of this study's results are enhanced. In the intervention study, measurement accuracy was not an issue with the use of the LC-MS/MS method, which is considered a reference method (Wallace et al. 2010). In addition, as part of ODIN's project, S-25(OH)D concentrations are consistent with those of other work packages across Europe, which were analysed with the LC-MS/MS method in the same laboratory. Although adjusted in the analysis, the observed variation in the blood sampling period across the immigrant groups and the Finnish reference group may affect findings regarding the comparison of S-25(OH)D concentrations in the Maamu Study and the Health 2011.

## 7 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In this thesis, diet and vitamin D status of immigrants of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish origin were examined. Moreover, the effects of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation on vitamin D status were investigated among Somali and Finnish women. The study revealed ethnic differences in the consumption of healthy foods among Russian, Somali, and Kurdish immigrants. There were ethnic differences in vitamin D status among the immigrant groups also compared with the general Finnish population. Nevertheless, there were no ethnic differences in the response of S-25(OH)D to supplementation between Somali and Finnish women. Based on the findings of this study, the following conclusions were made:

**Study I:** Consumption of healthy foods, especially rye bread, fresh vegetables, and fruits and berries, was more common among Russian immigrants than among Kurdish and Somali immigrants. There was low consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits and berries among Somali immigrants. The fish consumption was lower than recommended in all groups, especially among Kurdish immigrants. Female sex, older age, and higher education were associated with more frequent consumption of healthy foods.

**Study II:** Higher prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L) and deficiency (S-25(OH)D <30 nmol/L) existed among immigrants, especially Kurds and Somalis, than among the Finnish general population. Differences emerged in the consumption of dietary sources of vitamin D; use of vitamin D-fortified fat spread was more common among Somalis than among Russians and Kurds; fish was consumed less by Kurds than by Russians and Somalis; and vitamin D-fortified dairy was more often consumed daily by Russians and Kurds than by Somalis. Daily smoking, alcohol consumption, and winter blood sampling were determinants of vitamin D insufficiency, while older age, physical activity, and consumption of fish and vitamin D-fortified dairy were associated with lower odds of insufficiency.

**Study III:** There was a high prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency (S-25(OH)D <50 nmol/L) among Somali women compared with Finnish women. Despite higher vitamin D intake among Somali women, they had lower baseline mean S-25(OH)D concentration than Finnish women. Moderate vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation of 10 µg and 20 µg daily was effective in increasing S-25(OH)D concentrations in both Finnish and Somali women during the 5-month

intervention, and no differences existed between the two ethnic groups in response of S-25(OH)D to vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation.

In view of increasing immigration worldwide, the findings of this study offer up-to-date insights into immigrants' consumption of healthy foods, vitamin D intake, and vitamin D status. This study also provides novel information on the socio-demographic factors associated with healthy food consumption and the determinants of low vitamin D status among persons of Russian, Somali, and Kurdish origin living in Finland. In addition, this study adds knowledge about the effects of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> supplementation on S-25(OH)D in dark-skinned (Somali women) and Caucasian (Finnish women) populations.

Moreover, this thesis provides urgently needed information on immigrant groups, useful in the public health nutrition sector, especially in prevention of vitamin D insufficiency and its related diseases in Finland and internationally. The findings of this study serve as a resource for health policy makers in formulating recommendations that take into account different cultural backgrounds. Nevertheless, collection of follow-up data among the immigrant groups of the Maamu Study, such as was carried out among the general Finnish population (Health 2011 Survey), would be important for more up-to-date information and more detailed insight into food consumption and vitamin D status among immigrants in Finland.

In addition, comprehensive validated dietary assessment tools that take into account cultural food diversity within each immigrant group should be employed in such follow-up studies and other relevant future research among immigrants. Thus, actual dietary patterns, dietary intakes, main dietary vitamin D sources, and vitamin D supplements can be evaluated. Dietary research among immigrants has not received much attention in Finland. Hence, future studies covering different ethnic groups are needed, especially for deeper knowledge about the diet-related health profiles, including vitamin D status, among immigrants living in Finland. From another perspective, a wide range of immigrant populations should be included in the regular national dietary surveys in Finland, rather than merely studying these populations separately. Hence, ethnic background/country of origin would be examined as one of the socio-demographic characteristics and not as the main characteristic of the participants. This is important especially when studying the second and third generations of immigrants who should be considered Finns, not immigrants.

With regard to low consumption of fruits, berries, and fresh vegetables among Somali immigrants, studies are needed to further investigate the situation in Finland, and if the findings of this study are sustained, an intervention may be warranted. Efforts to promote healthy food consumption, including vitamin D-rich foods for better vitamin D status, in adherence to the nutrition recommendations among all immigrant groups are also essential. Since causality could not be concluded with cross-sectional studies, follow-up and intervention studies are required to shed light on socio-demographic factors associated with healthy food consumption and the determinants of low vitamin D status among immigrants. Moreover, large sample studies, preferably RCTs, aiming to investigate vitamin D status in terms of the effect of supplementation, associated factors and both skeletal and non-skeletal health outcomes are required among immigrants, especially the dark-skinned populations who are at the greatest risk of vitamin D insufficiency.

In terms of vitamin D status, immigrant groups cannot be studied as a homogeneous group. Hence, consideration for factors such as skin colour, country, and culture of origin is desirable in future research since the most important determinants of vitamin D status (such as wearing of concealing clothes, smoking habits, dietary habits, and physical activity) are partly associated with learned cultural behaviours. With increasing evidence of poor vitamin D status among the non-Western immigrants living in northern countries such as Finland, actions to prevent insufficient vitamin D status and improve the treatment of public health problems related to insufficiency are important. Immigrants need to be advised on making healthy dietary choices from both their cultural foods and foods available in their host countries. These efforts will help to eliminate the existing health inequalities between immigrants and host populations. In addition, it is important to investigate vitamin D status among immigrant children and adolescents, which is presently unknown in Finland.

Finally, this thesis clearly shows that food consumption and the degree of risk of vitamin D insufficiency are not similar among all immigrant groups and that the differences are related to the country of origin. Hence, it is worth noting that immigrants should not be considered as one group with similar health behaviours and challenges, especially in terms of vitamin D status, when formulating public health policies.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"There can be no greater gift than that of giving one's time and energy to helping others without expecting anything in return." – Nelson Mandela

This thesis was carried out at the Calcium Research Unit, Department of Food and Nutrition, University of Helsinki, Finland. I express my gratitude to my coordinating professor, Professor *Mikael Fogelholm*, for provision of excellent research facilities, necessary support, and his efforts towards the smooth completion of my study.

I deeply appreciate the financial support received for this work, partly through the EUfunded ODIN-project and from the Medicinska Understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa. Morever, I am very grateful to the Doctoral Programme in Food Chain and Health (FoodHealth), University of Helsinki for granting me a university-funded doctoral position. This enabled me to work on my thesis for two years without financial distractions. The Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) is acknowledged for providing the opportunity to utilize the datasets of both the Maamu Study and the Health 2011 Survey. Special gratitude goes to the participants of the Marwo-D intervention study.

I am so fortunate to have a wonderful trio of supervisors – Professor *Christel Lamberg-Allardt*, Adjunct Professor *Maijaliisa Erkkola*, and Adjunct Professor *Suvi Itkonen* – who enormously contributed to the success of this work through their expertise, guidance, and valuable advice. I am grateful for your collaborative efforts and support and for sharing your vast knowledge in the field of nutrition. Working with the three of you is one of the great experiences of a lifetime.

I am indebted to my principal supervisor, Professor *Christel Lamberg-Allardt*, who received me with an open mind and gave me the opportunity to be part of her research team in the Calcium Research Unit. The ODIN project has been an outstanding research experience for me. I thank *Christel* for believing in me and for overseeing my scientific learning and development over the years. You revealed to me the importance of vitamin D, especially among immigrant populations, of which I am one, in the northern countries. I am grateful for your valuable comments, recommendations, and provision of scientific and practical resources. Your care and rock-solid support throughout this journey were tremendously important. I thank you for ensuring that everything went smoothly with my study, especially when there was no funding.

My profound gratitude also goes to my second supervisor, Adjunct Professor *Maijaliisa Erkkola (Maikki)*, who was the first point of contact and the channel to my PhD adventure at the University of Helsinki. You are such a wonderful person, right from your prompt and kind reply to my first email (before I met you) and throughout my study period. Your

research competencies, especially in the areas of food consumption, methodology, and analysis, and the provision of scientific writing guidelines were invaluable. Thank you for your insightful comments and painstaking corrections of my work. Your friendly and motivational attitude, including kind words, jokes, and caring behaviour – always finding out if everything was okay – were sources of encouragement for me. Thank you also for promoting relaxation of mind through reading of non-academic books. *Maikki*'s kind support at the time of my losses (the death of my sister-in-law and my beloved mother) meant a lot to me. I am also grateful to *Raila Erkkola (Maikki*'s mother-in-law) for her efforts to keep me warm (by making pairs of lovely woolen socks for me) during the long Finnish winter.

I sincerely appreciate Adjunct Professor *Suvi Itkonen* whose role as part of my doctoral supervisory team greatly impacted the success of this thesis. I thank *Suvi* for her scientific and practical guidance, constructive criticism, and thought-provoking comments. I appreciate your immense efforts in reviewing my work at different stages, for paying attention to details, and for tolerating me all these years. Thank you for not turning me away when I knocked on your door (several times some days), asking too many questions, seeking clarification, and sharing passing thoughts. To be candid, I admire your energy, promptness, and commitment to quality research. I am delighted to have worked with you and to had you as a mentor. I am also grateful for your companionship at conferences. Thank you for your support, listening ears, and advice/suggestions on practical and personal issues – thank you also for the blueberries.

I express my appreciation to the reviewers of this thesis, Adjunct Professor *Hanna Lagström* and Adjunct Professor *Sari Hantunen*, for their careful and prompt preexamination and valuable comments and suggestions for improving the quality of this thesis. I thank Dr. *Inez Schoenmakers* for accepting the role of my opponent at the public examination of this dissertation. I am also thankful to *Carol Ann Pelli*, HonBSc, for the excellent linguistic revision of this work.

My special thanks go to my co-authors, *Eero Lilja*, MSc, *Essi Skaffari*, MSc, *Taina Öhman*, MSc, *Elisa Saarnio*, PhD, *Tuija Jääskeläinen*, PhD, *Päivikki Koponen*, PhD, Adjunct Professor *Annamari Lundqvist*, Adjunct Professor *Ritva Prättälä*, Adjunct Professor *Tommi Härkänen*, Professor *Tiina Laatikainen* and Professor *Kevin D. Cashman* for fruitful collaborations, insightful comments, and contributions to the original publications of this thesis. I am also grateful to technician *Anu Heiman-Lindh* for the laboratory analyses of the Marwo-D intervention study at the University of Helsinki.

I thank *Elisa Saarnio* for practical guidance, *Anu Joki* (my roommate) for her company, and *Essi Päivärinta*, PhD, for her trust in me and for being my sister in Christ. My thanks also to other past and present members of the Nutrition Unit: *Elli Jalo, Maria Heikkilä*,

Riikka Kaukonen, Tiina Pellinen, Henna Vepsäläinen, PhD, Liisa Korkalo, PhD, Liisa Uusitalo, PhD, Docent Zahirul Islam, Docent Hanna Konttinen, Raisa Valve, PhD, Adjunct Professor Anne-Maria Pajari, Adjunct Professor Riitta Freese, and Professor Marja Mutanen for the warm environment, smiles, friendly discussions, and support throughout my study. I use this medium to say thank you all again for your great support during my losses. You are all wonderful.

Beyond the academic environment, I am grateful to my faith-family – Seed International Seventh-day Adventist Church for their love, support, and prayers. Special thanks go to the *Akinrinades, Anim Sekyis, Olawumis, Alukos,* Pastor *Daniel Osho, Oluwafemi Adekola, Abimbola Ajayi, Kikelomo Alao,* DNP, *Omolade Olukotun,* Deaconess *Bukola Omodona,* and *Eunice Mgbeahuruike,* PhD, for their encouragement and support.

My wholehearted appreciation is conveyed to "My Favourite", my best friend and husband, *Gabriel Omotosho Adebayo*, who is my source of inspiration for daring to climb this PhD mountain. I am very grateful for his love, understanding, prayers, and support. I cannot wait to celebrate your successes soon. I also owe my deepest gratitude to my family for their love and prayers, especially to my parents who laid the foundation for this academic milestone. The worldviews (e.g., "whatever your hands find to do, do it well") of my father, Elder *James A. Olayemi*, and those (e.g., "education first, marriage later") of my late mother, *Alice M. Olayemi*, are great assets that have carried me through my educational journey. It is very painful that my sweet mother is not alive to share this joy, but I am glad that her wishes for my success in life are coming true.

Last, but not least, I express my greatest gratitude to God Almighty for the special priviledge and grace bestowed upon me in terms of the gift of life, perfect health, sound mind, strength to push through, and innumerable favour throughout the period of my PhD studies. All glory belongs to Him and may His name be forever praised!

Helsinki, August 2019

Folasade Abiola Adebayo

### REFERENCES

Aalto M, Tuunanen M, Sillanaukee P, Seppä K. Effectiveness of structured questionnaires for screening heavy drinking in middle-aged women. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2006;30:1884-1888.

Ahadi Z, Heshmat R, Sanaei M, Shafiee G, Ghaderpanahi M, Rezaei Homami M, Salehi F, Abdollahi Z, Azemati B, Larijani B. Knowledge, attitude and practice of urban and rural households towards principles of nutrition in Iran: results of NUTRIKAP survey. J Diabetes Metab Disord 2014;13:100.

Ahola AJ, Mikkilä V, Mäkimattila S, Forsblom C, Freese R, Groop PH; FinnDiane Study Group. Energy and nutrient intakes and adherence to dietary guidelines among Finnish adults with type 1 diabetes. Ann Med 2012;44:73-81.

Alhazmi A, Stojanovski E, McEvoy M, Garg ML. The association between dietary patterns and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Hum Nutr Diet 2014;27:251-260.

Alkerwi A, Sauvageot N, Nau A, Lair ML, Donneau AF, Albert A, Guillaume M. Population compliance with national dietary recommendations and its determinants: findings from the ORISCAV-LUX study. Br J Nutr 2012;108:2083-2092.

Aloia JF, Patel M, Dimaano R, Li-Ng M, Talwar SA, Mikhail M, Pollack S, Yeh JK. Vitamin D intake to attain a desired serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87: 1952-1958.

Andersen R, Mølgaard C, Skovgaard LT, Brot C, Cashman KD, Jakobsen J, Lamberg-Allardt C, Ovesen L. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on bone and vitamin D status among Pakistani immigrants in Denmark: a randomised double-blinded placebo-controlled intervention study. Br J Nutr 2008;100:197-207 (2008a).

Andersen R, Mølgaard C, Skovgaard LT, Brot C, Cashman KD, Jakobsen J, Lamberg-Allardt C, Ovesen L. Pakistani immigrant children and adults in Denmark have severely low vitamin D status. Eur J Clin Nutr 2008;62:625-634 (2008b).

Andersson Å, Björk A, Kristiansson P, Gunnar Johansson. Vitamin D intake and status in immigrant and native Swedish women: a study at a primary health care centre located at 60°N in Sweden. Food Nutr Res 2013;57:20089.

Arandia G, Nalty C, Sharkey JR, Dean WR. Diet and acculturation among Hispanic/Latino older adults in the United States: A review of literature and recommendations. J of Nutr Gerontol Geriatr 2012;31:16-37.

Arganini C, Saba A, Comitato R, Virgili F, Turrini A. Gender differences in food choice and dietary intake in modern western societies. In Public Health-Social and Behavioral Health. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech Open Access Publisher, 2012.

Armas LA, Hollis BW, Heaney RP. Vitamin  $D_2$  is much less effective than Vitamin  $D_3$  in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:5387-5391.

Arruda SP, da Silva AA, Kac G, Goldani MZ, Bettiol H, Barbieri MA. Socioeconomic and demographic factors are associated with dietary patterns in a cohort of young Brazilian adults. BMC Public Health 2014;14:654.

Atef SH. Vitamin D assays in clinical laboratory: Past, present and future challenges. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2018;175:136-137.

Aune D, Norat T, Romundstad P, Vatten LJ. Whole grain and refined grain consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose–response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2013;28:845-858.

Aune D, Giovannucci E, Boffetta P, Fadnes LT, Keum N, Norat T, Greenwood DC, Riboli E, Vatten LJ, Tonstad S. Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality-a systematic review and dose response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Int J Epidemiol 2017:1-28.

Aune D, Keum N, Giovannucci E, Fadnes LT, Boffetta P, Greenwood DC, Tonstad S, Vatten LJ, Riboli E, Norat T. Whole grain consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all cause and cause specific mortality: Systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. BMJ 2016;353:i2716.

Autier P, Gandini S, Mullie P. A systematic review: influence of vitamin D supplementation on serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:2606-2613.

Ayala GX, Baquero B, Klinger C. A systematic review of the relationship between acculturation and diet among Latinos in the United States: Implications for future research. J Am Diet Assoc 2008;108:1330-1344.

Barkoukis H. Importance of understanding food consumption patterns. J Am Diet Assoc 2007;107:234-236.

Beck-Nielsen SS, Jensen TK, Gram J, Brixen K, Brock-Jacobsen B. Nutritional rickets in Denmark: a retrospective review of children's medical records from 1985 to 2005. Eur J Pediatr 2009;168:941-949.

Bhupathiraju SN, Tucker KL. Coronary heart disease prevention: Nutrients, foods, and dietary patterns. Clin Chim Acta 2011;412:1493-1514.

Biancuzzo RM, Young A, Bibuld D, Cai MH, Winter MR, Klein EK, Ameri A, Reitz R, Salameh W, Chen TC, Holick MF. Fortification of orange juice with vitamin  $D_2$  or vitamin  $D_3$  is as effective as an oral supplement in maintaining vitamin D status in adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;91:1621-1626.

Bikle DD. Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. Chem Biol 2014;21:319-329.

Binkley N, Sempos CT, Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP). Standardizing vitamin D assays: the way forward. J Bone Miner Res 2014;29:1709-1714.

Bolland MJ, Grey A, Avenell A. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on musculoskeletal health: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2018;6:847-858.

Bouillon R, Marcocci C, Carmeliet G, Bikle D, White JH, Dawson-Hughes B, Lips P, Munns CF, Lazaretti-Castro M, Giustina A, Bilezikian J. Skeletal and extraskeletal actions of Vitamin D: Current Evidence and Outstanding Questions. Endocr Rev 2019;40:1109-1151.

Burns C. Effect of migration on food habits of Somali women living as refugees in Australia. Ecol Food Nutr 2004;43:213-229.

Bärebring L, Schoenmakers I, Glantz A, Jagner A, Ellis J, Bärebring M, Bullarbo M, Augustin H. Vitamin D status during pregnancy in a multiethnic population – representative Swedish cohort. Nutrients 2016;8:pii655.

Bärebring L, Amberntsson A, Winkvist A, Augustin H. Validation of Dietary Vitamin D Intake from Two Food Frequency Questionnaires, Using Food Records and the Biomarker 25-Hydroxyvitamin D among Pregnant Women. Nutrients 2018;10:745.

Carter GD, Berry J, Durazo-Arvizu R, Gunter E, Jones G, Jones J, Makin HLJ, Pattni P, Sempos CT, Twomey P, Williams EL, Wise SA. Hydroxyvitamin D assays: an historical perspective from DEQAS. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2018;177:30-35.

Cashman KD. The vitamin D RDA for African American adults: higher than that for white persons? Am J Clin Nutr 2014;99:427-428.

Cashman KD, Dowling KG, Škrabáková Z, Gonzalez-Gross M, Valtue~na J, De Henauw S, Moreno L, Damsgaard CT, Michaelsen KF, Mølgaard C, Jorde R, Grimnes G, Moschonis G, Mavrogianni C, Manios Y, Thamm M, Mensink GB, Rabenberg M, Busch

MA, Cox L, Meadows S, Goldberg G, Prentice A, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Pilz S, Swart KM, van Schoor NM, Lips P, Eiriksdottir G, Gudnason V, Cotch MF, Koskinen S, Lamberg-Allardt C, Durazo-Arvizu RA, Sempos CT, Kiely M. Vitamin D deficiency in Europe: pandemic? Am J Clin Nutr 2016;103:1033-1044.

Cashman KD, Wallace JM, Horigan G Hill TR, Barnes MS, Lucey AJ, Bonham MP, Taylor N, Duffy EM, Seamans K, Muldowney S, Fitzgerald AP, Flynn A, Strain JJ, Kiely M. Estimation of the dietary requirement for vitamin D in free-living adults  $\geq 64$  y of age. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89: 1366-1374.

Castaneda AE, Rask S, Koponen P, Mölsä M, Koskinen S, editors. Maahanmuuttajien terveys ja hyvinvointi. Tutkimus venäläis-, somalialais- ja kurditaustaisista Suomessa. [Migrant Health and Wellbeing. A study on persons of Russian, Somali and Kurdish origin in Finland]. In: Finnish, with English abstract, Report 61. National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL). Tampere: Juvenes Print – Suomen Yliopistopaino Oy, 2012. Available at http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-245-739-4 (accessed November 2018).

Chel V, Wijnhoven HA, Smit JH, Ooms M, Lips P. Efficacy of different doses and time intervals of oral vitamin D supplementation with or without calcium in elderly nursing home residents. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:663-671.

Christakos S, Hewison M, Gardner DG, Wagner CL, Sergeev IN, Rutten E, Pittas AG, Boland R, Ferrucci L, Bikle DD. Vitamin D: beyond bone. Ann NY Acad Sci 2013;1287:45-58.

Christensen N, Sondergaard J, Fisker N, Christesen HT. Infant respiratory tract infections or wheeze and maternal vitamin D in pregnancy: A systematic review. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2017;36:384-391.

Cranney A, Horsley T, O'Donnell S, Weiler H, Puil L, Ooi D, Atkinson S, Ward L, Moher D, Hanley D, Fang M, Yazdi F, Garritty C, Sampson M, Barrowman N, Tsertsvadze A, Mamaladze V. Effectiveness and safety of vitamin D in relation to bone health. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2007:1-235.

Crowe FL, Steur M, Allen NE, Appleby PN, Travis RC, Key TJ. Plasma concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in meat eaters, fish eaters, vegetarians and vegans: results from the EPIC-Oxford study. Public Health Nutr 2011;14:340-346.

Current care guidelines for osteoporosis treatment (in Finnish). Suomalaisen Lääkäriseuran Duodecimin, Suomen Endokrinologiyhdistyksen ja Suomen Gynekologiyhdistyksen asettama työryhmä. Osteoporoosi. Käypä hoito –suositus, 14.2.2018. Available at <u>http://www.kaypahoito.fi/web/kh/suositukset/suositus?id=hoi24065</u> (accessed May 2019).
Davila F. Food and fasting in Somali culture, 2001. Available at <u>https://ethnomed.org/clinical/nutrition/food-and-fasting-in-somali-culture</u> (accessed November 2018).

de Abreu D, Guessous I, Vaucher J, Preisig M, Waeber G, Vollenweider P, Marques-Vidal P. Low compliance with dietary recommendations for food intake among adults. Clin Nutr 2013;32:783-788.

Decker J. Eating Habits of Members of the Somali Community: Discussion Summary, 2006. Available at <u>https://snaped.fns.usda.gov/snap/resourcefinder/EatingHabits.pdf</u> (accessed May 2019).

Dekker LH, Nicolaou M, van Dam RM, de Vries JHM, de Boer EJ, Brants HAM, Stronks K. Socio-economic status and ethnicity are independently associated with dietary patterns: the HELIUS-dietary patterns study. Food Nutr Res 2015;59:26317.

Didriksen A, Grimnes G, Hutchinson MS, Kjaergaard M, Svartberg J, Joakimsen RM, Jorde R. The serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D response to vitamin d supplementation is related to genetic factors, BMI, and baseline levels. Eur J Endocrinol 2013;169:559-567.

Drewnowski A. The cost of US foods as related to their nutritive value. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;92:1181-1188.

EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies) Scientific opinion on update of the tolerable upper intake level for vitamin D for infants. EFSA J 2018;16:5365.

Elnenaei MO, Chandra R, Mangion T, Moniz C. Genomic and metabolomic patterns segregate with responses to calcium and vitamin D supplementation. Br J Nutr 2011;105:71-79.

Englund M, Persson J, Bergström I. Lower pain and higher muscular strength in immigrant women with vitamin D deficiency following vitamin D treatment. Int J Circumpolar Health 2017;76:1340547.

Estaquio C, Kesse-Guyot E, Deschamps V, Bertrais S, Dauchet L, Galan P, Hercberg S, Castetbon K. Adherence to the French Programme National Nutrition Santé Guideline Score is associated with better nutrient intake and nutritional status. J Am Diet Assoc 2009;109:1031-1041.

Esteghamati A, Noshad S, Nazeri A, Khalilzadeh O, Khalili M, Nakhjavani M. Patterns of fruit and vegetables consumption among Iranian adults: A SuRFNCD-2007 study. Br J Nutr 2012;108:177-1781.

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). Food-based dietary guidelines, 2015. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/nutrition/education/food-dietary-guidelines/en/</u> (accessed January 2019).

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). Somalia Nutrition Profile – Food and Nutrition Division, 2005. Available at <u>http://www.bvsde.paho.org/texcom/nutricion/som.pdf</u> (accessed November 2018).

Fernell E, Barnevik-Olsson M, Bågenholm G, Gillberg C, Gustafsson S, Sääf M. Serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in mothers of Swedish and of Somali origin who have children with and without autism. Acta Paediatr 2010;99:743-747.

Figueiredo ICR, Jaime PC and Monteiro CA. Factors associated with fruit and vegetable intake among adults of the city of São Paulo, Southeastern Brazil. Rev Saude Publica 2008;42:777-785.

Fisk CM, Theobald HE, Sanders TAB. Fortified Malted Milk Drinks Containing Low-Dose Ergocalciferol and Cholecalciferol Do Not Differ in Their Capacity to Raise Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations in Healthy Men and Women Not Exposed to UV-B. J Nutr 2012;142:1286-1290.

Fogelholm M. Chapter 8 – Common Nutrition and Health Issues: Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. In Andersen V, Bar E, Wirtanen G (Eds.) (p. 197-210). Nutritional and Health Aspects of Food in Nordic Countries, Academic Press, 2018.

Fogelholm M, Anderssen S, Gunnarsdottir I, Lahti-Koski M. Dietary macronutrients, and food consumption as determinants of long-term weight change in adult populations: A systematic literature review. Food Nutr Res 2012;56.

Fretts A, Howard B, McKnight B, Duncan G, Beresford S, Mete M. Associations of processed meat and unprocessed red meat intake with incident diabetes: the Strong Heart Family Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:752-758.

Gallagher JC, Jindal PS, Smith LM. Vitamin D supplementation in young White and African American women. J Bone Miner Res 2014;29:173-181.

Gallagher JC, Peacock M, Yalamanchili V, Smith LM. Effects of vitamin D supplementation in older African American women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:1137-1146.

Gallagher JC, Sai A, Templin T 2nd, Smith L. Dose response to vitamin D supplementation in postmenopausal women: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2012;156:425-437.

GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2019;393:1958-1972.

Granlund L, Ramnemark A, Andersson C, Lindkvist M, Fhärm E, Norberg M. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and its association with nutrition, travelling and clothing habits in an immigrant population in Northern Sweden. Eur J Clin Nutr 2016;70:373-379.

Grant WB, Boucher BJ. Requirements for vitamin D across the life span. Biol Res Nurs 2011;13:120-127.

Gregório MJ, Rodrigues AM, Eusébio M, Sousa RD, Dias S, André B, Grønning K, Coelho PS, Mendes JM, Graça P, Espnes GA, Branco JC, Canhão H. Dietary patterns characterized by high meat consumption are associated with other unhealthy life styles and depression symptoms. Front Nutr 2017;10:3389.

Grønborg IM, Lundby IM, Mølgaard C, Jakobsen J, Ovesen L, Andersen R. Association of body fat and vitamin D status and the effect of body fat on the response to vitamin D supplementation in Pakistani immigrants in Denmark. Eur J Clin Nutr 2015;69:405-407.

Grønborg IM, Tetens I, Christensen T, Andersen EW, Jakobsen J, Kiely M, Cashman KD, Andersen R. Vitamin D-fortified foods improve wintertime vitamin D status in women of Danish and Pakistani origin living in Denmark: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Nutr 2019 doi: 10.1007/s00394-019-01941-6. [Epub ahead of print].

Guo J, Lovegrove JA, Givens DI. A Narrative Review of The Role of Foods as Dietary Sources of Vitamin D of Ethnic Minority Populations with Darker Skin: The Underestimated Challenge. Nutrients 2019;11:E81.

Hansen SH, Overvad K, Hansen CP, Dahm CC. Adherence to national food-based dietary guidelines and incidence of stroke: A cohort study of Danish men and women. PLoS One 2018;13:e0206242 (2018a).

Hansen CP, Overvad K, Tetens I, Tjønneland A, Parner ET, Jakobsen MU, Dahm CC. Adherence to the Danish food-based dietary guidelines and risk of myocardial infarction: a cohort study. Public Health Nutr 2018;21:1286-1296 (2018b).

Helldán A, Raulio S, Kosola M, Tapanainen Heli, Ovaskainen M, Virtanen S. The National FINDIET 2012 Survey [In Finnish, summary, figures and tables in English], Report 16/2013. National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL). Tampere: Juvenes Print – Suomen Yliopistopaino Oy, 2013. Available at <a href="https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/110839">https://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/110839</a> (accessed September 2018).

Hengeveld LM, Praagman J, Beulens JWJ, Brouwer IA, van der Schouw YT, Sluijs I. Fish consumption and risk of stroke, coronary heart disease, and cardiovascular mortality in a Dutch population with low fish intake. Eur J Clin Nutr 2018;72:942-950.

Hlebowicz J, Drake I, Gullberg B, Sonestedt E, Wallström P, Persson M, Nilsson J, Hedblad B, Wirfält E. A high diet quality is associated with lower incidence of cardiovascular events in the Malmö diet and cancer cohort. PLoS One 2013;8:e71095.

Holick MF. High prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy and implications for health. Mayo Clin Proc 2006;81:353-373.

Holick MF. Optimal vitamin D status for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Drugs Aging 2007;24:1017-1029 (2007a).

Holick MF. Sunlight, UV-radiation, vitamin D and skin cancer: how much sunlight do we need? Adv Exp Med Biol 2008;624:1-15.

Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007;357:266-281 (2007b).

Holick MF. Vitamin D status: measurement, interpretation and clinical application. Ann Epidemiol 2009;19:73-78.

Holmboe-Ottesen G, Wandel M. Changes in dietary habits after migration and consequences for health: A focus on South Asians in Europe. Food Nutr Res 2012;56.

Holvik K, Meyer HE, Haug E, Brunvand L. Prevalence and predictors of vitamin D deficiency in five immigrant groups living in Oslo, Norway: the Oslo Immigrant Health Study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2005;59:57-63.

Härkänen T. Health 2011 Survey: An overview of the design, missing data and statistical analyses examples. Department of Health, Functional Capacity and Welfare. The National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL), 2013. Available at <a href="http://www.terveys2011.info/doc/koulutus.pdf">http://www.terveys2011.info/doc/koulutus.pdf</a> (accessed November 2018).

Härkänen T, Kaikkonen R, Virtala E Koskinen S. Inverse probability weighting and doubly robust methods in correcting the effects of non-response in the reimbursed medication and self-reported turnout estimates in the ATH survey. BMC Public Health 2014;14:1150.

Hörnell A, Berg C, Forsum E, Larsson C, Sonestedt E, Åkesson A, Lachat C, Hawwash D, Kolsteren P, Byrnes G, De Keyzer W, Van Camp J, Cade JE, Greenwood DC, Slimani N, Cevallos M, Egger M, Huybrechts I, Wirfält E. Perspective: An Extension of the STROBE Statement for Observational Studies in Nutritional Epidemiology (STROBE-nut): Explanation and Elaboration. Adv. Nutr 2017;8:652-678.

Imga NN, Berker D, Can B, Guler S. The effects of three regimens of cholecalciferol (vitamin  $D_3$ ) supplementation on vitamin D deficiency in non-obese and obese females. Arch Med Sci Atheroscler Dis 2018;3:60-67.

International Organization for Migration. Glossary on Migration, International Migration Law Series No. 25, 2011. Available at <u>https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms</u> (accessed June 2019).

Irz X, Fratiglioni L, Kuosmanen N, Mazzocchi M, Modugno L, Nocella G, Shakersain B, Traill WB, Xu W, Zanello G. Sociodemographic determinants of diet quality of the EU elderly: a comparative analysis in four countries. Public Health Nutr 2014;17:1177-1189.

Ish-Shalom S, Segal E, Salganik T, Raz B, Bromberg IL, Vieth R. Comparison of daily, weekly, and monthly vitamin  $D_3$  in ethanol dosing protocols for two months in elderly hip fracture patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93:3430-3435.

Islam MZ, Shamim AA, Viljakainen HT, Akhtaruzzaman M, Jehan AH, Khan HU, Al-Arif FA, Lamberg-Allardt C. Effect of vitamin D, calcium and multiple micronutrient supplementation on vitamin D and bone status in Bangladeshi premenopausal garment factory workers with hypovitaminosis D: A double-blinded, randomised, placebo-controlled 1-year intervention. Br J Nutr 2010;104:241-247.

Islam MZ, Viljakainen HT, Kärkkäinen MU, Saarnio E, Laitinen K, Lamberg-Allardt C. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and secondary hyperparathyroidism during winter in pre-menopausal Bangladeshi and Somali immigrant and ethnic Finnish women: associations with forearm bone mineral density. Br J Nutr 2012;107:277-83.

Itkonen ST, Erkkola M, Lamberg-Allardt CJE. Vitamin D fortification of fluid milk products and their contribution to vitamin D intake and vitamin D status in observational studies – a review. Nutrients 2018.

Itkonen ST, Erkkola M, Skaffari E, Saaristo P, Saarnio EM, Viljakainen HT, Kärkkäinen MU, Lamberg-Allardt CJ. Development and validation of an interview-administered FFQ for assessment of vitamin D and calcium intakes in Finnish women. Br J Nutr 2016;115:1100-1107 (2016a).

Itkonen ST, Skaffari E, Saaristo P, Saarnio EM, Erkkola M, Jakobsen J, Cashman KD, Lamberg-Allardt C. Effects of vitamin D 2-fortified bread v. supplementation with vitamin  $D_2$  or  $D_3$  on serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D metabolites: an 8-week randomised-controlled trial in young adult Finnish women. Br J Nutr 2016;115;1232-1239 (2016b).

Jayedi A, Shab-Bidar S, Eimeri S, Djafarian K. Fish consumption and risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality: A dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Public Health Nutr 2018;21:297-1306

Jenum AK, Holme I, Graff-Iversen S, Birkeland KI. Ethnicity and sex are strong determinants of diabetes in an urban Western society: implications for prevention. Diabetologia 2005;48:435-439.

Jonsdottir SE, Brader L, Gunnarsdottir I, Kally Magnusdottir O, Schwab U, Kolehmainen M, Risérus U, Herzig KH, Cloetens L, Helgegren H, Johansson-Persson A, Hukkanen J, Poutanen K, Uusitupa M, Hermansen K, Thorsdottir I. Adherence to the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations in a Nordic population with metabolic syndrome: high salt consumption and low dietary fibre intake (The SYSDIET study). Food Nutr Res 2013;57:10.

Jääskeläinen T, Itkonen ST, Lundqvist A, Erkkola M, Koskela T, Lakkala K, Dowling KG, Hull GL, Kröger H, Karppinen J, Kyllönen E, Härkänen T, Cashman KD, Männistö S, Lamberg-Allardt C. The positive impact of general vitamin D food fortification policy on vitamin D status in a representative adult Finnish population – Evidence from an 11-year follow-up based on standardized 25-hydroxyvitamin D data. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:1512-1520.

Jääskeläinen T, Knekt P, Marniemi J, Sares-Jäske L, Männistö S, Heliövaara M, Järvinen R. Vitamin D status is associated with sociodemographic factors, lifestyle and metabolic health. Eur J Nutr 2013;52:513-525.

Kalliokoski P, Bergqvist Y, Löfvander M. Physical performance and 25-hydroxyvitamin D: A cross-sectional study of pregnant Swedish and Somali immigrant women and new mothers. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2013;13:237.

Kanerva N, Kaartinen NE, Ovaskainen ML, Konttinen H, Kontto J, Männistö S. A diet following Finnish nutrition recommendations does not contribute to the current epidemic of obesity. Public Health Nutr 2013;16:786-794.

Kant A.K. Dietary patterns and health outcomes. J Am Diet Assoc 2004;104:615-635.

Kassi EN, Stavropoulos S, Kokkoris P, Galanos A, Moutsatsou P, Dimas C, Papatheodorou A, Zafeiris C, Lyritis G. Smoking is a significant determinant of low serum vitamin D in young and middle-aged healthy males. Hormones (Athens) 2015;14:245-250.

Kiadaliri AA. Demographic and socioeconomic differences in fruit and vegetables consumption, 2007-2009: a province-level study in Iran. Int J Prev Med 2013;4:831-840.

Kiefer I, Rathmanner T, Kunze M. Eating and dieting differences in men and women. J Mens Health 2005;2:194-201.

Knudsen VK, Matthiessen J, Biltoft-Jensen A, Sorensen MR, Groth MV, Trolle E, Christensen T, Fagt S. Identifying dietary patterns and associated health-related lifestyle factors in the adult Danish population. Eur J Clin Nutr 2014;68:736-740.

Knutsen KV, Madar AA, Lagerløv P, Brekke M, Raastad T, Stene LC, Meyer HE. Does vitamin D improve muscle strength in adults? A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial among ethnic minorities in Norway. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014;99:194-202.

Laird E, Ward M, McSorley E, Strain JJ, Wallace J. Vitamin D and bone health: Potential mechanisms. Nutrients 2010;2:693-724.

Lamberg-Allardt C, Brustad M, Meyer HE, Steingrimsdottir L. Vitamin D - a systematic literature review for the 5th edition of the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. Food Nutr Res 2013;57.

Lamberg-Allardt C. Vitamin D in foods and as supplements. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2006;92:33-38.

Lamberg-Allardt C. Vitamin D intake, sunlight exposure and 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in the elderly during one year. Ann Nutr Metab 1984;28:144-150.

Lehtonen R, Pahkinen E. Practical methods for design and analysis of complex surveys. Revised. (2nd ed.). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 2004.

Leone A, Battezzati A, De Amicis R, De Carlo G, Bertoli S. Trends of adherence to the Mediterranean dietary pattern in Northern Italy from 2010 to 2016. Nutrients 2017;9:734.

Lesser IA, Gasevic D, Lear SA. The association between acculturation and dietary patterns of South Asian immigrants. PloS One 2014;9:e88495

Lips P, Cashman KD, Lamberg-Allardt C, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Obermayer-Pietsch BR, Bianchi M, Stepan J, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Bouillon R. Management of endocrine disease: Current vitamin D status in European and Middle East countries and strategies to prevent vitamin D deficiency; a position statement of the European Calcified Tissue Society. Eur J Endocrinol 2019;180:23-54.

Lips P, de Jongh RT. Vitamin D deficiency in immigrants. Bone Reports 2018;9:37-41.

Lockau L, Atkinson SA. Vitamin D's role in health and disease: How does the present inform our understanding of the past? Int J Paleopathol 2018;23:6-14.

Logan, VF, Gray, AR, Peddie, MC, Harper MJ, Houghton LA. Long-term vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation is more effective than vitamin  $D_2$  in maintaining serum 25hydroxyvitamin D status over the winter months. Br J Nutr 2013;109:1082-1088. Looker AC. Do body fat and exercise modulate vitamin D status? Nutr Rev 2007;65:124-126.

Lundqvist A, Mäki-Opas T, editors. Health 2011 Survey – Methods, Report 8/2016. National Institute for Health and Welfare. Tampere: Juvenes Print – Finnish University Print Ltd, 2016. Available at <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-302-669-8</u> (accessed December 2018).

Madar AA, Gundersen TE, Haug AM, Meyer HE. Vitamin D supplementation and vitamin D status in children of immigrant background in Norway. Public Health Nutr 2017;20:2887-2892

Madar AA, Stene LC, Meyer HE. Vitamin D status among immigrant mothers from Pakistan, Turkey and Somalia and their infants attending child health clinics in Norway. Br J Nutr 2009;101:1052-1058.

Marques-Vidal P, Waeber G, Vollenweider P, Guessous I. Socio-demographic and lifestyle determinants of dietary patterns in French-speaking Switzerland, 2009–2012. BMC Public Health 2018;18:131.

Mazahery H, von Hurst PR. Factors affecting 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration in response to vitamin D supplementation. Nutrients 2015;7:5111-5142.

McEwen A, Straus L, Croker H. Dietary beliefs and behaviour of a UK Somali population. J Hum Nutr Diet 2009;22:116-121.

Meinilä J, Valkama A, Koivusalo SB, Stach-Lempinen B, Rono K, Lindstrom J, Kautiainen H, Eriksson JG, Erkkola M. Is improvement in the Healthy Food Intake Index (HFII) related to a lower risk for gestational diabetes? Br J Nutr 2017;117:1103-1109.

Méjean C, Traissac P, Eymard-Duvernay S, El Ati J, Delpeuch F, Maire B. Diet quality of North African migrants in France partly explains their lower prevalence of diet-related chronic conditions relative to their native French peers. J Nutr 2007;137:2106-2113.

Meyer HE, Falch JA, Søgaard AJ, Haug E. Vitamin D deficiency and secondary hyperparathyroidism and the association with bone mineral density in persons with Pakistani and Norwegian background living in Oslo, Norway, The Oslo Health Study. Bone 2004;35:412-417.

Meyer HE, Skram K, Berge IA, Madar AA, Bjørndalen HJ. Nutritional rickets in Norway: a nationwide register-based cohort study. BMJ Open 2017;7:e015289.

Micha R, Michas G, Mozaffarian D. Unprocessed red and processed meats and risk of coronary artery disease and type 2 diabetes--an updated review of the evidence. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2012;14:515-24.

Miller V, Mente A, Dehghan M, Rangarajan S, Zhang X, Swaminathan S, Dagenais G, Gupta R, Mohan V, Lear S, Bangdiwala S, Schutte AE, Wentzel-Viljoen E, Avezum A, Altuntas Y, Yusoff K, Ismail N, Peer N, Chifamba J, Diaz R, Rahman O, Mohammadifard N, Lana F, Zatonska K, Wielgosz A, Yusufali A, Iqbal R, Lopez-Jaramillo P, Khatib R, Rosengren A, Kutty VR, Li W, Liu J, Liu X, Yin L, Teo K, Anand S, Yusuf S; Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study investigators. Fruit, vegetable, and legume intake, and cardiovascular disease and deaths in 18 countries (PURE): a prospective cohort study. The Lancet 2017;390:2037-2049.

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Finland (in Finnish). Maa-ja metsätalousministeriön asetus rasvattoman homogenoidun maidon D-vitaminoinnista, 2016. Available at <u>http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2016/20160754</u> (accessed May 2019).

Ministry of Trade and Industry of Finland (in Finnish). Kauppa ja teollisuusministeriön asetus vitamiinien ja eräiden muiden aineiden lisäämisestä elintarvikkeisiin. [Regulation 917/2002 about adding of vitamins and some other substances to foodstuffs], 2002. Available at http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2002/20020917 (accessed May 2019).

Männistö S, Kontto J, Kataja-Tuomola M, Albanes D, Virtamo J. High processed meat consumption is a risk factor of type 2 diabetes in the Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention study. Br J Nutr 2010;103:1817-1822.

Männistö S, Lundqvist A, Prättälä R, Jääskeläinen T, Roos E, Similä M, Knekt P, editors. Elintavat; Ruokatottumukset [Lifestyle; Food Habits]. In Terveys, toimintakyky ja hyvinvointi Suomessa 2011. In: Finnish, with English abstract, Report 68. National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL). Tampere: Juvenes Print – Suomen Yliopistopaino Oy, 2012. Available at <u>http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/90832</u> (accessed November 2018).

National Nutrition Council. Suomalaiset ravitsemussuositukset – Terveyttä ruoasta. [Finnish Nutrition Recommendations – Health from food.] In: Finnish. Tampere: Juvenes Print, 2014.

National Nutrition Council. Recommended intake of vitamin D supplements for infants, 2018. Available at <u>https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/en/themes/healthy-diet/nutrition-and-food-recommendations/babies-and-children-under-school-age/</u> (accessed April 2019).

National Nutrition Council. Valtion ravitsemusneuvottelukunta. D-vitamiinityöryhmän raportti. [Report of vitamin D working group.] In: Finnish, 2010. Available at

<u>https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/globalassets/teemat/terveytta-edistava-ruokavalio/ravitsemus-ja-ruokasuositukset/erityisohjeet-ja-rajoitukset/d-vitamiiniraportti2010.pdf</u> (accessed March 2019).

Nelson ML, Blum JM, Hollis BW, Rosen C, Sullivan SS. Supplements of 20  $\mu$ g/d cholecalciferol optimized serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in 80% of premenopausal women in winter. J Nutr 2009;139:540-546.

Neuhouser ML, Thompson B, Coronado GD, Solomon CC. Higher fat intake and lower fruit and vegetables intakes are associated with greater acculturation among Mexicans living in Washington State. J Am Diet Assoc 2004;104:51-57.

Newby PK, Tucker KL. Empirically derived eating patterns using factor or cluster analysis: a review. Nutr Rev 2004;62:177-203.

Nicolaou M, van Dam RM, Stronks K. Acculturation and education level in relation to quality of the diet: a study of Surinamese South Asian and Afro-Caribbean residents of the Netherlands. J Hum Nutr Diet 2006;19:383-393.

Nordic Council of Ministers. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012: integrating nutrition and physical activity. 5th ed. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers, 2014.

Norman AW, Bouillon R. Vitamin D nutritional policy needs a vision for the future. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2010;235:1034-1045.

Nurmatov U, Devereux G, Sheikh A. Nutrients and foods for the primary prevention of asthma and allergy: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;127:724-733.

Nurmatov U, Nwaru BI, Devereux G, Sheikh A. Confounding and effect modification in studies of diet and childhood asthma and allergies. Allergy 2012;67:1041-1059.

Osmancevic A, Demeke T, Gillstedt M, Angesjö E, Sinclair H, Abd El-Gawad G, Landin-Wilhelmsen K. Vitamin D Treatment in Somali Women Living in Sweden - Two randomised, placebo-controlled studies. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2016;85:535-543.

Paalanen L, Prättälä R, Palosuo H, Laatikainen T. Socio-economic differences in the consumption of vegetables, fruit and berries in Russian and Finnish Karelia: 1992-2007. Eur J Public Health 2011;21:35-42.

Paalanen L, Prättälä R, Palosuo H, Helakorpi S, Laatikainen T. Socio-economic differences in the use of dairy fat in Russian and Finnish Karelia, 1994–2004. Int J Public Health 2010;55:325-337.

Paalanen L. Food habits and related biomarkers in Pitkäranta, Russia, and North Karelia, Finland: Trends and educational differences, 1992–2007. PhD Thesis, University of Helsinki, Finland, 2013.

Popkin BM. Agricultural policies, food and public health. EMBO Rep 2011;12:11-18.

Prättälä R, Laatikainen T, Koskinen S, Koponen P. Suomessa asuvien venäläis-, somalialais- ja kurditaustaisten ruokatottumukset. Sosiaalilääketieteellinen aikakauslehti 2015;52:317-323 [in: Finnish with an English abstract].

Prättälä R, Paalanen L, Grinberga D, Helasoja V, Kasmel A, Petkeviciene J. Gender differences in the consumption of meat, fruit and vegetables are similar in Finland and the Baltic countries. Eur J Public Health 2007;17:520-525.

Ramel A, Martinéz A, Kiely M, Morais G, Bandarra N, Thorsdottir I. Beneficial effects of long-chain n-3 fatty acids included in an energy-restricted diet on insulin resistance in overweight and obese European young adults. Diabetologia 2008;51:1261-1268.

Ramel A, Martinez J, Kiely M, Bandarra N, Thorsdottir I. Moderate consumption of fatty fish reduces diastolic blood pressure in overweight and obese European young adults during energy restriction. Nutrition 2010;26:168-174.

Raulio S, Erlund I, Männistö S, Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Sundvall J, Tapanainen H, Vartiainen E, Virtanen SM. Successful nutrition policy: improvement of vitamin D intake and status in Finnish adults over the last decade. Eur J Public Health 2017;27:268-273.

Rechel B, Mladovsky P, Deville W. Monitoring migrant health in Europe: a narrative review of data collection practices. Health Policy 2012;105:10-16.

Reid IR. High-dose vitamin D: Without benefit but not without risk. J Intern Med 2018;284:694-696.

Rejnmark L, Bislev LS, Cashman KD, Eiríksdottir G, Gaksch M, Grübler M, Grimnes G, Gudnason V, Lips P, Pilz S, van Schoor NM, Kiely M, Jorde R. Non-skeletal health effects of vitamin D supplementation: a systematic review on findings from meta-analyses summarizing trial data. PLoS One 2017;12:e0180512.

Renzaho AM, Halliday JA, Nowson C. Vitamin D, obesity, and obesity-related chronic disease among ethnic minorities: a systematic review. Nutrition 2011;27:868-879.

Renzella J, Townsend N, Jewell J, Breda J, Roberts N, Rayner M, Wickramasinghe K. What National and Subnational Interventions and Policies Based on Mediterranean and Nordic Diets are Recommended or Implemented in the WHO European Region, and is there Evidence of Effectiveness in Reducing Noncommunicable Diseases? Health

Evidence Network Synthesis Report, No. 58. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018. ISBN-13: 978-92-890-5301-3.

Robins JM, Rotnitzky A, Zhao LP. Estimation of regression coefficients when some regressors are not always observed. J Am Stat Assoc 1994;89:846-866.

Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, Del Valle HB, editors. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Institute of Medicine. Washington (DC): National Academies Press, 2011.

Sabzghabaee AM, Mirmoghtadaee P, Mohammadi M. Fruits and vegetables consumption among community dwelling elderly in an Iranian population. Int J Prev Med 2010;1:98-102.

Sánchez-Villegas A., Delgado-Rodríguez M., Martínez-González M.A., De Irala-Estevez J. Gender, age, socio-demographic and lifestyle factors associated with major dietary patterns in the Spanish Project SUN. Clin Nutr 2003;57:285-292.

Satia JA. Diet-related disparities: Understanding the problem and accelerating solutions. J Am Diet Assoc 2009;109:610-615.

Satia-Abouta J, Patterson RE, Neuhouser ML, Elder J. Dietary acculturation: Applications to nutrition research and dietetics. J Am Diet Assoc 2002;102:1105-1118.

Scragg R. Emerging evidence of thresholds for beneficial effects from vitamin D supplementation. Nutrients 2018;10:561.

Selivanova A, Cramm JM. The relationship between healthy behaviors and health outcomes among older adults in Russia. BMC Public Health 2014;14:1183.

Sempos CT, Vesper HW, Phinney KW, Thienpont LM, Coates PM. Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP). Vitamin D status as an international issue: national surveys and the problem of standardization. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 2012;243:32-40.

Sharma S, Cruickshank JK. Cultural differences in assessing dietary intake and providing relevant dietary information to British African-Caribbean populations. J Hum Nutr Diet 2001;14:449-56.

Shea MK, Benjamin EJ, Dupuis J, Massaro JM, Jacques PF, D'Agostino RB Sr, Ordovas JM, O'Donnell CJ, Dawson-Hughes B & Vasan RS Genetic and non-genetic correlates of vitamins K and D. Eur J Clin Nutr 2009;63:458-464.

Shen SY, Xiao WQ, Lu JH, Yuan MY, He JR, Xia HM, Qiu X, Cheng KK, Lam KBH. Early life vitamin D status and asthma and wheeze: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Pulm Med 2018;18:120.

Shinkov A, Borissova AM, Dakovska L, Vlahov L, Kassabova L, Svinarov D. Winter 25hydroxyvitamin D levels in young urban adults are affected by smoking, body mass index and educational level. Eur J Clin Nutr 2015; 69;355-360.

Signorello LB, Shi J, Cai Q, Zheng W, Williams SM, Long J, Cohen SS, Li G, Hollis BW & Smith JR Common variation in vitamin D pathway genes predicts circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D levels among African Americans . PLoS One 2011;6:e28623.

Skogberg N, Laatikainen T, Koskinen S, Vartiainen E, Jula A, Leiviska J, Härkänen T, Koponen P. Cardiovascular risk factors among Russian, Somali and Kurdish migrants in comparison with the general Finnish population. Eur J Public Health 2016;26:667-673.

Smith LM, Gallagher JC, Kaufmann M, Jones G. Effect of increasing doses of vitamin D on bone mineral density and serum N-terminal telopeptide in elderly women: a randomized controlled trial. J Intern Med 2018;284:685-693.

Spiro A, Buttriss JL. Vitamin D: An overview of vitamin D status and intake in Europe. Nutr Bull 2014;39:322-350.

Statistics Finland. Official Statistics of Finland: Migration (e-publication). ISSN=1797-6782. Helsinki: Statistics Finland, 2019. Available at http://www.stat.fi/til/muutl/kas en.html (accessed June 2019).

Statistics Finland. Statistics Finland's PX-Web databases, 2019. Available at <u>http://pxnet2.stat.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/StatFin/StatFin\_vrm\_vaerak/?tablelist=true</u> (accessed May 2019).

Stronks K, Snijder MB, Peters RJ, Prins M, Schene AH, Zwinderman AH. Unravelling the impact of ethnicity on health in Europe: the HELIUS study. BMC Public Health 2013;13:402.

Sturkenboom SM, Dekker LH, Lamkaddem M, Schaap LA, Vries JHM, Stronlks K. Acculturation and dietary patterns among residents of Surinamese origin in the Netherlands: the HELIUS dietary pattern study. Public Health Nutr 2016;19:682-692.

Stöcklin E, Eggersdorfer M. Vitamin D, an essential nutrient with versatile functions in nearly all organs. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 2013;83:92-100.

Sääf M, Fernell E, Kristiansson F, Barnevik Olsson M, Gustafsson SA, Bagenholm G. Severe vitamin D deficiency in pregnant women of Somali origin living in Sweden. Acta Paediatr 2011;100:612-614.

Tapsell LC, Neale EP, Satija A, Hu FB. Foods, nutrients, and dietary patterns: interconnections and implications for dietary guidelines. Adv Nutr 2016;7:445-454.

Thiele S, Weiss C. Consumer demand for food diversity: evidence for Germany. Food Policy 2003;28:99-115.

Thiele S, Peltner J, Richter A, Mensink GBM. Food purchase patterns: empirical identification and analysis of their association with diet quality, socio-economic factors, and attitudes. Nutr J 2017;16:69.

Thornton LE, Bentley RJ, Kavanagh AM. Fast food purchasing and access to fast food restaurants: a multilevel analysis of VicLANES. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2009;6:28.

Thuesen B, Husemoen L, Fenger M, Jakobsen J, Schwarz P, Toft U, Ovesen L, Jørgensen T, Linneberg A. Determinants of vitamin D status in a general population of Danish adults. Bone 2012;50;605-610.

Touvier M, Deschasaux M, Montourcy M, Sutton A, Charnaux N, Kesse-Guyot E, Assmann KE, Fezeu L, Latino-Martel P, Druesne-Pecollo N, Guinot C, Latreille J, Malvy D, Galan P, Hercberg S, Le Clerc S, Souberbielle JC, Ezzedine K. Determinants of vitamin D status in Caucasian adults: influence of sun exposure, dietary intake, sociodemographic, lifestyle, anthropometric, and genetic factors. J Invest Dermatol 2015;135:378-388.

Tripkovic, L, Lambert, H, Hart, K, Smith CP, Bucca G, Penson S, Chope G, Hyppönen E, Berry J, Vieth R, Lanham-New S. Comparison of vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:1357-1364.

Tsiaras WG, Weinstock MA. Factors influencing vitamin D status. Acta Derm Venereol 2011;91:115-124.

Tuunanen M, Aalto M, Seppä K. Binge drinking and its detection among middle-aged men using AUDIT, AUDIT-C and AUDIT-3. Drug Alcohol Rev 2007;26:295-299.

Uusitupa M, Hermansen K, Savolainen MJ, Schwab U, Kolehmainen M, Brader L, Mortensen LS, Cloetens L, Johansson-Persson A, Onning G, Landin-Olsson M, Herzig KH, Hukkanen J, Rosqvist F, Iggman D, Paananen J, Pulkki KJ, Siloaho M, Dragsted L, Barri T, Overvad K, Bach Knudsen KE, Hedemann MS, Arner P, Dahlman I, Borge GI, Baardseth P, Ulven SM, Gunnarsdottir I, Jónsdóttir S, Thorsdottir I, Orešič M, Poutanen KS, Risérus U, Akesson B. Effects of an isocaloric healthy Nordic diet on insulin sensitivity, lipid profile and inflammation markers in metabolic syndrome – a randomized study (SYSDIET). J Intern Med 2013;274:52-66.

Valsta L, Kaartinen N, Tapanainen H, Männistö S, Sääksjärvi K, editors (2018) Nutrition in Finland – The National FinDiet 2017 Survey. In: Finnish, with English abstract. National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL). Report 12/2018. Helsinki, Finland: PunaMusta Oy.

Van Der Meer IM, Middelkoop BJC, Boeke AJP, Lips P. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among Turkish, Moroccan, Indian and sub-Sahara African populations in Europe and their countries of origin: an overview. Osteoporos Int 2011;22:1009-1021.

Viljakainen HT, Palssa A, Karkkainen M, Jakobsen J, Lamberg-Allardt C. How much vitamin  $D_3$  do the elderly need. J Am Coll Nutr 2006;25:429-435.

Viskari H, Kondrashova A, Koskela P, Knip M, Hyöty H. Circulating vitamin D concentrations in two neighboring populations with markedly different incidence of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2006;29:1458-1459.

Wallace AM, Gibson S, de la Hunty A, Lamberg-Allardt C, Ashwell M. Measurement of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the clinical laboratory: current procedures, performance characteristics and limitations. Steroids 2010;75:477-488.

Wandel M, Raberg M, Kumar B, Holmboe-Ottesen G. Changes in food habits after migration among south asians settled in oslo: The effect of demographic, socio-economic and integration factors. Appetite 2008;50:376-385.

Wang TJ, Zhang F, Richards JB, Kestenbaum B, van Meurs JB, Berry D, Kiel DP, Streeten EA, Ohlsson C, Koller DL, Peltonen L, Cooper JD, O'Reilly PF, Houston DK, Glazer NL, Vandenput L, Peacock M, Shi J, Rivadeneira F, McCarthy MI, Anneli P, de Boer IH, Mangino M, Kato B, Smyth DJ, Booth SL, Jacques PF, Burke GL, Goodarzi M, Cheung CL, Wolf M, Rice K, Goltzman D, Hidiroglou N, Ladouceur M, Wareham NJ, Hocking LJ, Hart D, Arden NK, Cooper C, Malik S, Fraser WD, Hartikainen AL, Zhai G, Macdonald HM, Forouhi NG, Loos RJ, Reid DM, Hakim A, Dennison E, Liu Y, Power C, Stevens HE, Jaana L, Vasan RS, Soranzo N, Bojunga J, Psaty BM, Lorentzon M, Foroud T, Harris TB, Hofman A, Jansson JO, Cauley JA, Uitterlinden AG, Gibson Q, Järvelin MR, Karasik D, Siscovick DS, Econs MJ, Kritchevsky SB, Florez JC, Todd JA, Dupuis J, Hyppönen E, Spector TD. Common genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genome-wide association study. Lancet 2010;376:180-188.

Webb AR, Engelsen O. Calculated ultraviolet exposure levels for a healthy vitamin D status. Photochem Photobiol 2006;82:1697-1703.

Whiting SJ, Bonjour JP, Payen FD, Rousseau B. Moderate amounts of vitamin  $D_3$  in supplements are effective in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D from low baseline levels in adults: a systematic review. Nutrients 2015;7:2311-2323.

Wihlborg A, Akesson K, Gerdhem P. External validity of a population-based study on osteoporosis and fracture. Acta Orthop 2014;85:433-437.

Willett W. Nutritional epidemiology. 3rd ed.. New York: Oxford University Press, 2013.

Willett WC, Koplan JP, Nugent R, Dusenbury C, Puska P, Gaziano TA. Prevention of Chronic Disease by Means of Diet and Lifestyle Changes. In: Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, Alleyne G, Claeson M, Evans DB, Jha P, Mills A, Musgrove P, editors. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries. 2nd edition, Chapter 44. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2006.

Wishart HD, Reeve AM, Grant CC. Vitamin D deficiency in a multinational refugee population. Intern Med J 2007;37:792-797.

Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72:690-693.

Wranicz J, Szostak-Wegierek D. Health outcomes of Vitamin D. Part I. characteristics and classic role. Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig 2014;65:179-184.

Wändell PE. Population groups in dietary transition. Food Nutr Res 2013;57:21668.

Yao S, Hong CC, Bandera EV, Zhu Q, Liu S, Cheng TD, Zirpoli G, Haddad SA, Lunetta KL, Ruiz-Narvaez EA, McCann SE, Troester MA, Rosenberg L, Palmer JR, Olshan AF, Ambrosone CB. Demographic, lifestyle, and genetic determinants of circulating concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and vitamin D-binding protein in African American and European American women. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:1362-1371.

Ye EQ, Chacko SA, Chou EL, Kugizaki M, Liu S. Greater whole-grain intake is associated with lower risk of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and weight gain. J Nutr 2012;142:1304-1313.

Zhao LG, Sun JW, Yang Y, Ma X, Wang YY, Xiang YB. Fish consumption and all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. Eur J Clin Nutr 2016;70:155-161.

Zitterman A. Vitamin D in preventive medicine: are we ignoring the evidence? Br J Nutr 2003;89:552-572.

Øverby NC, Margeirsdottir HD, Brunborg C, Andersen LF, Dahl-Jorgensen K. The influence of dietary intake and meal pattern on blood glucose control in children and adolescents using intensive insulin treatment. Diabetologia 2007;50:2044-2051.

# APPENDIX

# APPENDIX. The Marwo-D intervention study food frequency questionnaire (Study

## III).

How often have you consumed the following	Portions/	Portions/	Portions/	More rarely/	
foods during the last month?	Day	Week	Month	Not at all	
FLUID DAIRY PRODUCTS	Γ	Γ	T	I	
Milk or sour milk (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
<b>Valio Eila lactose-free milk or sour milk</b> (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Valio Plus milk or sour milk (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Organic milk, sour milk, or raw milk (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Soy, oat, rice, hazelnut, or almond drink (fortified with vitamin D) (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Organic soy, oat, rice, hazelnut, or almond drink (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Milkchocolate or milkshake (1 glass, 1.7 dl)					
Latte or cappuccino (1 cup, 1.7 dl)					
Coffee or tea with milk (2 tbsp, 30 ml)					
<b>Porridge, cereal, or muesli with milk or plant-based drink</b> (1 dl)					
YOGHURT, CURDLED MILK, AND QUARI	K				
<b>Yoghurt</b> (1 pot, 175 g)					
<b>Soy yoghurt (fortified with vitamin D)</b> (1 pot, 175 g)					
<b>Quark</b> (1 pot, 200 g)					
<b>Curdled milk</b> (1 pot, 200 g)					
<b>Organic yoghurt, quark, or curdled milk</b> (1 pot, 175 g)					
<b>Pudding or soy pudding (fortified with vitamin D)</b> (1 pot, 120 g)					
Power drink yoghurt/smoothie (special trademark: Valio Gefilus) (1 bottle, 1 dl)					
<b>Recovery or protein drink (e.g. Gainomax,</b> <b>Teho, Profeel)</b> (1 can, 2.5 dl)					
CHEESE AND BREAD					
Valio Polar cheese (1 slice)					
Vitamin D-fortified bread (Ruis Aurinko D+) (1 slice, 30 g)					
Other bread slices or rolls (including crispbread / rye crisps) (1 slice, 30 g)					

## Appendix continues.

How often have you consumed the following	Portions/	Portions/	Portions/	More rarely/	
foods during the last month?	Day	Week	Month	Not at all	
DAIRY-BASED DISHES					
Milk-based soups (e.g. fish, summer=veggies					
and potatoes) (1 portion=1 plate, 300 g)					
Parridge or gruel cooked with milk				+	
(1 plate, 230 g)					
<b>Porridge or gruel, cooked with water</b> (1 plate)					
<b>Thin pancakes (made with milk)</b> (4 small or 1					
<b>Pancake made with milk</b> (1 slice, 65 g)				+	
MAIN COURSES			<u> </u>		
Macaroni casserole or lasagne, also meat-				1	
free (1 plate, 300 g)					
Liver casserole (1 plate, 300 g)					
<b>Other liver dish</b> (e.g. sauce/2 steaks, 150 g)					
Egg (boiled, fried, omelette, 1 piece)					
MUSHROOMS					
Chanterelle or funnel chanterelle					
Boletus, russula, or milk caps (cooked, 1 dl)				1	
FISHES	L			1	
Raw pickled or cold-smoked rainbow trout or salmon (15 g)					
Rainbow trout (110 g)					
Salmon (110 g) or salmon in soup (55 g)					
Pikeperch (160 g)					
Whitefish (160 g)					
<b>Perch</b> (160 g)					
Baltic herring (1 piece, 30 g)					
<b>Tuna</b> (1 can, 150 g)					
Pollock (160 g)					
Fish ball or steak					
(3 pieces or 1 piece, respectively, 120 g)					
Fish stick (1 piece, 25 g)					
Herring (1 slice, 5 g)					
Other fishes, what?					
FORTIFIED JUICES AND MINERAL WATERS					
<b>Special juice/juice with whey (fortified with vitamin D)</b> (e.g. Gefilus, Marli Vital) (1 glass, 1,7 dl)					
Mineral waters (fortified with vitamin D)				1	
(e.g. Vitamin water multi-y, 1 bottle, 5 dl)				1	

#### Appendix continues.

## FAT

#### What kind of fat spread do you usually use on bread?

- 1 none
- 2 butter

3 butter-vegetable oil mixture, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

4 margarine or light fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

5 soya-based fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

6 other, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

#### How much fat spread do you use on bread?

- 1 very thin layer (3 g, one can see the bread)
- 2 lightly (5 g, a thin layer on bread)
- 3 strongly (10 g, a thick layer on bread)

#### What kind of spread do you usually use in porridge?

- 1 none
- 2 butter

3 butter-vegetable oil mixture, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

4 margarine or light fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

5 soya-based fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

6 other, explain what? \_\_\_\_\_

#### What kind of fat do you <u>usually</u> use at home (e.g. for cooking)?

- 1 none
- 2 butter

3 butter-vegetable oil mixture, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

4 margarine or light fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

5 soya-based fat spread, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

6 fluid margarine, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

7 vegetable oil, explain what?\_\_\_\_\_

8 other, explain what? \_\_\_\_\_

#### How often do you cook at home a dish for which you use fat?

\_\_\_\_\_ times a day

\_\_\_\_\_ times a week

\_\_\_\_\_ times a month

## What kind of fat do you <u>usually</u> use in baking?

1 none	
2 butter	
3 butter-vegetable oil mixture, explain what?	
4 margarine or light fat spread, explain what?	
5 soya-based fat spread, explain what?	_
6 fluid margarine, explain what?	
7 vegetable oil, explain what?	
8 other, explain what?	

What kind of <u>homemade</u> pastries/confectionary products baked with margarine have you eaten <u>during the last month</u>? How much and how often? (*e.g. 3 cinnamon rolls per month or one brownie per week*).

What?	_Quantity:	_pcs/day/week/month.	Baking fat:
What?	_Quantity:	_pcs/day/week/month.	Baking fat:
What?	Quantity:	pcs/day/week/month.	Baking fat:
What?	_Quantity:	_pcs/day/week/month.	Baking fat:

# **Recent Publications in this Series**

17/2018 Vilma Sandström Telecouplings in a Globalizing World: Linking Food Consumption to Outsourced Resource Use and Displaced Environmental Impacts 1/2019 Yafei Zhao Evolution of Asteraceae Inflorescence Development and CYC/TB1-Like Gene Functions 2/2019 Swarnalok De Interactions of Potvviral Protein HCPro with Host Methionine Cycle Enzymes and Scaffolding Protein VARICOSE in Potato Virus A Infection 3/2019 Anirudra Parajuli The Effect of Living Environment and Environmental Exposure on the Composition of Microbial Community in Soil, on Human Skin and in the Gut 4/2019 Jaakko Leppänen Cladocera as Sentinels of Aquatic Mine Pollution 5/2019 Marjukka Lamminen Potential of Microalgae to Replace Conventional Protein Feeds for Sustainable Dairy Cow Nutrition 6/2019 Maisa Nevalainen Preparing for the Unprecedented – Moving Towards Quantitative Understanding of Oil Spill Impacts on Arctic Marine Biota 7/2019 Zhen Zeng Genome, Transcriptome, and Methylome in the Conifer Pathogen Heterobasidion parviporum 8/2019 Elina Felin Towards Risk-Based Meat Inspection – Prerequisites of Risk-Based Meat Inspection of Pigs in Finland 9/2019 Maria Kalliola Phytohormone-Related Crosstalk in Pathogen and Stomatal Responses in Arabidopsis thaliana 10/2019 Friederike Gehrmann Effects of Microclimatic Variation of Snowmelt and Temperature on Subarctic-Alpine and Arctic Plants 11/2019 Mirka Lampi Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation in Virus Purification 12/2019 Johanna Gammal Spatial Variability in Benthic Macrofauna Communities and Associated Ecosystem Functions Across Coastal Habitats 13/2019 Inka Hariu Rapid Differentiation of Pneumococci and Viridans Group Streptococci by MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry and a Rapid Nucleic Acid Amplification Test in a Clinical Microbiology Laboratory 14/2019 Dana Hellemann Nitrogen Cycling in Aphotic Coastal Sandy Sediments of the Baltic Sea 15/2019 Tania Quirin Replicase Proteins under Scrutiny: Trans-Replication Systems to Dissect RNA Virus Replication 16/2019 Aleksia Vaattovaara Evolution of the DUF26-Containing Proteins in Plants 17/2019 Maija Summa Human Noroviruses: Detection in Food and New Transmission Routes 18/2019 Elisa Vainio The Contributions of Soil, Ground Vegetation and Trees to the Methane Exchange of Boreal Forest